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Chairman’s Statement
FERESE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of Cybernaut
International Holdings Company Limited (“Cybernaut” or the
“Company”, together with its subsidiaries, collectively as the
“Group”), | am pleased to present the annual report of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2019.

In early 2019 at the World Economic Forum in Davos,
Switzerland, the International Monetary Fund (IMF) managing
director Christine Lagarde commented on the new world
economy forecast that Britain’s messy divorce from the
European Union (Brexit) and Italy’s ongoing financial struggles
posed threats to the growth in Europe. Besides, she had great
concerns on the escalating trade tensions to the wider world
economy under U.S. President Donald Trump’s Administration
and the prolonged trade war between United States and China
would result into higher trade uncertainty that dampened
investment and disrupted global supply chains during the year.
The trade war between the two countries has already involved
various stages of import restrictions and huge trade tariffs on
hundreds of billions of dollars from torpedoing the U.S.-China
relationship to shaking the global financial markets. Though
China policy makers have stressed the need for “investment
to play a key role” in upgrading manufacturing, 5G technology,
artificial intelligence and industrial internet capacities in
recent years, they now see the Chinese economy facing
huge downward pressures and hardship from the increasingly
challenging external environmental situations, which are badly
devastated by the novel coronavirus outbreak in China and
different countries over the globe.
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Because of the novel coronavirus outbreak and lockdowns in
China, the economy of the country has gone backwards for the
first time since its official records began in 1992, shrinking by
6.8 per cent from January to March 2020, compared to that
of the same quarter last year. During January and February
2020, retail sales plunged 20.5 per cent, while industrial output
was down 13.5 per cent, and fixed asset investment fell by
nearly 25 per cent over the same period in 2019, according to
the National Bureau of Statistics (NBS) of China. The figures
from the NBS also show that China’s gross domestic product
(GDP) declined by 9.8 per cent in the first quarter 2020, when
compared to the previous quarter. The historic slump comes
after the country virtually shut down its economy to contain the
spread of the virus. All of this means that the Chinese economy
is still weak and that will mean a longer, harder slog than Wall
Street first assumed for its recovery. A month ago, Wall Street
thought the coronavirus outbreak would mainly just be a short,
sharp shock to China only. But now with Trump’s Administration
measures to deal with the Coronavirus COVID-19 outbreak in
U.S.A. by shutting down the U.S. economy and so tipping the
global economy into recession.

Virtually the Company had four reporting segments in 2019
excluding the disposed subsidiary group of steel flow product
with settlement in early April 2019. The four reporting segments
are separately managed as each business offers different
products and services and requires different business strategies;
and amongst them that the eCommerce and internet education
segments had contributed significant revenue for the Group
during 2019.
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Chairman’s Statement
FERESE

According to the Federal Reserve System of the United States
(Fed), growth in unsecured consumer loans held by U.S. banks
have slowed in 2019; and U.S. banks’ portfolios of business
loans all but stopped growing in the second half of 2019, as an
industrial slowdown crimped loan demand. The Fed data has
shown that even for the smaller banks in U.S., whose clients
are less likely to turn to the bond markets, are now seeing a
slowdown in loan demand. In China, new bank lending hit a
record of RMB16.81 trillion yuan in 2019 as the central bank
of China eased its policy to support the world’s second-largest
economy hobbled by weak global demand and the U.S.-China
trade war. The central bank has also cut borrowing costs to
shore up business activity and more monetary easing and
fiscal stimulus is expected to spur growth in 2020. The growth
of outstanding total social financing (TSF), a broad measure
of credit and liquidity in the Chinese economy, was up 10.7
per cent in December 2019 from a year earlier. The Chinese
government has implemented new rules and tight measures to
regulate the TSF and online financial services, with particular
attention on P2P lending to reduce the financial risks associated
with those P2P platforms. The lending business model in of P2P
lending in China is simple and easy to establish, whereas there
are very different regulations governing the lending business in
Hong Kong. Hong Kong and China are of two very distinctive
markets in the financial and lending business. The timely
regulations together with the well-developed fraud detection
system for loan credit in Hong Kong make lending a profitable
business to grow steadily in the Hong Kong market. Despite the
social unrest of Hong Kong in the second half year of 2019 and
increasing market competition of the money lending industry in
Hong Kong, the loan demand in Hong Kong and the room for
market growth are still robust. During 2019, our money lending
subsidiary maintained stable business in alliance with business
partners on sub-mortgage loans and by adopting market
penetration strategy on high net worth customers.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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In 2019, the top online marketplaces in the world sold
U.S.$2.03 trillion and the top five global ones ranked by the
gross merchandise value (GMV) were Taobao, Tmall, Amazon,
JD.com and eBay. China has emerged on the world stage
with a host of global tech companies that are innovative and
competitive; and their successes are increasingly being studied
and replicated in other markets. Alibaba and Tencent are among
the top ten most-valued public tech companies in the world
with online business models evolved in the highly competitive
electronic commerce (eCommerce) business. According to the
analysis of Digital Commerce 360, sales on marketplace sites,
like those operated by Alibaba, Amazon, eBay and others,
accounted for 58 per cent of the global web sales in 2019. The
growth of marketplace eCommerce sales is a reason why many
large retailers, including Target Corp., are launching their own
marketplaces. During 2019, our eCommerce subsidiary group
had a market shift with more sales in European countries and
continued working with established overseas strategic business
networks to maintain steady revenue growth of eCommerce to
avoid losses from the U.S. trade embargo and threats under the
U.S.-China trade war.

On June 2019, there were 10.31 million students taking the
National Higher Education Entrance Examination (Gao Kao)
in China. In fact, China has the largest education system in
the world and investment in education accounts for about 4
per cent of total GDP in China. There are growing needs of
information technology (IT) online education to establish a
healthy and knowledge economy in China. During 2019, our
wholly-owned subsidiary of IT online education business of the
Company in China, #/2 &Huzhou Company had the VIE
Agreements arrangement fulfilled with REIKE (b R) #BE
R} £ A B A FCapital Wowxue(Beijing) Education Technology
Limited (KZ“Wowxue”), was quite well-performed to achieve
its expected guaranteed profit to the Company. Currently
Wowxue has provided high quality IT online education to
customers and students through internet platforms of online
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Chairman’s Statement
FERESE

education resources and education softwares; and the business
performance from the Huzhou subsidiary expanded in a steady
growth pace in the online education market in 2019. The
coronavirus outbreak has been hitting Chinese economy hard
as many businesses have had to temporarily shut down their
operations amid tight quarantine rules. But measures to stop
the spread of the illness have also become an unexpected boon
for at least one industry: the online education. It is like a natural
marketing campaign for the IT online education companies,
parents not knowing much about online education before can
now see how it works and how classes are being streamed
online.

During 2019, the Group committed great efforts to develop
our products and services with generic growth of segment
businesses in order to broaden our income sources despite the
global economic fluctuation and social unrest in Hong Kong.
In 2020, the outbreak of coronavirus COVID-19 is causing
temporary shock to the Chinese economy as a whole. Industries
closely related with offline activities are more vulnerable and
market consolidation is expected to speed up, while industries
featuring digitalization are more resilient and even see some
upside, which all lead to potential investment opportunities.

Moving forward to face all challenges ahead in due care,
the Group management team will continue to explore any
potential business investments and seize good opportunities
for developments from time to time, so as to diversify revenue
stream sources and business expansion. We will make use
of our strength in different segment business markets to
reward shareholders with better business results and profitable
outcome. Here | would like to thank all our staff for their
dedication in today’s challenging environment to meet the
global market fluctuations, and also our business partners and
shareholders for their ongoing support and trust over the years.
Most of all, we are always aiming at well-positioned all our
businesses to deliver further growth on our shareholder’s value.

Zhu Min
Chairman

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Management Discussion and Analysis

MARKET REVIEW

The global economy today becomes more volatile and distorted
in the financial market worldwide, under the current threatening
economic measures of U.S. President Donald Trump’s political
administration on trade affairs. Amidst the intensifying tariff
battle with the United States and efforts to deleverage debt and
financial risks, the Chinese economy had the gross domestic
product (GDP) of 6.1 percent over the previous year according
to the estimation of the National Bureau of Statistics of China.

In 2019, the year-on-year growth rate of total value added of
the industrial enterprises above the designated size was 5.7
percent; the Index of Services Production increased by 6.9
percent year-on-year; the fixed-asset investment of China
increased by 5.4 percent year-on-year; the producer prices for
industrial products went down by 0.3 percent year-on-year, and
the purchasing prices for industrial producers went down by 0.7
percent over the previous year.

During the year 2019, the industrial production including the
steel sector in China made considerable reduction of excess
industrial capacity and the industrial capacity utilization rate
nationwide was approximately 76.6 percent, 0.1 percent point
higher than 2018. The China National Development and Reform
Commission had urged cut on any substandard industrial
production capacity and gone for a better growth in the keen
competing global market with high-quality products.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BERENWED T

In China, the operations of peer-to-peer (P2P) virtual lending
platforms has established P2P lending or online lending, which
also known as social lending, is a popular fintech application
under which intermediaries gather funds from retail investors
and lending the money to small and medium-sized enterprises
(SMEs) and individual borrowers. The P2P lending is also a way
for some investors to diversify their investments; but with higher
returns in P2P lending comes with the higher risk, there is a
possibility of the borrower defaulting, and being unable to return
the promised returns or even the investors’ capital. In China the
massive collapse of these platforms in recent years has spread
panic among investors; and the investors are losing confidence
at their stakes and pulling their funds, diminishing operators’
liquidity, so many of these platforms are facing insolvency. In
lieu of the trend of collapse, China’s P2P lending industry had
gotten much more strictly regulated during 2019. Moreover, a
slew of Chinese fintech and P2P lending platforms are looking
to more lenient markets in Southeast Asia (SEA), following a
prolonged industry crackdown in China that has left the sector
reeling.

Although China has huge potential market growth in the
lending business, there are higher risks for the lending business
operation there, while Hong Kong market are very distinctive
to it. Besides, the Hong Kong government has repeatedly
reminded borrowers to be aware of the risks when borrowing,
and request all moneylenders to operate business in compliance
with Money Lenders Ordinance and licence restrictions. Despite
the drastic demonstration and protest devastation in Hong
Kong together with the effects from the trade war between U.S.
and China during 2019, the low interest rate of borrowing, still
boosted the Hong Kong property market growth both in terms
of property price and transaction volume.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Electronic commerce (eCommerce) has been growing rapidly
worldwide with comparatively a greater extent in Asia Pacific
region and particularly in PRC. But the trade war between
U.S. and China together with the Brexit situations posed
unpredictable concerns on the worldwide economy, and been
greatly affecting the eCommerce and online shopping interest
in 2019. With world market fluctuated financially on both the
political and economic grounds, online shopping was more
accessible than ever, but customers became harder to please,
and of higher buyers’ expectations during the year. By having
an online version of a physical store in retail was not enough
anymore, as consumers did not merely want to grab and
go; and they wanted their shopping to be an experience of
involvement and of itself: interactive, immersive and enjoyable.
The traditional business model continued to lose ground and
eCommerce continued its expansion from such shift. This was
further fueled by consumers’ desires and tastes, so shaping
eCommerce with different trends and changes became more
well-operated in 2019. The consumers today are getting
accustomed to use internet and mobile apps for online
shopping where, they can have the most practical innovation
being adopted by eCommerce sites in social payment options
through trusted, secure digital wallets like Apple Pay, Alipay,
WeChat Pay, and PayPal etc. In 2019, when compared in
mobile payments between China and United States, the internet
usage gap was much wider than expected in the market, as
more people paid with their phones in China than the entire
population of the United States.

The China Ministry of Education has continuously promoted the
application of information technology (IT) to advance education
reforms and ensure equitable access to education. As reflected
in the 2019 announcement of China Online Education Group
(“61Talk” or the “Company”) (NYSE: COE), a leading online
education platform in China, with core expertise in English
education that the Company would continue to streamline their
business to focus their resources on providing high-quality
programs for the growing K-12 market. And with COE’s solid
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BERENWED T

presence in the largely saturated tier-one cities of China, it was
keen to focus on bringing its programs to China’s large and
underserved markets in the non-tier-one cities and compete
with other online education business there. It is well noted that
China’s internet penetration rate is only 60 percent, but its
sheer scale means almost three times the number of internet
users as the United States. Despite the influence from the
market instability in the outside world, the market growth of
online education business in China steadily exceeds more
than 20 percent yearly, and during 2019 the online education
investors in China were rational; and their business operation
was expanded more healthily with modern technology and
knowledge.

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2019, the Cybernaut Group might still be regarded
comprising five segments of subsidiary groups, namely those
engaged in the manufacture and sale of advanced steel flow
control products; in the manufacture and sales of paper
converting equipments; money lending business; eCommerce
business and internet online education services.

During the year under review, the manufacturing businesses
were adversely affected by the escalating trade war between
China and U.S., and the steel market was still in the fierce
competition among the steel manufacturers in China. Factually,
our subsidiary group of steel flow product manufacturing
business strived painstakingly at big losses in the drastic
cutthroat market competition in recent years, and the subsidiary
was disposed in late 2018 with the completion settled and
announced on 12 April 2019. During the year of 2019, the
subsidiary segment business of manufacturing paper converting
equipment of Cybernaut Group, operating in China also suffered
from the harsh competition resulted from the U.S.-China trade
war, with reduced order size and market demand in the volatile
situations of the world market.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The subsidiary of Cybernaut Group engaged in money lending
business in Hong Kong under the Money Lenders Ordinance
(Chapter 163 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Time Credit Limited
(TCL) prudently maintained business operation with existing
market strategy in 2019. Moreover, The Hong Kong government
authority periodically advises borrowers to be aware of the risks
of increased interest rate and the implication of the unstable
and uncertain economic environment. During the year under
review, the subsidiary generated revenue mainly from the first
mortgage property loans to customers for their long and short
term financial needs. And with the high net worth customer
base and partnership alliance on sub-mortgage arrangements,
the TCL loan portfolio continued to contribute a steady income
stream to the Cybernaut Group.

In 2019, our eCommerce business subsidiary with the trade
name of “VTZero” met the overseas market demands despite
the global political unrest and economic fluctuation, the
subsidiary had recognized good revenues in the product
sales trends and product-mix for prominent sales of the
second-handed and refurbished mobile phones of good brand
names. Nowadays, local online marketplaces are booming and
are launched mostly by traditional local retail enterprise and
since they have years of reputation that people are preferred
to shop there instead. As a result, VTZero as a cross-border
eCommerce trading company, has to evaluate the internet
shopping habit country by country and explore more online
marketplace platforms to sustain the business growth. With
prior years’ experience on sourcing used smartphones from
America and Japan, the business management branched out
more on the reverse logistic chain through internet to contribute
additional value to the eCommerce business during 2019. Other
than selling mainly through eBay and Amazon, VTZero also
had established good sales through different selling channels
and online marketplaces like Rakuten in Germany, cDiscount,
Fnac and Darty in France etc. Through the established different
business strategic alliances with the local agents in different
countries including Europe and North America, the subsidiary
could barely manage to reduce its market risks resulted from
the Hong Kong protest devastation and the U.S.-China trade
war in 2019.
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During 2019, the subsidiary segment of Cybernaut Group
engaged in the online education business with continued great
momentum of demands of last year, expanded with good
returns and increased market developments in the online
education industry in China. Further, the subsidiary management
through the VIE arrangements had closely monitored the
online business to provide users with the updated information
and software accessible through the education platform
and packages, so as to enhance the segment business
growth strengthened with good resource allocated for market
expansion.

Risk management on financial instruments

The Group’s major financial instruments are trade receivables,
loan receivables, other receivables,restricted bank deposits,
bank balances and cash,trade and bill payables, other
payables, lease liabilities, promissory notes and bank and
other borrowings. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risk (currency risk and interest rate
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The management monitors the
exposure of these financial risks to ensure appropriate measures
are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Our Group’s exposure to the risks of changes in market interest
rates related primarily to the its loan receivables with the floating
interest rates; and the credit risk of the Group is primarily
attributable to trade and other receivables, loans receivable
and bank balances during 2019. The Group has no significant
concentrations of credit risk and the carrying amounts of
trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents has
represented the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in
relation to the financial assets. Besides, the management has
good financial policies in place to ensure that the outstanding
trade receivables are collected on a timely basis. Trade
receivables are subject to the expected credit loss (ECL) model.
The Group applies HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring
expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss
allowance for all trade receivables from the initial recognition.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The expected loss rates are based on the historical payment
profiles of sales and the corresponding historical credit losses
experienced. The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect
current and forward-looking information on the factors affecting
the customers’ abilities to settle the receivables.

In the money lending business, the credit policy on extending
credit terms to loan borrowers includes assessing and
evaluating loan borrowers’ creditworthiness and financial
standing. Management has also closely monitored all
outstanding debts and reviewed the collectability of loans
receivable periodically. The Group has adopted a loan risk
classification approach to manage its loans and advances
to customers portfolio risk, and the loans and advances to
customers have had a significant increase in credit risk since
their origination and so impairment are recognized on the basis
of lifetime expected credit losses (ECLs). The Group applies the
new ECL model to measure the impairment loss of the loans
and advances to the customers and has assessed that there is
significant loss allowance recognised in accordance with HKFRS
9 as at 31 December 2019.

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group’s operations
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. At 31
December 2019 and 2018, the financial liabilities measured at
fair value in the consolidated statement of financial position
are grouped into different fair value hierarchy. The fair value
of contingent consideration payable was determined by an
independent professional valuer using Binomial Option Pricing
Model, based on volatility of 12% (2018: 13%). An increase in
the volatility used in isolation would result in an increase in the
fair value measurement of the contingent consideration payable,
and vice versa.
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Impairment on Goodwill and Intangible Assets

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill and intangible
assets have been allocated to three cash generating units
(“CGUs”"), comprising money lending segment, eCommerce
segment and internet education services segment as follows:

Money lending

The recoverable amount of the money lending CGU has been
determined based on a value in use calculation and based on
a valuation by an independent valuer. That calculation adopted
cash flow projections covering a 5-year period (2018: 5-year
period), based on financial budgets with a discount rate of
14% (2018: 16%) per annum. Cash flows beyond the 5-year
period (2018: 5-year period) are extrapolated with 3% (2018:
3%) growth rate. Other key assumptions for the value in use
calculations relate to the estimation of cash flows is based on
the money lending CGU’s past performance and management’s
expectations of the market development. During the year ended
31 December 2019 and 2018, management determines that
there is no impairment on the money lending CGU. Management
believes that any reasonably possible changes in any of these
assumptions would not cause the carrying amount of the money
lending CGU to exceed the recoverable amount of the money
lending CGU.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Management Discussion and Analysis

eCommerce

The recoverable amount of the eCommerce CGU has been
determined based on a value in use calculation and based on
a valuation by an independent valuer. That calculation adopted
cash flow projections covering a 5-year period (2018: 5-year
period), based on financial budgets with a discount rate of
13% (2018: 16%) per annum. Cash flows beyond the 5-year
period (2018: 5-year period) are extrapolated with 3% (2018:
2.5%) growth rate. Other key assumptions for the value in use
calculations relate to the estimation of cash flows is based on
the unit’s past performance and management’s expectations of
the market development. During the year ended 31 December
2019, management has consequently determined impairment of
goodwill directly related to the eCommerce CGU amounting to
RMB61,225,000 (2018: Nil).

Internet education services

The recoverable amount of the internet education services CGU
has been determined based on a value in use calculation and
based on a valuation by an independent valuer. That calculation
adopted cash flow projections covering a 5-year period (2018:
5-year period), based on financial budgets with a discount rate
of 14% (2018: 17%) per annum. Cash flows beyond the 5-year
period (2018: 5-year period) are extrapolated with 3% (2018:
3%) growth rate. Other key assumptions for the value in use
calculations relate to the estimation of cash flows is based on
the internet education services CGU’s past performance and
management’s expectations of the market development. During
the year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, management
determines that there is no impairment on the internet education
services CGU. Management believes that any reasonably
possible changes in any of these assumptions would not cause
the carrying amount of the internet education services CGU to
exceed the recoverable amount the internet education services
CGU.
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BERENWED T

On 5 July 2019, the Company announced that it had a
connected transaction establishment of and subscription for
the interest in a fund, such that the Company entered into: (1)
the Limited Partnership Agreement with the General Partner,
the Initial Limited Partner and Hana Financial Investment Co.,
Limited, and (2) the Subscription Agreement with the General
Partner.

The General Partner is owned as to 81% by Cybernaut Capital
Management, which is owned as to 99% by Mr. Zhu Min, an
executive Director of the Company. The General Partner is an
associate of Mr. Zhu Min and hence a connected person of
the Company for the purpose of Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. As at the date of the announcement, the applicable
percentage ratios as defined under the Listing Rules in respect
of the Transaction is expected to be exceeding 0.1% but less
than 5%, the Transaction is therefore subject to the reporting
and announcement requirement, but exempted from dispatch of
circular and independent shareholders’ approval requirements
pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The Company announced that it had a connected transaction
in relation to the financial assistance by connected persons
on 9 July 2019, where at the date of the announcement,
Mr. Ng Hang Fai Calvin and Mr. Lee Yim, the respective sole
shareholder of Win All Management Limited (Win All) and Wide
Select Investments Limited (Wide Select), are directors of VT
Zero Limited, the subsidiary of the Company and therefore the
Noteholders (Win All and Wide Select) are connected persons
of the Company at the subsidiary level under Rule 14A.06(9)
of the Listing Rules. As (i) the Noteholders are connected
persons of the Company at the subsidiary level; (i) the granting
of the financial assistance to the Company by Mr. Ng and
Mr. Lee under the New Promissory Notes which are secured
by the assets of the Company under the Share Charges are
on normal commercial terms; and (i) the Board (including all
the independent non-executive Directors) has approved the
Deeds of Amendment and the grant of the Share Charges and
confirmed the terms therein are fair and reasonable, and are on
normal commercial terms and in the interests of the Company
and the Shareholders as a whole, the Deeds of Amendment and
the transactions contemplated are subject to the reporting and
announcement requirements, but are exempt from the circular,
independent financial advice and Shareholders’ approval
requirements by virtue of Rule 14A.101 of the Listing Rules.

None of the Directors had any material interest in the Deeds
of Amendment and the Share Charges and the transactions
contemplated thereunder and had abstained from voting at
the relevant Board resolutions. Therefore, on 9 July 2019 after
the trading hours, the Company announced that it entered into
the Deeds of Amendment with the Noteholders, pursuant to
which the Company and the Noteholders agreed to amend the
terms and conditions of the Existing Promissory Notes and to
issue the New Promissory Notes with a principal amount of
HK$113,208,000.00 each to the Noteholders in replacement
of the Existing Promissory Notes. Save for the amendments
mentioned above and disclosed in the announcement, the
principal terms of the Existing Promissory Notes remain
unchanged.
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On 16 July 2019, Ellipsiz Communications Ltd. (“EC”), a
Canada based company listed on the Toronto TSX Venture
Exchange ( TSXV code :
communications services and solutions for the communications

ECT ), primarily engaged in providing

industry announced that it had completed a further non-
brokered working capital unit private placement raising the
proceeds of C$375,000 and the subscriber for the private
placement was Cybernaut International Holdings Company
Limited (“Cybernaut International”). In that private placement,
EC placed 2,500,000 units (each a “Unit”) at a price of C$0.15
per Unit; and each Unit consists of one common share of EC
“Warrant”).

Each Warrant entitles the holder to acquire an additional

and its one (1) common share purchase warrant ( a

common share at C$0.15 per share until two (2) years from the
closing of the that Offering. Cybernaut International has agreed
not to exercise any Warrants if it would result in holding more
than 10 per cent of the EC’s outstanding common shares.

EC generates revenue mainly from Taiwan through the solutions
it offers; and the solutions offered are provided through a
range of delivery models, from the supply of hardware and
software products with associated consultancy, design,
deployment and system support, to fully-managed services.
EC provides clients an operational support systems (OSS),
being systems which control and monitor network activities
for many telecommunication service providers; and Cybernaut
International has viewed such private placement as a first step
in developing a strategic relationship with EC.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

Paper Converting Equipment and Other Relating Equipment

The revenue generated from paper converting equipment
business contributed approximately RMB40.1 million for the
year ended 2019, representing a decrease of approximately
4.1% as compared with the same period in 2018 (for the year
ended 2018: RMB41.8 million). The slight decrease is mainly
due to the escalating trade war between China and U.S..

Money Lending

The revenue contributed by this business was approximately
RMB16.2 million for the year ended 2019 (for the year
ended 2018: RMB18.9 million). The revenue decreased by
approximately 14.3% when comparing to previous year is mainly
due to the keen market competition, property market fluctuation
and the continuous social unrest in Hong Kong.

ECommerce

The revenue contributed by this business was approximately
RMB241.7 million for the year ended 2019 (for the year
ended 2018: RMB152.5 million). The revenue increased by
approximately 58.5% is mainly due to the switch to used
and refurbished device market (such as phones, tablets and
smart watches). Also, we entered into more valuable online
marketplace in different countries, such as Carrefour in Spain,
Eprice in Italy and Fnac Darty in France.

Internet Education Services

The revenue contributed by this business which was acquired
in November 2017 was approximately RMB29.0 million for the
year ended 2019. (for the year ended 2018: RMB24.6 million).
The revenue increased by approximately 17.9% is mainly due to
the popularity of online education and the increase of the loyalty
of our users in China.
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Cost of Sales/Service Rendered

The Group’s cost of sales mainly comprised costs of raw
materials, labour and other direct costs of sales and services
rendered. During the year, the Group’s cost of sales increased
by approximately 46.7% from RMB167.4 million in 2018 to
approximately RMB245.6 million in 2019. The increase is mainly
due to the increase of revenue of ECommerce business.

Gross Profit

The Group experienced a gross profit of approximately
RMB81.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2019. For the
year ended 31 December 2018, the Group recorded a gross
profit of approximately RMB70.4 million. The gross profit was
mainly resulted from the effective cost control in money lending
and internet education services business.

Impairments Loss

During the year under review, the Group had incurred the
following major impairments:

(@) Impairment losses were recognised on trade and loan
receivables of approximately RMB47.6 million. Several
loan borrowers in money lending business who have a
prolonged delay in repayment of loan interest/principal
and the Group considers that the default risk of these
borrowers is high and thus impairment on loan receivables
is considered necessary;

(b) Impairment loss was recognised on goodwill of
ECommerce business of approximately RMB61.2 million
is mainly due to some unsatisfactory performance in the
ECommerce business.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Selling and Distribution Costs

The Group’s selling and distribution costs comprised sales
commissions, sales staff costs and transportation costs. During
the year under review, the cost increased by approximately
45.9% from approximately RMB3.7 million for the year ended 31
December 2018 to approximately RMB5.4 million for the year
ended 31 December 2019. The increase is mainly due to the
increase of advertising and promotion expenses of ECommerce
business.

Administrative Expenses and Other Expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses and other expenses
decreased by approximately 49.0% from approximately
RMB102.9 million for year ended 31 December 2018 to
approximately RMB81.0 million for the year ended 31 December
2019. The decrease is mainly due to the amortization of
intangible assets of internet online education business and
ECommerce business and discontinued operation of steel flow
control product business in April 2019.

Finance Costs

The Group’s finance costs composed of bank loans and
promissory notes were approximately RMB16.9 million for the
year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: RMB4.7 million). The
interest rate for bank loans were at a fixed interest rate of 3.25%
and 5.22% per annum (2018: 5.22% per annum).

Taxation

The PRC subsidiary of the Company engaged in internet online
education service provider successfully qualified the China’s
High and New-Technology Enterprise (HNTE) program and
obtained the Chinese High-tech Enterprise Certification (4
1 58 B T A 252 F8) in 2017, Consequently, the subsidiary is
entitled to the PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”) rate of 15%
until 24 October 2020.
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Loss for the Year

As a result of the challenging conditions, the Group’s loss
(included the discontinued operation) for the year ended
31 December 2019 was approximately RMB105.0 million,
compared to approximately RMB81.0 million for the previous
year. The loss increased was mainly due to the impairment of
various assets. The Group’s loss per share from continuing and
discontinued operation increased from RMB2.02 cents for the
year ended 31 December 2018 to RMB2.48 cents in 2019.

Final Dividends

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: Nil).

Capital Structure, Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s bank balances and cash
was approximately RMB158.3 million (2018: RMB138.6 million).

Total equity of the Group as at 31 December 2019 was
approximately RMB400.2 million (2018: RMB495.4 million). The
Group has an outstanding bank and other loan and promissory
notes of approximately RMB27.0 million and RMB335.6 million,
respectively as at 31 December 2019 (2018: RMB86.5 million
and RMB237.1 million).

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Material Acquisitions and Disposals of Subsidiaries and
Associated Companies

Material Disposal of Subsidiary

Following the Memorandum of Understanding (MOU)
announcement in relation to the potential disposal of the
Disposal Company by the Company made on 28 May 2018,
a major transaction disposal of 100% equity interest in a
subsidiary was announced on 1 August 2018.

References are made to the announcement of Cybernaut
International Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”)
dated 1 August 2018; and the circular of the Company dated
7 November 2018 (the “Circular”) in relation to the major
transaction regarding the disposal of 100% equity interest in
Sinoref (BVI) Limited. The Completion took place on 12 April
2019 in accordance with the terms and conditions of the
Agreement and an announcement was then made. Accordingly,
the Company has ceased to have any interests in the Disposal
Group and the Disposal Group is no longer subsidiaries of the
Company as of the date of the announcement.

During the year under review, except for investments in its
subsidiaries and save as disclosed, the Company did not
hold any significant investment of equity interest in any other
company.

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 December 2019, the Group pledged certain of its
buildings and leasehold land with aggregate net carrying value
of approximately RMB0.10 million (2018: RMB0.10 million) as
collaterals for the bank loan granted to the Group. Gearing ratio
is calculated based on total debt at the end of the year divided
by total assets at the end of the year multiplied by 100%. As
at 31 December 2019, the gearing ratio of the Group was 36%
(2018: 25%).

BEREFNWED

EXARBREENBRAARKE DT

EAHEHBLA

#_T-N\FRA-+N\BHEBBEAEAR
AR EHE AR ZRBRETEHRAM
& HEMBRFZ100%KREL EER
ZER-_TE—NFNA—BRfH-

ZIROBALBEEERBER AR (AR
al) BBA-T—NFENA—BZAH
EARRIBHA=ZZE—N\F+—A+tAZ
ek ([ZB]) - WA A B ESinoref
(BVI) Limited 2 100% & #E 2 F EXRX 5 © 7
KERZZ—NFHA+-BRERZEZ
R RAR S AE BN R BER A D o
Bt - REZXAMEE  KRARTHEAD
EXEEEZR  MEEEETHEAERR
Al MBAR] °

REEFER  BRREEHNB AR RAEK
BEI ARARABEREREMARNA
ERAIERBRERE -

BEEERR

R-ZE—NF+-_A=+—8 ££EE
& FREFELELN B ARE100,000
T (ZZE—)\F: AR¥100,0007T) &
BFREET KT - MEAAEBER
RITERCEKIFR - EEABLERIEF
REBERERUEREELBEFRA100%
FE -RZTE—-NF+=ZA=+—H8 ' &
SEEERBLERAI (ZT—N\F :
25%) °

Annual Report 2019 . 25 '._
—E-nEEH - 2D



Management Discussion and Analysis

BERENWED T

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had not provided any form
of guarantee to any company outside of the Group. The Group
is not involved in any current material legal proceedings, nor is
it aware of any pending or potential material legal proceedings
involving the Group.

Currency Exchange Exposures

The Group’s purchases and sales are mainly denominated in
US dollars, Renminbi and Hong Kong dollars. The operating
expenses of the Group are mainly in Hong Kong dollars and
Renminbi. The Group has well monitored and managed its
exposure to fluctuation in currency exchange rates.

CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION AND
LIABILITIES

On 26 July 2017, the Company entered into the Share
Purchase Agreement (the “SPA”) with Cybernaut Education
Limited, a company which is owned as to 90% by Mr. Zhu
Ming, an executive director and a substantial shareholder
of the Company, (the “Vendor”). Pursuant to the SPA, the
consideration will be subject to adjust based on the net profit
after tax generating from operating activities (the “Net Profit”)
of the Cybernaut Technology International Limited and its
subsidiaries as shown in the audited consolidated financial
statements for:

()  the Net Profit for the six-month period ending 30 June
2018 shall not be less than HK$7.5 million;

(i)  the Net Profit for the six-month period ending 31
December 2018 shall not be less than HK$7.5 million;

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Management Discussion and Analysis

(i)  the Net Profit for the six-month period ending 30 June
2019 shall not be less than HK$9 million; and

(iv) the Net Profit for the six-month period ending 31
December 2019 shall not be less than HK$9 million.

The fair value of the contingent consideration was determined
by an independent professional valuer not connected with
the Group based on Binomial Option Pricing Model. The fair
value as at 31 December 2019 was RMB39.1 million (2018:
RMB108.4 million).

As at 31 December 2019, saved as disclosed in above, the
Group had not provided any form of guarantee for any company
outside the Group. The Group is not involved in any current
material legal proceedings, nor is the Group aware of any
pending or potential material legal proceedings involving the
Group.

CONTRACTUAL AGREEMENTS

During the year ended 31 December 2017, certain business
activities of the Group which were/are categorised as
“restricted” business under the PRC laws and regulations have
been carried out by the Group through a series of contractual
arrangements (the “VIE Agreements”), and that happened at
the acquisition of Cybernaut Technology International Limited
(the “Project Company”) on 22 November 2017. The VIE
agreements are a series of agreements, including but not
limited to the Management Services Agreement, the Equity
Pledge Agreement, the Loan Agreement, the Irrevocable Option
Agreement, the Power of Attorney, the Undertaking Letters and
the Declaration Letters, executed for the purpose of establishing
the variable interest entity arrangement between Huzhou
Company and Wowxue, through which the financial results of
Wowxue are consolidated with the financial results of Huzhou
Company as “variable interest entity” (as defined in Hong Kong
and International Financial Reporting Standards). The VIE
business and VIE Agreements are disclosed in the circular dated
17 October 2017 and as below.
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REASON FOR ENTERING INTO THE VIE
AGREEMENTS

Investing in the PRC by foreign investors is primarily regulated
by “INIREEZEEEES (20174 185]) (the Guidance
Catalogue of Industries for Foreign Investment (2017 Revision)*)”
(the “Catalogue”), which was promulgated and is amended from
time to time jointly by the Ministry of Commerce of the PRC and
the National Development and Reform Commission. Pursuant
to the Catalogue, the value-added telecommunication services
related business of Wowxue is considered as “restricted”
under the categories of value-added telecommunication
services. Therefore, foreign investors can only operate value-
added telecommunication business in the PRC under joint
ventures with the foreign portion of the total investment and
hence shareholding below 50%. As Hong Kong Cybernaut,
the subsidiary of the Target Company, is the foreign investor of
Huzhou Company, it is not allowed to indirectly hold more than
50% equity interest in Wowxue through Huzhou Company or
directly hold more than 50% equity interest in Wowxue under
the PRC laws.

In light of the above, Huzhou Company, Wowxue and the
Registered Shareholders have entered into the VIE Agreements
on 31 August 2017 (as amended by supplemental agreements
dated 25 September 2017) for the Reorganisation in order to
enable the financial results, the entire economic benefits and
the risks of the businesses of Wowxue to flow into Huzhou
Company and to enable the Project Company to have indirect
control over Wowxue as contemplated under the Sale and
Purchase Agreement.

The Company agrees that it would unwind the VIE Agreements
as soon as the relevant laws and regulations allow the value-
added telecommunications business in the PRC to be operated
by foreign investors without adopting a VIE structure. However,
it is uncertain at this stage when the restrictions on foreign
ownership in value-added telecommunications businesses will
be lifted in the PRC. Under the Irrevocable Option Agreement,
the Registered Shareholders must return to Huzhou Company
or its nominee any consideration the Registered Shareholders
had received from Huzhou Company for the acquisition of the
equity interest in Wowxue.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Up to 31 December 2019 of this report and 30 March 2020 for
approval of the unaudited annual financial results, the Group
has not encountered any interference or encumbrance from any
governing bodies in operating its business through Wowxue
under the VIE Agreements.

The PRC Legal Adviser has confirmed, among others, that (i)
the use of the VIE structure and the VIE Agreements do not
violate the relevant prevailing laws and regulations in the PRGC;
(i) the VIE Agreements would not be deemed as concealing
illegal intentions with a lawful form and void under the PRC
contract law; and (iii) save for the clause providing that the
arbitration tribunal may award injunctive relief or winding up
orders and that the courts in Hong Kong, the Cayman Islands
and the PRC may grant temporary injunctive relief or other
temporary remedies, which may not be enforceable under PRC
law, the VIE Agreements are enforceable under the laws of the
PRC. Based on the above, the Directors believe that the VIE
Agreements conferring significant control and economic benefits
from Wowxue to the Target Company are enforceable under the
relevant laws and regulations.

INFORMATION OF THE VIE AGREEMENTS
The VIE Agreements
(1) Management Services Agreement

Date ;31 August 2017

Parties (1) Wowxue;

(2)  Huzhou Company; and

(3)  The Registered Shareholders.
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P30

Scope of
services

Huzhou Company shall provide investment
advice, planning and other business advice
on the operation and technical services of
Wowxue in accordance with the requirements
of Wowxue. Huzhou Company shall
participate and assist in the management
of the project operation and complete the
management consulting service in time and
submit the relevant management consulting
report within the time limit required by
Wowxue, and provide the required technical
services. Such services include but not
limited to the following:

() to select and facilitate the
employment of qualified persons and
experts in respect of the businesses
of Wowxue in internet education
information services and teacher
qualifications, and to provide the
required or appropriate training to
the managers, department heads,
administration staff and accounting
staff and all other employees of
Wowxue;

(i) provide strategic advice, from time to
time, on the negotiation and signing
of contract(s) which is/are required or
in connection with the daily operation
and business of Wowxue;

(ily formulate rules, regulations,
internal control policies, risk control
management systems, standards
administration, accounting, budget,
marketing, human resources and
operating policies, as well as the
practices which are relevant to or
affecting the business of Wowxue,
and assist Wowxue in the effective
implementation of relevant policies
and practices;

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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to plan, prepare, as well as provide
public relations services and promote
activities for Wowxue and to assist
Wowxue to enter into contract(s)
with third parties for businesses such
as internet education information
services and certification of teachers’
qualification;

from time to time or at the request of
Wowxue to review and improve the
operation of Wowxue;

in general, to perform all reasonable
and necessary actions in relation to
Wowxue’s business operations in an
effective and appropriate manner;

on behalf of Wowxue, to make
investments related to its business
scope, establish branches,
subsidiaries and make decisions on

merger and acquisitions;

to provide Wowxue with the global
market information, market research
data and analysis on internet
education information services and
certification of teachers’ qualification;
and

to provide investment advice,
planning and other business
advice on the operation and
project investment of Wowxue,
and to participate and assist in the
management of project operations in
accordance with the requirements of
Wowxue.
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Fee

Guarantee

Term

Wowxue shall make provisions for and
pay management and consultancy fees
to Huzhou Company on an annual basis,
which shall be equivalent to the total
income of Wowxue minus all relevant
costs, expenses and taxes payable by
Wowxue. If there is a loss in a given
year, then no provisions for the said
management and consultancy fees would
be required for the year until Wowxue
records a surplus.

The Registered Shareholders have pledged
their holding of 100% of the equity interest
in Wowxue to guarantee Wowxue to fulfill
its obligations under the Management
Services Agreement.

A term of ten years from the date of
signing of the Management Services
Agreement. Upon the expiry of each
term, Huzhou Company is entitled at its
sole and absolute discretion to renew
the Management Services Agreement
for a further term of ten years for each
renewal. Wowxue and the Registered
Shareholders are not entitled to terminate
the Management Services Agreement
during the term of such agreement.
Huzhou Company is entitled to terminate
the Management Services Agreement by
giving thirty days of prior notice in writing
to Wowxue.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Irrevocable Option Agreement

Date : 31 August 2017 (as amended by a
supplemental agreement dated 25
September 2017)

Parties (1)
@
@)
Subject ()}
Term

Wowxue;
Huzhou Company; and
The Registered Shareholders.

Wowxue and the Registered
Shareholders irrevocably grant
the right to Huzhou Company to
purchase the entire equity interest in
Wowxue for no consideration or, if
nil consideration for purchasing the
entire equity interest in Wowxue by
Huzhou Company is unacceptable
by relevant local regulations or
government departments, at such
consideration will be determined by
Huzhou Company. The Registered
Shareholders must return to Huzhou
Company or its nominee any
consideration that the Registered
Shareholders had received from
Huzhou Company for the acquisition
of the equity interest in Wowxue;
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(i)

(iv)

Huzhou Company shall also have
the right at its discretion to direct
Wowxue and the Registered
Shareholders to transfer the equity
interest in Wowxue to a third party
designated or arranged by Huzhou
Company at no consideration or, if
nil consideration for purchasing the
entire equity interest in Wowxue by
a third party designated or arranged
by Huzhou Company is unacceptable
by relevant local regulations or
government departments, at such
consideration will be determined by
Huzhou Company. The Registered
Shareholders must return to Huzhou
Company or its nominee any
consideration that the Registered
Shareholders had received from
Huzhou Company for the acquisition
of the equity interest in Wowxue;

Huzhou Company may at any
time by way of serving a notice of
purchase (including by telephone,
e-mail, telegraph) to Wowxue and the
Registered Shareholders in order to
exercise the option to purchase the
equity interest in Wowxue;

Wowxue and the Registered
Shareholders shall notify Huzhou
Company by way of written notice
in the event of a divorce, major
diseases, insolvency (including but
not limited to being prosecuted),
bankruptcy, dissolution or
deregistration, etc., which may
potentially affect their holding of
equity interest in Wowxue;
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(vi)

Management Discussion and Analysis
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If any Registered Shareholders
by reason of divorce, insolvency,
death, bankruptcy, dissolution,
deregistration, etc, may lead to their
equity interest in Wowxue being
inherited or transferred to other
third party(ies) (including but not
limited to their spouse, heir, creditor,
etc.), and in the event that Huzhou
Company decided not to exercise
the option set out in paragraphs (i)
and (i) above, the other Registered
Shareholders shall exercise their right
of first refusal to acquire the relevant
equity interest in Wowxue such
that the party who had exercised
the right of first of refusal shall be
subject to the obligations under the
Management Services Agreement,
the Irrevocable Option Agreement,
the Loan Agreement and the Equity
Pledge Agreement; and

Wowxue and the Registered
Shareholders have covenanted,
among others, that:

(@ without the prior written
consent of Huzhou Company,
they shall not sell, transfer,
mortgage, dispose of by way of
gift or dispose of in any other
manner any equity interest in
Wowxue or create any security
interest in such equity interest;

(vi)
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T

(b) without the prior written
consent of Huzhou Company,
Wowxue shall not enter into
any transaction (except in the
ordinary course of business)
that may cause any material
changes to its assets, liabilities,
operations, shareholders’
interests or other legal interests;
and

(¢) they shall not in any manner
supplement or amend the
articles of association of
Wowxue to the extent that
it may cause any materia
changes to the assets,
liabilities, operations,
shareholders’ interests or other
legal interests of Wowxue.

Term . The exercise period of the option shall
remain in effect indefinitely as permitted
by the law and/or until Huzhou Company
having exercised such option.
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Loan Agreement 3) Exp=
Date : 31 August 2017 (as amended by a H & C ZE—+&NA=+—H
supplemental agreement dated 25 (KEBHA-ZT—tF AN
September 2017) AZThRBZERBES
1)
Parties : (1)  Huzhou Company; and 8 (1) BMNAR R
(2) The Registered Shareholders. @) ERLRE-
Subject . () Subject to the operational needs TEEE () BEABNEKE
of Wowxue, Huzhou Company Z MR A
may at its discretion, from time to BURETRITER
time, provide an interest free loan FRIAEME E
to the Registered Shareholders by FRAERELR
way of entrusted bank loans or by RREHEEER
other legal ways. The amount and EREERKHE
conditions of the loan, if provided, (nA) d#MNAw
shall be determined by Huzhou 2REMIBEAE B
Company at its sole discretion, and BEERERER
such loan shall be used as the paid BYEWELRS -
in capital of Wowxue.
(i)  Formal loan agreement(s), entrusted iy CEXEZBZ-
loan agreement(s) or other relevant TEFRHELIEM
agreement(s) shall be entered into 1 8 175 & 78 f N
between Huzhou Company, the NE > BRBRER
Registered Shareholders, and other HMBHETHGIE
relevant parties according to the BERBEREL

actual situation.
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P38

Interest

Term

Non-interest bearing

In the event of any of the following
circumstances, the loan will expire and the
Registered Shareholders shall repay the
loan at the request of Huzhou Company:

()  Wowxue having filed for or having
been subject to bankruptcy
petition, bankruptcy reorganization,
bankruptcy liquidation or winding up
petition; and

(i)  Huzhou Company having fully
exercised its right to purchase the
entire equity interest in Wowxue in
accordance with the Irrevocable
Option Agreement.

Equity Pledge Agreement

Date

Parties

Subject

Term

31 August 2017

(1)  Wowxue;

(2)  Huzhou Company; and

(8) The Registered Shareholders.

The Registered Shareholders
unconditionally and irrevocable agreed to
pledge all the equity interest in Wowxue
that they own (including any interest
or dividend paid for such shares) to
Huzhou Company as a security for the
performance of the obligations by Wowxue
and the Registered Shareholders under the
Management Services Agreement.

The pledge shall remain valid until
Wowxue and the Registered Shareholders
unconditionally and irrevocably fulfilled all
the obligations (including, but not limited
to, the settlement and/or the payment of
the service charge, liquidated damages (if
any), etc.) under the Management Services
Agreement.
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Power of Attorney

Date

Parties

Subject

Term

31 August 2017
(1) Huzhou Company; and

(2) The directors of Wowxue, the
Registered Shareholders or the legal
representative of Wowxue

Pursuant to the Power of Attorney, the
directors of Wowxue, the Registered
Shareholders and the legal representative
of Wowxue have irrevocably appointed
Huzhou Company as its/their attorney-
in-fact to (i) exercise all the directors’
rights, shareholders’ rights and legal
representative’s rights (as the case may
be) including but not limited to passing
of board resolutions and shareholders’
resolutions as well as the right to
appoint or remove the directors, legal
representative, general manager and
other senior management of Wowxue;
(i) sign on their behalf all the documents
necessary to give effect to the VIE
Agreements; (iii) exercise all the rights
and powers under the Equity Pledge
Agreement and the right to deal with
the assets of Wowxue; and (iv) submit
documents to the competent company
registration authorities of Wowxue or other
relevant authorities for filing purpose.
As confirmed by Huzhou Company, the
authorizations under the Power of Attorney
will be granted to the relevant officers/
management of Huzhou Company who are
third parties independent to the Registered
Shareholders and their associates.

From the date of the Power of Attorney to
the earlier of the revocation or termination
of each of the Management Services
Agreement, Irrevocable Option Agreement,
Loan Agreement and Equity Pledge
Agreement
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Undertaking Letters

Date

Parties

Subject

31 August 2017 (as amended by a
supplemental letter dated 25 September
2017)

(1) Huzhou Company; and

(2) The directors of Wowxue, the
Registered Shareholders and the
legal representative of Wowxue

Pursuant to the Undertaking Letters,
the directors of Wowxue, the Registered
Shareholders and the legal representative
of Wowxue, irrevocably undertake that:
(i) they will act in accordance with the
instructions of Huzhou Company upon the
exercise of the powers of the directors of
Wowxue, the power of the shareholders
of Wowxue and the power of the legal
representative of Wowxue respectively;
and (i) each of the directors of Wowxue,
each of the Registered Shareholders of
Wowxue and the legal representative
of Wowxue has also undertaken not to
compete with the business operating by
Wowxue.
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Declaration Letters

Date

Parties

Subject

31 August 2017

(1) Zhao Yingming “YM Zhao” and his
spouse; and

(2)  Zhao Yingyong “YY Zhao” and his
spouse

pursuant to the Declaration Letters,
YM Zhao and his spouse, and YY Zhao
and his spouse irrevocably declare that,
among other things, (i) acknowledge that
all the equity interests held by YM Zhao
and YY Zhao in the Wowxue do not form
part of their matrimonial property and YM
Zhao and YY Zhao are entitled to sign
and fulfill the VIE Agreements personally;
and (i) the spouse of YM Zhao and YY
Zhao undertake that if they get a divorce,
they will not claim the relevant equity in
the Wowxue by any way, including but
not limited to the equity of distribution
of profits, acquiring residual properties
upon liquidation of Wowxue, investment
and incorporation of branch offices and
subsidiaries.
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Protection of the interest and assets of Wowxue

The Management Services Agreement, Irrevocable Option
Agreement, Loan Agreement, Equity Pledge Agreement, and
the Undertaking Letters include a provision that each agreement
is binding on the successors and permitted assignees of the
respective parties. In the event of death, bankruptcy or divorce
of any party of the Registered Shareholders, Huzhou Company
may exercise its option under the Irrevocable Option Agreement
to replace the relevant party of the Registered Shareholders,
thus protecting the interest of the Group and allowing Huzhou
Company to enforce its rights under the VIE Agreements against
the successors and permitted assignees of the shareholders of
Wowxue.

In order to have effective control over and to safeguard the
assets of Wowxue, the VIE Agreements provide that, without the
prior written consent of Huzhou Company, Wowxue shall not, in
any form, dispose of significant assets (including but not limited
to any significant customer resources, fixed assets, trademarks,
technical knowhow or other intellectual property rights and/
or other equity interests or similar interests held by Wowxue),
operating rights and/or dispose of all or part of its business
(including sale, replacement, mortgage or disposal in any other
ways), with respect to it and/or its subsidiaries (if any).

The VIE Agreements also provide that, without the prior written
consent of Huzhou Company, () Wowxue shall not increase
or decrease the registered capital or accept any investment
or capital increase from the Registered Shareholders or any
third parties to Wowxue or change the form of the company or
make any major adjustments regarding carrying out liquidation
or dissolution; or the business scope, mode, profit model,
marketing strategy, business policy or customer relationship;
(i) Wowxue and/or its subsidiaries shall not enter into any
partnership or joint venture or profit sharing arrangement with
any third parties, or any other arrangements for the transfer of
benefits or profit sharing in the form of royalties, service fees or
consultancy fees; and (iii) Wowxue shall not declare or distribute
dividends, dividends or any other interests to its shareholders,
including the after-tax profits that Wowxue has not yet allocated
before the commencement of the VIE Agreements.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Since the completion to acquire the Project Company on 22
November 2017, there were no changes in the VIE structure up
to 31 December 2019. The Board will review the VIE structure
regularly and determine if the Group encounters any issues in
safeguarding its assets held through the VIE Agreements. If
any major issues or difficulties arise in doing so, the Board will
engage legal advisers and/or other professionals to assist the
Group to tackle such issues or difficulties.

Financial information of Wowxue

Under the VIE Agreements, Wowxue is accounted for as a
consolidated structured entity that as a subsidiary of the Group.
For the year ended 31 December 2019, Wowxue recognised
total revenue of RMB28,962,000; profit of RMB18,039,000 and
Total assets of RMB53,931,000.

VIE Agreements confer economic benefits on Huzhou
Company from Wowxue

The VIE Agreements confer upon the Group the right to enjoy all
the economic benefit of Wowxue by the Management Services
Agreement under which Wowxue will pay Huzhou Company
the management and consultancy fees equivalent to the total
income of Wowxue minus all relevant costs, expenses and taxes
payable by Wowxue.
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VIE Agreements confer control from Wowxue to Huzhou
Company

The VIE Agreements confer upon the Group sufficient
control over the board and daily operations of Wowxue. The
appointment of directors of Wowxue is subject to Huzhou
Company being satisfied of the director ‘s qualification and
requires the explicit consent of Huzhou Company. If Huzhou
Company is dissatisfied with the performance of the director(s)
of Wowxue and proposes to remove such director(s), Wowxue
shall remove such person(s) as director(s) upon Huzhou
Company’s proposal. Also, Wowxue agreed with Huzhou
Company that Wowxue will, and its shareholders will cause
Wowxue to, accept proposals put forward by Huzhou Company
relating to the daily operations of Wowxue and employment of
staff, operate all business of Wowxue in the ordinary course
of business and refrain from any action or omission that may
adversely affect the business of Wowxue.

Moreover, under the Management Services Agreement,
Huzhou Company will formulate rules, regulations, internal
control policies, risk control management systems, standards
administration, accounting, budget, marketing, human resources
and operating policies, as well as the practices which relevant
to or affecting the business of Wowxue, and assist Wowxue in
the effective implementation of relevant policies and practices.

Furthermore, as a general housekeeping rule, Huzhou Company
will have the custody of the constitutional items of Wowxue,
including the company chop and seal. At the request of
Huzhou Company, Wowxue will provide it with the relevant
legal documents and other information on Wowxue’s business
operation.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

RISKS AND LIMITATIONS RELATING TO THE
VIE AGREEMENTS

Economic risks of the Company

Huzhou Company, as the primary beneficiary of Wowxue,
is not obligated under any of the VIE Agreements to share
the losses of Wowxue or provide financial support to
Wowxue. Moreover, as a limited liability company, Wowxue
is solely liable for its own debts and losses. As advised
by the PRC Legal Adviser, the PRC laws and regulations
do not expressly require Huzhou Company to share the
losses of Wowxue or provide financial support to Wowxue.

Limitations in exercising the option to acquire
ownership in Wowxue

In the case that Huzhou Company exercises its options to
acquire all or part of the equity interest in Wowxue under
the Irrevocable Option Agreement, the acquisition of the
entire equity interests in Wowxue may only be conducted
to the extent as permitted by the applicable PRC laws
and may be subject to necessary approvals and relevant
procedures under applicable PRC laws.

Further, a substantial amount of other costs (if any),
expenses and time may be involved in transferring the
ownership of Wowxue, which may have a material adverse
impact on Huzhou Company’s businesses, prospects and
results of operation.

Huzhou Company may need to pay a substantial
amount of enterprise income tax for the income from the
ownership transfer according to the Irrevocable Option
Agreement.
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Arrangements when potential conflicts of interest arise

Huzhou Company shall rely on the VIE Agreements
to exercise control over and to draw the economic
benefits from Wowxue. Huzhou Company may not be
able to provide sufficient incentives to the Registered
Shareholders for the purpose of encouraging it/them to
act in the best interests of Wowxue, other than stipulating
the relevant obligations in the VIE Agreements. The
Registered Shareholders may breach the VIE Agreements
in the event of conflicts of interest or deterioration of its/
their relationship with Huzhou Company, the results of
which may have a material adverse impact on Huzhou
Company’s business, prospects and results of operation.

It is not assured that if conflicts arise, the Registered
Shareholders will act in the best interests of Huzhou
Company or that the conflicts will be resolved in favour of
Huzhou Company. If any of the Registered Shareholders
fail to perform its obligations under the respective VIE
Agreements, Huzhou Company may have to rely on legal
remedies under the PRC laws through legal proceedings,
which may be expensive, time-consuming and disruptive
to Huzhou Company’s operations and will be subject to
uncertainties as discussed above.

Other risks relating to the VIE Agreements

Firstly, despite (i) there is currently no indication that the
VIE Agreements will be interfered or objected by any PRC
regulatory authorities; and (i) the PRC Legal Adviser is
of the view that the VIE Agreements do not violate any
prevailing PRC laws or regulations, uncertainties still
exist regarding the interpretation and application of the
PRC laws and regulations especially in the area of value-
added telecommunications business. For instance, the
PRC regulatory authorities may issue further guidelines
that impose stricter foreign ownership requirements in that
area of business. Given the uncertain legal and business
environment in the PRC, it is difficult to foresee whether
the PRC regulatory authorities will take the same view
regarding the VIE Agreements as the PRC Legal Adviser in
the future.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

On 19 January 2015, the Ministry of Commerce of the
PRC published the draft PRC Foreign Investment Law
(FEARAMBEIINEKRE X (ERBCRERR) and the
Explanation on the draft PRC Foreign Investment Law (8
RCPEARKMNBINBEREE (ERBLBERR) B
BH) (collectively the “Draft Law”) pursuant to which foreign
companies gaining control over domestic companies via
contractual arrangements such as the VIE Agreements will
be regarded as foreign investments and will be governed
by the Draft Law when it is adopted and becomes law.
The PRC Legal Adviser is of the view that the Draft Law
is currently in consultation stage and has not yet been
effective or legally binding. As there are uncertainties on
the final content and interpretations of the Draft Law, there
is no assurance that the VIE Agreements will comply with
the Draft Law when it is adopted and becomes law.

Secondly, the VIE Agreements may not provide control
as effective as direct ownership. Huzhou Company does
not have any direct equity ownership in Wowxue and
has relied on the VIE Agreements to effect changes in
the management of Wowxue and make an impact on
its business decision making, as opposed to exercising
its rights directly as a shareholder. If Wowxue or its
shareholders refuse to cooperate, the Company will face
difficulties in effecting control over Wowxue’s operation of
business through the VIE structure, which may adversely
affect the Company’s business efficiency.
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Thirdly, according to the Regulations on the Administration
of Foreign-invested Telecommunication Enterprises
(2016 Revision) NI EBELEEEE T (2016 &
7])) (the “FITE Regulations”), which were promulgated
by the State Council of the PRC on 11 December 2001,
and amended on 10 September 2008 and 6 February
2016, it requires a foreign investor who invests in a
value-added telecommunications business in the PRC
must possess prior experience in operating value-added
telecommunications businesses and a proven track
record of business operations overseas (the “Qualification
Requirement”). Currently, none of the applicable PRC
laws, regulations or rules provides clear guidance or
interpretation on the Qualification Requirement. Despite
the lack of clear guidance or interpretation on the
Qualification Requirements, the Company intends to
acquire the entire equity interests in the Wowxue when the
PRC laws allow foreign investors to invest in value-added
telecommunications business in the PRC. The Group
plans to take steps to build up its track record of overseas
value-added telecommunications business operations in
an attempt to comply with the Qualifications Requirements,
i.e., to establish overseas office in Hong Kong and to
register a certain number of domain names outside of
the PRC for conducting operation of websites and other
businesses in relation to value-added telecommunication
services in Hong Kong in coming one to three years, so
as to be qualified to acquire the entire equity interests in
the Wowxue when the relevant PRC laws allow foreign
investors to invest and to hold a majority interest in value-
added telecommunications enterprises in PRC. However,
there is a risk that when the restrictions on foreign
ownership in value-added telecommunications businesses
are lifted in the PRC, Huzhou Company may still be
required to unwind the VIE Agreements before Huzhou
Company’s foreign investor Hong Kong Cybernaut is in a
position to fully comply with the Qualification Requirement.
Therefore, there is no guarantee that the steps taken will
be sufficient to enable Huzhou Company to ultimately
acquire the ownership in Wowxue.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Fourthly, the VIE Agreements may be subject to scrutiny
by the tax authorities and additional tax may be imposed.
Under the Management Services Agreement, Wowxue
is required to pay Huzhou Company management and
consultancy fees for the services rendered by Huzhou
Company. Such service fee payments between related
parties may be subject to scrutiny or challenge by the
PRC tax authorities within ten years after the taxable year
when such transactions are conducted.

Fifthly, the VIE Agreements are governed by the PRC laws.
When a dispute arises under any of the VIE Agreements,
the parties to the dispute may have to rely on legal
remedies under the PRC laws. The VIE Agreements
provide that dispute will be submitted to the South China
International Economic and Trade Arbitration Commission
EBEBREEE SMHEZ B E) for arbitration to be
conducted in Shenzhen. The decision of such arbitration is
final and binding on the parties to the dispute.

Since the legal environment in the PRC is different
from that in Hong Kong and other jurisdictions, the
uncertainties in the PRC legal system could limit the ability
of Huzhou Company to enforce the VIE Agreements.
There is no assurance that such arbitration result will
be in favour of Huzhou Company and/or that there will
not be any difficulties in enforcing any arbitral awards
granted, including specific performance or injunctive
relief and claiming damages by Huzhou Company. As
Huzhou Company may not be able to obtain sufficient
remedies in a timely manner, its ability to exert effective
control over Wowxue and the conduct of the value-
added telecommunication business could be materially
and adversely affected, and may disrupt the business of
Huzhou Company and have a material adverse impact on
Huzhou Company’s business, prospects and results of
operation.
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Lastly, the VIE Agreements provide that the arbitration
tribunal may award remedies over the equity interests
or assets of Wowxue or injunctive relief (e.g. for the
conduct of business or to compel the transfer of assets)
or order the winding up of Wowxue. The VIE Agreements
also include a clause in relation to dispute resolution
among the parties where, when awaiting the formation
of the arbitration tribunal or otherwise under appropriate
conditions, the parties thereto may seek temporary
injunctive relief or other temporary remedies from the
courts in Hong Kong, Cayman lIslands, the PRC and the
location where the principal assets of the Company and
Wowxue are located.

However, the PRC Legal Adviser is of the view that
pursuant to the PRC laws, the arbitration tribunal may
have no power to grant the aforementioned remedies or
injunctive relief or to order the winding up of Wowxue. In
addition, even though the VIE Agreements provide that
overseas courts (e.g. courts in Hong Kong and Cayman
Islands) shall have the power to grant certain relief or
remedies, such relief or remedies may not be recognised
or enforced under the PRC laws. As a result, in the event
that Wowxue or the Registered Shareholders breaches the
terms of the VIE Agreements, the Company may not be
able to obtain sufficient remedies in a timely manner, and
its ability to exert effective control over Wowxue could be
materially and adversely affected. Huzhou Company does
not maintain any insurance to cover the risks relating to
the VIE Agreements.

The Board will continue to review the VIE Structure
regularly and determine if the Group encounters any
issues in safeguarding its assets held through the VIE
Agreements. If any major issues or difficulties arise in
doing so, the Board will continue to engage legal advisers
and/or other professionals to assist the Group to tackle
such issues or difficulties. Up to 31 December 2019, the
Group does not maintain any insurance to cover the risks
relating to the VIE Agreements.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Despite the above, as advised by the PRC legal advisers
to the Company, the VIE Structure is in compliance with
and, to the extent governed by the PRC laws currently in
force, are enforceable under, the current PRC laws. The
Company will continue to monitor the relevant PRC laws
and regulations relevant to the VIE Structure and will take
all necessary actions to protect the Company’s interest in
the Structured Entity.

UNWINDING OF THE VIE AGREEMENT

Up to 31 December 2019, none of the VIE Agreements has
been unwound as none of the restrictions that led to the
adoption of VIE Agreements has been removed.

HUMAN RESOURCES AND STAFF
REMUNERATION

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had about 211 staff
members employed in mainland China and Hong Kong (2018:
445). Total staff costs for the year were approximately RMB24.6
million (2018: RMB30.7 million). During the year, the Group
continued to reinforce the training to its staff by providing
training and study opportunities for management staff and
professional technicians. In addition, the Group has provided a
timely update to all staff about the latest government policies of
the industry to continuously enhance the professional standard
and quality of the staff.

Meanwhile, the Group has provided competitive remuneration
for staff which encourages them to commit themselves and
serve customers wholeheartedly. The Group operates share
option scheme for the purpose to provide incentives and
rewards to eligible directors and employees of the Group
who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations.
The Group granted 120 million share options to its eligible
employees during the financial year as announced on 7 May
2019. The remuneration payable to the senior management of
the Company (excluding Directors and Chief Executive Officer)
for the year ended 31 December 2019 was determined with
reference to their position, responsibilities and experience and
prevailing market condition.
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FUTURE PROSPECTS

The China economy is presently facing strong headwinds and
decelerating. China’s trading partners and investors are closely
watching the health of the world’s second-largest economy
as the year-long trade war between U.S. and China takes a
heavier toll on businesses and investment, fueling worries of a
global recession. Embroiled in the trade wars with U.S., China
is saving stimulus for the Trade War Winter as China yuan
weakens. Chinese policy makers are holding back from rolling
out the big guns of monetary stimulus, keeping options in
reserve as the trade standoff with the U.S. risks morphing into
a global currency war. The People’s Bank of China called for a
“rational” view on current headwinds in August 2019, signaling
that the targeted approach to shoring up output would continue.
Retail sales, investment and credit data are expected to confirm
the ongoing slowdown in the world’s second-largest economy.
China officials are sticking to a cautious monetary strategy
even after tensions with the U.S. worsened, with U.S. President
Donald Trump’s accusations of Beijing’s currency manipulation
adding sensitivity to any stimulus measures that would depress
the China yuan. Further, the Trump’s own continuous threat of
tariff increase on billions dollars’ worth of Chinese goods since
September 2019, coupled with the anti-government activism in
Hong Kong, has been sending global markets into a frenzy that
is unlikely to calm down any time soon.

In regard to the lending business segment of the Cybernaut
Group, TCL will continue granting mortgage loan to clients in
a prudent manner, so the lending subsidiary business can well
meet the needs for the Hong Kong property market and the
environmental changes accordingly. TCL will adopt tight credit
policy to grant mortgage loans or for loan renewals, and might
restrict loans only to customers of good and healthy reference
check.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

L %2 mpsEmeRERAR

R

B B A R SRV R AR R o
BXZBHNREELTAIERE -
REFROEFENR - BAPXZMRE
—ENESREERNREER T NEN
% MBI THEREBERRNEES -
AEXBENEZE  BETBRARSBE
5 PEEREZIBZFTEEHRMTE -
HRPEEZBRETREK 52K
BT - REBERFIEE TR AR
BEOERERSER  REFHEBEE - PH
ARBITR - NF\AFEHERD
SRR R BE ERARKEHLD
ERERGEETE - B THE  RE
REESBREEEERE AR BEBER
B - I EEXBENERRBERLZ
% TEEECBRRRIEENEER
B ERESENE  BEIEHEEILLRD
PERIBALIE N T BHEMEEEARKER
HYRIIE RO BURME - tesh - B =F— N,
FRNANK - HEAEREREZHEER
TEETHTEER EHEBEY - M ERE
MRBFES  BSREEHRTSBRAR
- AARRBERRFEE TR

HRBERAEEENREEBEF - TCLE
EEFHEROATPRHEARER - KtmE
FAEF Al AR iR R B R B AT HH
FHRAMBEHRIREL - TCLERIE 4B
EERRETERAERKEREDR - XA
REHERIRESERENEFPRHEE

N
NI



Management Discussion and Analysis

Our subsidiary engaged in eCommerce business, has majority
of business specialized on B2C retailing through the platforms
including eBay and Amazon will increase its product-mix and
expand market developments. Besides, selling through other
different marketplaces in different countries, for examples:
Rakuten in Germany. cDiscount, Fnac and Darty in France,
and ePrice in ltaly; VTZero in eCommerce can diversify market
risks and expand with more business, as these European
marketplaces are growing rapidly and are mostly welcomed by
their local people. The eCommerce industry of today is highly
competitive, online retailers are moving beyond competing on
price to competing also on logistics. To enhance greater market
penetration overseas, the subsidiary management has also
liaise with different local partners through the existing logistic
network, and by selling more new eCommerce products to
overseas consumers.

In 2019, the online education markets in China was more vibrant
and growing competitively. In July 2019, Chinese insurance
giant Ping An Insurance (Ping An) announced plans to expand
into the “smart education” sector with an investment in a
leading online education platform valued at over USD$1 billion;
i.e. the iTutorGroup — an online education platform founded in
1998 that provides language and mathematics tutorials via the
internet. Ping An also said that it would work with iTutorGroup,
the online education unicorn in China, on the application of
artificial intelligence (Al) technology to the education sector
and for the development of the online education. Realized the
current market situations and to face the keen competition, our
subsidiary management would engage highly qualified education
expertise and supportive staff through the VIE arrangements to
provide high-quality updated education packages and online
platform for customers, and closely monitor the trends and
market needs of the online education industry in China.
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Money lending business

On 4 December 2019, an International Monetary Fund (IMF)
Staff Mission notes that Hong Kong’s economic activity
weakened significantly in 2019 and fell into a technical
recession in the third quarter. Hong Kong'’s real Gross Domestic
Product is expected to contract by 1.2 per cent in 2019
and return to positive growth of 1 per cent in 2020, led by a
recovery of private consumption. Near- and medium-term risks
to the growth outlook are tilted to the downside against the
backdrop of US-China trade tensions and the sociopolitical
situation in Hong Kong, but the development of the Greater Bay
Area is expected to improve growth prospects in the medium
term. Our money lending subsidiary, TCL will continue its tight
credit policy when granting mortgage loans or loan renewals,
and will restrict only to customers of good reference check or
in referral business with strategic partnership via sub-mortgage
arrangements, so as to maintain steady business in an effective
manner. TCL will continue to adopt its existing lending policy
with prudent and flexible business strategies to meet the
environmental changes and property market trends in Hong
Kong accordingly. It will focus and continue to seize business
opportunities on the increasing demand for first-mortgage
property loans with interest income as its revenue source from
its clients.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

L5 mpsEmeRERAR

HER%

R-ZF-NAF+-_ANA  BREEES
MBIMP TIEEEPOIES - BAKEA
R T NFRERE  YRE=FE
PRARMME TR - HHMEBEEARMAE
BEBNR _ZT-NFWRE1.2% IR
Z_TFEBAHEERESE N LE TR
R1% - ERXEBEHHRERLRBBEHLS
BURRENERT EHHRRMNSFHE
TiTEER - HEEHABENERGRETS
HIE AR - HPAIWREN B2 RTCLE
REHRIBERAERERRFEBEWZE
SRR THERLERIFNEPELE
REEFREN  ERZIRRIBREE - &
BB HETENER  UARN T #
REBRTE - TOLKEERAERBEE
BEAREER AEREMEEERE - A
AEBEBREBELMETSBLIELH
B ARFTMEENERANBRAZE
RIBZIBMEERFBRIB NN - (ERK
BEZEFPHBARR -



Management Discussion and Analysis

ECommerce business

The growth momentum for the Group’s ECommerce business
continued in 2020 as a result of the increased “home” time
and less desire of the people to go to crowded areas under
the COVID-19 outbreak. The outbreak is an unprecedented
challenge which is still difficult for everyone to estimate how long
it will remain, but the Group observes that the consumers now
have a higher tendency and frequency to shop for their needs
online than before. The Group expects some of our customers
may change their shopping behavior from offline to online. Our
subsidiary engaged in eCommerce business, has specialized on
B2C retailing through the platforms including Amazon and eBay
will increase its product-mix and expand market developments.
Besides, in regard to B2B segment sales, it has been selling
second-handed mobile phones and accessories to Europe while
the sales turnover in B2B is growing month by month. The
eCommerce subsidiary management has found the turnover
from the B2B sales fruitful and will continue with current
strategy to seek greater market penetration overseas with more
involvement from different local partners through the existing
logistic network. Besides, the subsidiary has also enhanced
brand awareness in its self-hosted websites on search engine
marketing and after sales services. It has expanded more
eCommerce business transactions through sales channels
and platforms like Rakuten, Newegg, Walmart and Cdiscount
marketplaces etc., with an aim at higher business growth in
the non-English speaking markets. The subsidiary management
realizes that the easy access to its own website and the
eCommerce sales platforms can enable customers to choose
their products conveniently worldwide, and adopting its current
marketing strategy will continue to generate increasing revenue
return for the Group.
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Internet online education business

Online education industry in China has grown rapidly in the past
few years, but research analysts believe that more business
opportunities will surface as technology advances and capital
pours in. To achieve this, we will continue to invest more
in recruiting, retaining, training and promoting high calibre
teaching, course research and marketing staff. Along with the
development of 5G technology and increasing penetration in the
online education market, the competition in the online education
industry is intensifying. We will continue to optimise our product
portfolio in response to the fast-changing industry landscape
and customers’ booming demand for new technology and new
content.

China will become one of the world’s most vibrant online
education markets in future, as there are growing household
spending power, an undersupply of education resources, and
the introduction of the two-child policy in the country. Through
working for the online learning service, the teachers can publish
schedules online based on their own time arrangements and
teach classes from wherever there is internet accessible. The
Group will allocate more resources from its pool of education
experts in China to manage the subsidiary business growth and
development of the online education in 2020.

Looking forward, the global economy is unstable and the
spread of COVID-19 worldwide, so the Group will allocate
sufficient resources for market expansion in the profit-generating
subsidiaries, namely the money lending business, eCommerce
business and the online education business. Moreover, the
management is still prudently optimistic about the operating
environments of these profitable segment business and will
devote more corporate efforts to restructure the underperformed
or phase out the non-contributing ones.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CODE ON
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company had complied with all the code provisions (the
“Code Provisions”) as set out in the Corporate Governance
Code and Corporate Governance Report, contained in Appendix
14 to the Listing Rules governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) during the year ended 31 December 2019, except
for Code Provision A.6.7 in respect of the attendance of non-
executive directors and independent non-executive directors in
the general meetings.

According to Code Provision A.6.7, non-executive directors
and independent non-executive directors should attend general
meetings and develop a balanced understanding of the views
of shareholders. Due to other business engagements, two
non-executive Directors and one independent non-executive
Director could not attend the 2018 annual general meeting
held on 6 June 2019. However, at the 2018 annual general
meeting, there were executive and independent non-executive
Directors present to enable the Board to develop a balanced
understanding of the views of the shareholders of the Company.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BERENWED T

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS
OF LISTED ISSUERS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct (the “Code of
Conduct”) regarding Directors’ securities transactions on terms
no less exacting than the required standard set out in the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
contained in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. Having made
specific enquiry of all Directors, all Directors have confirmed
that they had complied with the required standard set out in the
Code of Conduct during the year ended 31 December 2019.

Relevant employees who are likely to be in possession of
unpublished price-sensitive information regarding the Group are
subject to compliance with the Company’s Code for Securities
Transactions by Relevant Employees (the “RE Code”) in respect
of their dealings in the securities of the Company. The terms
of the RE Code are likewise no less exacting than the required
standards set out in the Model Code.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Board (the “Audit Committee”)
comprises three independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Tong Yiu On (Committee Chairman), Mr. Li Yik Sang and Mr.
Cao Ke.

The Audit Committee has reviewed together with the
management and the external auditor the accounting principles
and practices adopted by the Group and has also reviewed
auditing, risk management and internal control and financial
reporting matters, including the review of the annual results for
the year ended 31 December 2019.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Following the completion of the auditing process, the Company will
issue further announcement(s) in relation to (i) the audited results for
the year ended 31 December 2019 as agreed by the Company’s
auditors and the material differences (if any) as compared with
the unaudited annual results contained herein, (i) the confirmed
proposed final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2019, (iii)
the payment date of such proposed final dividend, (iv) the proposed
date on which the forthcoming annual general meeting will be held,
(v) the period during which the register of members holding ordinary
shares will be closed in order to ascertain shareholders’ eligibility to
attend and vote at the said meeting, and (vi) the period during which
the registers of members holding ordinary shares and convertible
preference shares of the Company respectively will be closed
in order to determine entitlement to receive the proposed final
dividend. In addition, the Company will issue further announcement
as and when necessary if there are other material development in
the completion of the auditing process.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed any of its listed securities for the year ended 31
December 2019.
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Corporate Governance Report
LEEARRE

The Board hereby presents this Corporate Governance Report
in the Group’s annual report for the year ended 31 December
2019.

The Board is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance and endeavours in following the code
provisions (“Code Provisions”) as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (“CG Code”) and Corporate Governance
Report, contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules (“Listing Rules”)
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”). The Board considers
such commitment is essential for the growth of the Group and
for maximising the interest of the shareholders (“Shareholders”)
of the Company. The Company regularly reviews its corporate
governance practices to ensure that the latest development in
corporate governance can be followed and observed.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

During the financial year under review, the Company had
complied with all the code provisions (the “Code Provisions”)
as set out in the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate
Governance Report, contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) during
the year ended 31 December 2019, except for Code Provision
A.6.7 in respect of the attendance of independent non-
executive directors and other non-executive directors in the
general meetings.

According to Code Provision A.6.7, non-executive directors
and independent non-executive directors should attend general
meetings and develop a balanced understanding of the views
of shareholders. Due to other business engagements, two non-
executive directors and one independent non-executive director
could not attend the 2018 annual general meeting held on 6
June 2019. However, at the 2018 annual general meeting, there
were executive and independent non-executive directors present
to enable the Board to develop a balanced understanding of the
views of the shareholders of the Company.
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Corporate Governance Report

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company adopted on 7 June 2010 its securities dealing
code (“Code”) regarding the dealings of securities of the
Company by the Directors and senior management of the
Group, on terms no less exacting than the required standard
under the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules.

The Company, having made specific enquiry of all Directors
and senior management of the Group, all the Directors and
senior management of the Group have confirmed that they
have complied with the required standard as set out in the
Code and Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules regarding securities
transactions by Directors and senior management of the Group
throughout the financial year ended 31 December 2019.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of
the Company and oversees the Group’s overall strategic
policies. The management is delegated with the authority and
responsibility by the Board for the management of the Group.

During the year, the Board composed of five executive Directors
namely Mr. Zhu Min, Dr. Chen Huabei, Mr. Lu Yongchao, Mr. Sin
Kwok Wai Ronald and Mr. Xu Yejun (resigned on 10 October
2019); two non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chow Chi Wa
and Ms. Yip Sum Yu; and three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Tong Yiu On, Mr. Li Yik Sang and Mr. Cao
Ke and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company, Dr. Wang
Matthew Yang. The biographical details of the Directors and the
Chief Executive Officers are set out under “Directors and senior
management” on pages 109 to 119 of this annual report of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2019.
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Corporate Governance Report
LEEARRE

Pursuant to the articles of association of the Company, Mr. Zhu
Min (appointed as an executive Director on 16 February 2017),
Dr. Chen Huabei (appointed as an executive Director on 11
June 2019) and Ms. Yip Sum Yu (resigned as non-executive
Director and appointed as an executive Director on 13 March
2020) shall retire at the 2019 general meeting of the Company
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

The non-executive Directors were appointed for a term of
one year, renewable automatically every year and eligible for
re-election at the annual general meeting of the Company.

The Board meets regularly to review and determine the
corporate strategies and overall strategic policies. Each of the
members of the Board has full access to relevant information
at the meetings. During the financial year ended 31 December
2019, the Board convened four regular meetings at which,
among other things, the following activities were conducted at
such regular meetings:

(1) approved the annual results and annual report for the
financial year ended 31 December 2018 and matters to be
considered at the annual general meeting of the Company;

(2) approved the interim results and interim report for the six
months ended 30 June 2019;

(3) reviewed and approved corporate strategies of the Group
for the financial year ending 31 December 2020; and

(4) reviewed the performance and financial position of the
Group.
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Corporate Governance Report

The Board is also responsible for determining the Company’s
corporate governance policies and performing corporate
governance duties set out under the CG Code. Its corporate
governance duties include, among others, (i) to develop and
review the Company’s policies and practices on corporate
governance; (ii) to review and monitor the training and
continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management; (iii) to review and monitor the Company’s
policies and practices on compliance with legal or regulatory
requirements; (iv) to develop, review and monitor the code of
conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees
and Directors; and (v) to review the Company’s disclosure in its
corporate governance report.

Apart from the regular board meetings, the Board met on other
occasions when a board-level decision on a particular matter
was required.

Details of the Directors’ attendance records at the board
meetings and general meeting during the financial year ended
31 December 2019 are as follows:

Board General
Directors Meetings Meeting
Meetings attended/held
Executive Directors
Mr. Zhu Min 14/16 /1
Dr. Chen Huabei 9/16 1/1
Mr. Lu Yongchao 16/16 11
Mr. Sin Kwok Wai Ronald' 16/16 1/1
Mr. Xu Yejun? 10/16 /1
Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chow Chi Wa 14/16 /1
Ms. Yip Sum Yu 15/16 /1
Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Tong Yiu On 14/16 11
Mr. Li Yik Sang 14/16 11
Mr. Cao Ke 14/16 -/1

! Resigned on 13 March 2020
s Resigned on 10 October 2019
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Whilst the Board as a whole is to determine the corporate
strategies and overall strategy policies, the executive Directors
and senior management of the Company, as delegated by
the Board, are responsible for implementing the determined
strategies and policies and the day-to-day management of the
Group’s business.

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Directors and
senior management” of this annual report, there is no other
relationship (whether financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationships) among the members of the Board.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors a written confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers all the independent non-executive Directors to be
independent.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

Pursuant to Code Provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all directors
should participate in continuous professional development
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to
ensure that their contribution to the board remains informed
and relevant. The Company shall be responsible for arranging
suitable training for all Directors at the Company’s expense.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Directors
participated in the following trainings:
Directors Type of training

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhu Min A B

Dr. Chen Huabei A B

Mr. Lu Yongchao A B

Mr. Sin Kwok Wai Ronald’ A B

Mr. Xu Yejun? B
Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Corporate Governance Report

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chow Chi Wa A B
Ms. Yip Sum Yu B

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Tong Yiu On A B
Mr. Li Yik Sang A, B
Mr. Cao Ke B

U Resigned on 13 March 2020
s Resigned on 10 October 2019

A:  attending seminars and/or conferences and/or forums

B:  reading newspapers, journals, Company newsletters and
updates relating to the economy, general business, [T,
eCommerce and steel industry or Directors’ duties and
responsibilities, etc.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

During the year under review, the Board adopted a board
diversity policy setting out the approach to achieve diversity
on the Board. The Company considered diversity of Board
members can be achieved through consideration of a number
of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, professional experience, skills
and knowledge. All Board appointments will be based on
meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against objective
criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the
Board.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, professional experience, skills and
knowledge. The ultimate decision will be made upon the merits
and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee of the Company (“Nomination
Committee”) is currently consisted of four members, comprising
three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Tong
Yiu On (Chairman), Mr. Li Yik Sang and Mr. Cao Ke and one
executive Director, Mr. Lu Yongchao. It was established by the
Board with effect from 27 March 2012 and its duties are clearly
defined in its terms of reference which have been prepared and
adopted according to the CG Code.

The Nomination Committee held two meetings during the year
under review and conducted the following activities:

(1) reviewed the structure, size and diversity of the Board;
and

(2) reviewed the retirement of Directors by rotation and the
re-appointment of the retiring Directors at the 2018 annual
general meeting of the Company.

Details of attendance of each member of the Nomination
Committee during the financial year ended 31 December 2019
are as follows:

Attendance
Executive Director
Mr. Lu Yongchao 2/2
Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Tong Yiu On (Chairman) 2/2
Mr. Li Yik Sang 2/2
Mr. Cao Ke 2/2
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee of the Company (“Remuneration
Committee”) currently comprises four members, including
three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Cao

e (Chairman), Mr. Tong Yiu On and Mr. Li Yik Sang, and
one executive Director, Mr. Lu Yongchao. The Remuneration
Committee was established by the Board on 7 June 2010 and
its duties are clearly defined in its written terms of reference
which have been prepared and adopted according to the Code
Provisions.

Generally, the Remuneration Committee meets annually except
to special situations, to review the remuneration policies
and packages for Directors and senior management of the
Company and to make recommendations to the Board on such
remuneration policies and packages. No Director takes part in
any discussions and decisions about his own remuneration.

Details of attendance of each member of the Remuneration
Committee during the financial year ended 31 December 2019
are as follows:

Attendance
Executive Director
Mr. Lu Yongchao 2/2
Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Cao Ke (Chairman) 2/2
Mr. Tong Yiu On 2/2
Mr. Li Yik Sang 2/2
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During the financial year ended 31 December 2019, the
Remuneration Committee had convened two meetings with
full attendance by its members and conducted the following
activities:

(1) reviewed and approved the remuneration packages of the
Directors and senior management of the Company; and

(2) reviewed the terms of the service contracts of all the
executive Directors by reference to their performance.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (“Audit Committee”)
currently comprises three independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Tong Yiu On (Chairman), Mr. Li Yik Sang and Mr.
Cao Ke. The Audit Committee was established by the Board
on 7 June 2010 and its duties are clearly defined in its written
terms of reference which have been prepared and adopted
according to the Code Provisions.

The Audit Committee provides an important link between the
Board and the Company’s auditor in matters coming within
the scope of the Group’s audit. It also reviews the annual and
interim reports of the Company prior to their approval by the
Board, the effectiveness of the external and internal audit and of
internal controls and risk evaluation.

During the financial year under review, the Audit Committee has
convened two meetings and conducted the following activities:

(1)  reviewed the annual and interim reports of the Company;

(2) reviewed the report of internal audit department, internal
controls system and financial matters of the Group in
pursuance of the written terms of reference;

(8) reviewed the audit plans and findings of the external
auditor of the Company; and

(4) made recommendation to the Board on the appointment
of the external auditor.
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Corporate Governance Report

Details of attendance of each member of the Audit Committee
during the financial year ended 31 December 2019 are as
follows:

Attendance
Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Tong Yiu On (Chairman) 2/2
Mr. Li Yik Sang 2/2
Mr. Cao Ke 2/2

There was no disagreement between the Board’s and the Audit
Committee’s view on the selection, appointment of the external
auditor.

AUDITOR’'S REMUNERATION

During the financial year ended 31 December 2019, the nature
of the audit and non-audit services provided by Elite Partners
CPA Limited, the auditor of the Company, and the relevant fees
paid/payable by the Company for such services are as follows:

Services rendered Fee paid/payable

HK$
Annual audit 900,000
Interim review 320,000

TERERBE

i
BIUFPTES
BERZRE (F/E) 2/2
TIE A 2/2
E 2/2

EEQREBERREBeMEINERBEN ZEE
RERELIEZR DU

B ENE &
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FE  ARARBEATERSMER
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RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements for each financial period which gives a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group. In preparing the
financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December
2019, the Directors have selected appropriate accounting
policies and applied them consistently, and have prepared the
financial statements on a historical cost basis.

The statement of the external auditor about their reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements are set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 141 to 151 of this
annual report of the Company.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

The Board is overall responsible for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving
the Group’s strategic objectives, and ensuring that the Group
established and maintained appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems.

The Audit Committee reviews the risk management and internal
controls that are significant to the Group on an on-going basis.
The Audit Committee would consider the adequacy of resource,
qualifications and experience and training of staff and external
advisor of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting function.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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The management of the Group is responsible for designing,
maintaining, implementing and monitoring of the risk
management and internal control system to ensure adequate
control in place to safeguard the Group’s assets and
stakeholder’s interest.

The Group has established risk management procedures to
address and handle the all significant risks associate with the
business of the Group. The Board would perform annual review
on any significant change of the business environment and
establish procedures to response the risks result from significant
change of business environment. The risk management and
internal control systems are designed to mitigate the potential
losses of the business.

The management would identify the risks associate with
the business of the Group by considering both internal and
external factors and events which include political, economic,
technology, environmental, social and staff. Each of risks has
been assessed and prioritized based on their relevant impact
and occurrence opportunity. The relevant risk management
strategy would be applied to each type of risks according to the
assessment results, type of risk management strategy has been
listed as follow:

S Risk retention and reduction: accept the impact of risk or
undertake actions by the Group to reduce the impact of
the risks;

- Risk avoidance: change business process or objective so
as to avoid the risk;

= Risk sharing and diversification: diversify the effect of the
risk or allocate to different location or product or market;
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- Risk transfer: transfer ownership and liability to a third
party The internal control systems are designed and
implemented to reduce the risks associated with the
business accepted by the Group and minimise the adverse
impact results from the risks. The risk management and
internal control system are design to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives,
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group has engaged
an external advisory firm to undertake the internal audit
function to ensure the effectiveness and efficiency of the risk
management and internal control system of the Group. There is
no significant deficiency and weakness on the internal control
system has been identified by the external advisory firm for the
year ended 31 December 2019.

The Board considered that, for the year ended 31 December
2019, the risk management and internal control system
and procedures of the Group, covering all material controls
including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management functions were reasonably effective and adequate.

With respect to the procedures and internal controls for the
handling and dissemination of inside information, the Group has
internal procedures which strictly prohibit unauthorised use of
inside information and has communicated to all staff.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for shareholders to convene an extraordinary
general meeting

The following procedures for the Shareholders to convene
an extraordinary general meeting (“EGM”) of the Company
are prepared in accordance with Article 64 of the articles of
association of the Company:

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

L2 mpsEmeRERAR

- EARER:  SHERLKECEBZRE
£ o RATME A BPIE B R AR
gD EAEE R ZHEF AR
MR - WERS R RS TFE
g RitRREERAIES RS
DREERMIEBERAREERERH
FHER - EEREHSEMIFBY
B ERFE - B LE IR B KA SRR =%
/K-

HE_Z-NF+_A=+—HILEE"
RE B REFBINEBE AR R BTN BB 1% B
B MRASBERRERERAIIZES RS
A B R BE  INESERARIERE - &
EZE-NFF+ZA=+—HLEFE R
TR RAW T FHEERNRBETE -

EXERA HE_T-NFI+ZA=+
—HLIEFE  BRERE  KERARITH
AR R ERBEMEERIEHNANEE
R ERERANFEFR RS RIETFBEIESR
MEFED

FAR R IE I 3 AR OH B RAE P AR RRES
B - ARBERANBIEFERERER
BEANEHEE  YEFRAMAEET -
R REF

BRREMRRENAGZERF
TIRREBAARABRRENAE ([

RERNAE]) 2BFTIREBEARR AR
EiRMRIE6AIRAARE



Corporate Governance Report

one or more Shareholders (“Requisitionist(s)”) holding, at
the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one
tenth of the paid up capital of the Company having the
right of voting at general meetings shall have the right,
by written notice, to require an EGM to be called by the
Directors for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition.

Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or
the company secretary of the Company at the following:

Principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong

Address: Unit 1002, Capital Centre,
151 Gloucester Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong
Email: ir@cybernaut.com.hk
Attention: the Board of Directors/Company Secretary

Registered office of the Company

Address: Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box
2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands

Attention: the Board of Directors/Company Secretary

The EGM shall be held within two months after the deposit
of such requisition.

If the Directors fail to proceed to convene such meeting
within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit, the
Requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the
same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred
by the Requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the
Directors shall be reimbursed to the Requisitionist(s) by
the Company.
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Procedures for shareholders to direct enquiries to the Company

For matters in relation to the Board, the Shareholders can
contact the Company at the following:

Address: Unit 1002, Capital Centre, 151 Gloucester Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong

Email: ir@cybernaut.com.hk

Tel: (852) 3549 6353

Fax: (852) 3549 6354

Attention: the Board of Directors/Company Secretary

For share registration related matters, such as share transfer
and registration, change of name or address, loss of share
certificates or dividend warrants, the registered Shareholders
can contact:

Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer office

Tricor Investor Services Limited

Address: Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Hong Kong
Email: is-enquiries@hk.tricorglobal.com
Tel: (852) 2980 1333
Fax: (852) 2810 8185
Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Procedures for shareholders to put forward proposals at
shareholders’ meetings

To put forward proposals at a general meeting of the Company,
a Shareholder should lodge a written notice of his/her proposal
(“Proposal”) with his/her detailed contact information at the
Company’s principal place of business at Unit 1002, Capital
Centre, 151 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The request will be verified with the Company’s branch share
registrars in Hong Kong and upon their confirmation that the
request is proper and in order, the board of directors of the
Company will be asked to include the Proposal in the agenda
for the general meeting.

The notice period to be given to all the Shareholders for
consideration of the Proposal raised by the Shareholder
concerned at the general meeting varies according to the nature
of the Proposal as follows:

(@) Notice in writing of not less than 14 clear days and not
less than 10 clear business days if the Proposal requires
approval by way of an ordinary resolution of the Company
in an extraordinary general meeting.

(b)  Notice in writing of not less than 21 clear days and not
less than 10 clear business days if the Proposal requires
approval by way of a special resolution of the Company in
an extraordinary general meeting of the Company.

(c) Notice in writing of not less than 21 clear days and not
less than 20 clear business days if the Proposal requires
approval by way of a special resolution or an ordinary
resolution of the Company in an annual general meeting of
the Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

There was no significant change in the Company’s constitutional
documents during the year ended 31 December 2019.
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RE  HERERB®RE

INTRODUCTION

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited (the
“Company”, together with its subsidiaries, “the Group”) adopts
a diversified business development strategy and has established
its firm footing in four business segments, namely (i) money
lending business, (i) eCommerce business, (iii) manufacture
and sales of paper converting equipment and (iv) internet online
education services.

This Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the “ESG
Report”) summarises the environmental, social and governance
(“ESG”) initiatives, plans and performances of the Group and
demonstrates its commitment to sustainable development.

The ESG Governance Structure

The Group has established the ESG working taskforce (the
“Taskforce”). The Taskforce composes of full-time staff from
relevant departments and is responsible for collecting relevant
information on the ESG aspects for compiling the ESG Report.
The Taskforce periodically reports to the Board of Directors (the
“Board”), assists in identifying and assessing the Group’s ESG
risks and the effectiveness of the internal control mechanisms.
The Taskforce also examines and evaluates the Group’s
performances in different aspects, such as environmental
protection, labour practices, and other ESG aspects. The
Board sets the general direction for the Group’s ESG strategies,
ensuring the effectiveness of risks management and internal
control mechanisms.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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SCOPE OF REPORTING

The scope of disclosure differs in Aspect A — Environmental
and Aspect B — Social in this Report. Aspect A — Environmental
covers the money lending and eCommerce business segments,
whereas Aspect B — Social covers all business segments of the
Group.

The scope of disclosure, and hence the environmental and
social data, of this Report differ from the last Report. This is
due to the disposal of the manufacture and sale of advanced
steel flow control products business segment in late 2018,
the completion was settled and announced on 12 April 2019.
Environmental and social data of this current Report do not
cover the said disposed segment.

The Group considers the reporting scope to be adequate
for this financial year for two reasons, i) these two business
segments generate the largest percentage of revenue for the
Group and ii) the environmental data collection systems of these
two business segments are more developed and thus better
documented. The Group will extend the scope of disclosures

when and where applicable.

The ESG key performance indicator (“KPI”) data is gathered
and includes companies and subsidiaries that are under the
Group’s direct operational control. The KPIs are shown in the
Report and are supplemented by explanatory notes to establish
benchmarks.
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RE  HERERB®RE

REPORTING FRAMEWORK

The ESG Report has been prepared in accordance with the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the
“ESG Reporting Guide”) as set out in Appendix 27 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Information relating to the Group’s corporate governance
practices can be found in the Corporate Governance Report on
p.60 to p.75 of the Annual Report 2019.

REPORTING PERIOD

The ESG Report specifies the ESG activities, challenges and
measures taken by the Group during the financial year ended
31 December 2019 (“FY2019”).

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Group values its stakeholders and their feedback regarding
its businesses and ESG aspects. The Group maintains close
communication with our key stakeholders, including but not
limited to, the government and its regulatory authorities,
shareholders and investors, employees, customers, suppliers,
banks, media and the public.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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RIE HERERKRS

In formulating operational and ESG strategies, the Group REELERIRIR - g REARKE
takes stakeholders’ expectations into consideration by utilising REBEFNBTIZTEN2EFRARER
diversified engagement methods and communication channels, RERERBHERE

as shown below.

Stakeholders Communication Channel Expectations
BinE wERE i
Government and e Routine reports e Compliance with local laws and

regulatory authorities Written or electronic correspondences regulations

e Stability in business operations

pilii

BT I B o ER®E o ETEMEREKER
o EMIAETFEA o FBRERTE
Shareholders and e General meeting and other shareholder e Sustainable profitability
investors meetings e Shareholder return
e Annual and interim reports e Corporate governance
e Announcements and circulars e |egal compliance
* Investor meetings
e Company website
BREEKREE o BREAGRHMKREE o TAIRERMEEN
FHREH RS B EE ke
N3 rEER
REEGR EEAR
DAHB

Training, seminars and briefing
Performance reviews

Intranet

Regular general meetings
Bl g kiRe
BMER

P Bt 4

THREARE

Remuneration, compensation and
benefits

Fair and competitive employment
Safe working environment

e FRER
NYRAHEFNOER

L2 M TERR
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Stakeholders Communication Channel

& WBRE

Customers e Customer service hotline and email
P o EPRBEALREL

Suppliers e Suppliers’ satisfactory assessment

e Face-to-face meetings
g o BEEREEFE
. EHEEH

Banks e Post-loan tracking
¢ On-site visits
R17 o EfgiBR

o BGHA

Media and the public e ESG Report

e Company website

e Regular reports and announcements
HBRARAL o RE HERERERS

o A

o EHMENASE

The Group aims to actively listen to and collaborate with its
stakeholders to ensure that their opinions can be voiced out
through a proper communication channel. In the long run,
the stakeholders’ contribution will aid the Group in improving
potentially overlooked ESG performances.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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e Transparency of ESG issues and financial
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

RiR - HERERHRE

EEREFE

The Group attaches great importance to the opinions of REBEESESHEBNENER - Bt - 8
its diverse group of stakeholders. Therefore, the respective EAEEZEHENEREEERESY
management and employees responsible for key functions of E2HRE  HEREIMENEZAR
the Group have been asked to participate in the materiality A RER - MR EEREG ELE - &
assessment and the preparation of the ESG Report. They FIBARIRE HehEAFEMEEER
have assisted the Group in reviewing its operations, identified MFhENEENE -

key ESG issues and its importance to its businesses and

stakeholders.

The following table summarises the Group’s material ESG TREARNEBMHENIRE  HEREAR
issues, said material issues will be discussed in detail in the EE BARESSHRMHMEMREKR

Report:

The ESG Reporting Guide
RiR  ERELREES

A. Environmental

B

A1. Emissions

7197/

A2. Use of Resources

BERER

A3. The Environment and Natural Resources
RERRRER

N

Material ESG Aspects of the Group
FRERE HEREIEESS

Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”) Emissions
RERE AERE] HK

Waste Management

BERYER

Energy Efficiency

BRI

Water Consumption

KRB

Indoor Air Quality

ENEREXR
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The ESG Reporting Guide
BRE gRELHEES

B. Social
it &

B1. Employment
&R

B2. Health and Safety
gz

B3. Development and Training
BE RIE

B4. Labour Standards
S TER

B5. Supply Chain Management
HEEER

B6. Product Responsibility
EmAE

B7. Anti-corruption
k&5

B8. Community Investment
HEIRE

For FY2019, the Group confirmed that it has established M- —NPF - AEBBERERIRE -
HEREREERIABENERNEIRR
REAEBIEH R WHERMEER

BRE LB REARREREIINEX -

appropriate and effective management policies and internal
control systems for ESG issues and confirmed that the
disclosed contents were in compliance with the requirements of

the ESG Reporting Guide.

CONTACT US

The Group welcomes stakeholders to provide their opinions
and suggestions. You can provide valuable advice in respect
of the ESG report or the Group’s performances in sustainable
development by emailing to: ir@cybernaut.com.hk

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Material ESG Aspects of the Group
FREEE UEREIEEDH

Recruitment, Promotion and Remuneration
I BTEEH

Equal Opportunities, Diversity and Anti-discrimination
TE#E St ERER

Provision of Safe Environment to Employees
AESRELZZRE

Training and Development

Bl R E R

Prevention of Child and Forced Labour
BrIEE T Ro&HI%4 T

Fair and Open Tendering

NERRBE

Customer Privacy Protection

BB RE

Anti-money Laundering and Counter-financing of Terrorism

ok RREMM D FRE
Community Participation
HEan

BBk &
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL

Al.

Emissions

General Disclosure and KPIs

The Group realises that environmental protection
relies on both collective and individual efforts and is
also concerned whether its fund might be diverted to
enterprises that cause serious environmental impacts
or have little concern over sustainability. Thus,
the Group continuously improves existing policies
and incorporates new policies with the intention
of mitigating potential direct and indirect negative
environmental impacts arising from its business
operations and makes a conscious effort to avoid
diverting funds to non-environmentally conscious
enterprises.

The Group was not aware of any material
non-compliance with laws and regulations, including
but not limited to, Waste Disposal Ordinance of
Hong Kong, Environmental Protection Law of the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), Prevention
and Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid
Waste of the PRC, Water Pollution Prevention and
Control Law of the PRC and Prevention and Control
of Atmospheric Pollution of the PRC that would have
a significant impact on the Group during FY2019.
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The major types of emissions produced by the
Group’s operations include:

° Greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emissions (will be
covered in KPI A1.2)

° Non-hazardous wastes (will be covered in KPI
Al.4)

Air Emissions

Due to the Group’s business nature, the Group

considers that air emissions generated are of an

insignificant level.

GHG Emissions

The principal GHG emissions of the Group were

generated from purchased electricity (Scope 2) and

paper waste disposal and business air travels (Scope

3).

Scope 1 — Direct GHG emissions

The Group did not possess any company vehicles
that would consume fuel borne by the Group.

Scope 2 — Indirect GHG Emissions

Electricity consumption accounted for the largest
percentage of GHG emissions within the Group.
The Group has implemented measures to reduce
energy consumption, the measures are mentioned in
“Aspect A2 Use of Resources”.
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Scope 3 — Other Indirect GHG Emissions

Paper waste disposal and business air travels by
employees accounted for the other indirect GHG
emissions. Measures implemented to reduce disposal
and air travels can be found in “Aspect A2 Use of
Resources”.

Through the implementation of such measures, the
employees’ awareness of reducing GHG emissions
has been increased.

Discharges into Water and Land

Due to the Group’s business nature, the discharges
into land is insignificant. Similarly, there has not
been a significant and unreasonable amount of
water discharged in all the Group’s offices through
business activities.

Summary of GHG emissions performances:

Indicator’

EiR

Scope 1 — Direct GHG emissions
#HE - EEREREBHN
Scope 2 - Indirect GHG emissions
HE2 - FERAERBYM
e Purchased electricity
- BET
Scope 3 — Other indirect GHG emissions
#ES — AR EREBIENR
e Paper waste disposed at landfills
o MEIH[RREEANERIE
e Business air travels by employees
s EERARELIAE
Total GHG emissions
REREBENES
Total GHG emissions intensity?®
mE R e s

RiR - HERERHRE

& E3 — H A R BOR = RESBE
)4
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R AR BR IR I 1B B SR AL TR i 51
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Note:

GHG emissions data is presented in terms of carbon
dioxide equivalent and is based on, but not limited
to, “The Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A Corporate
Accounting and Reporting Standards” issued by the
World Resources Institute and the World Business
Council for Sustainable Development, “How to
prepare an ESG report — Appendix Il: Reporting
Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued by the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange, the “Global Warming Potential
Values” from the IPCC Fifth Assessment Report, 2015
(ARD), the latest published Baseline Emission Factors
for Regional Power Grids in China, Sustainability
Report 2019 published by the CLP Power Hong Kong
Limited and the HK Electric Investments Sustainability
Report 2019 published by the HK Electric.

tCO.e is defined as tonnes of carbon dioxide
equivalent.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had 127
full-time employees pertaining to the reported
segments, namely the money lending business and
eCommerce business segments. The data is also
used for calculating other environmental intensity
data.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Waste Management

Hazardous Waste Handling Method

Due to the Group’s business nature, no material
hazardous waste was generated by the Group during
FY2019.

Non-hazardous Waste Handling Method

The majority of non-hazardous waste generated by
the Group was general waste. Though there has not
been a disproportional amount of waste produced,
the Group places great effort in encouraging the
employees to reduce waste production by adopting
the following environmentally friendly initiatives.

Green measures include, but not limited to, the
following:

° Recycle used single-sided office paper;

° Double-sided printing or photocopying;

° Print electronic correspondences only when
necessary;

° Procure office paper with Forest Stewardship
Council Recycled Label; and

° Recycle office and electronic equipment after
their life cycle.

As a result, the employees’ awareness of waste
management has been increased through these
implementations.

Summary of major non-hazardous waste discharge
performance:
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A2.

HERERBE

Category of waste

ERmER

Office paper*

N R

Total non-hazardous waste

BREEZVEE

Total non-hazardous waste intensity
EREENMEERE

Note:

4. The consumption of 80gsm A4 paper was
approximately 255,000 sheets.

Use of Resources
General Disclosure and KPIs

The Group takes the initiative to introduce green
measures to reduce environmental impact arising
from its business operations. Measures on reducing
office paper waste have been mentioned in the
preceding “Waste Management”
initiatives include maintaining indoor temperature at

section. Other

a suitable level in the offices and promote the use of
teleconferences or video conferences to replace the
need for constant business air travels.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Energy Efficiency

The Group has implemented policies to better govern
the use of resources. However, given the Group’s
office-based business nature, the variety of green
measures applicable and possible to be implemented
into the Group’s policy is limited. Nevertheless, the
Group strives to further reduce energy consumption
by adopting energy-saving measures such as the
following:

° Switch off unnecessary lightings and electrical
appliances when not in use;

° Purchase energy-efficient equipment on
replacement of old equipment;

° Set all computer screens and printers to
standby mode after a certain period; and

° Post eye-catching stickers on energy efficiency
as a reminder for employees.

Unexpected high consumption of electricity will be
investigated to find out the root cause and take
preventive measures. Through these energy-saving
measures, employees’ awareness of energy
conservation has been increased.

Summary of energy consumption performance:

Type of energy
RERAEE

Electricity

B

Total Energy Consumption

B RAE

Total Energy Consumption Intensity

N =
BRERAERE

RiR - HERERHRE

BEIR 3 2

AEEEEBBEKNETHE
BERER - A - ERARE
BRMAEEEER  BAR
REBBRRRIEEERNR
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B “E-nMEF
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Water Consumption

Due to the Group’s business nature, the usage of
water only confined to water used by employees at
the office. The Group did not consider the amount of
water used to be disproportionate.

The Group actively promotes the importance of water
conservation to its employees. Apart from posting
banners around the office, the Group also regularly
inspects water taps to prevent leakage, installs dual
flush water cistern in toilets and water-saving thimble
in sinks in washrooms where possible. Through the
implementation of such water-saving measures, the
employees’ awareness of water conservation has
been increased.

Due to the Group’s business nature, the Group did
not encounter any problem in sourcing water that is
fit for purpose.

Summary of water consumption performance:

Indicator

ER

Water consumption®
FEK SO
Intensity

Note:
58 Water consumption data excluded that of the Hong

Kong headquarter, since the water consumption was
covered in the monthly management fee.
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Use of Packaging Material

Due to the Group’s business nature, the use of
packaging material is not considered as a material
ESG aspect to the Group.

The Environment and Natural Resources

General Disclosure and KPIs

Although the core business of the Group only has
a remote impact on the environment and natural
resources, the Group nevertheless commits itself
to good corporate social responsibility. The Group
regularly assesses the environmental risks of its
business, adopts preventive measures to reduce
risks and ensures compliance with relevant laws
and regulations. The Group will continue to seek
alternative eco-friendly resources and materials to
further reduce its environmental impact.

Indoor Air Quality

Poor indoor air quality poses both short- and
long-term threat to the employees. Therefore, the
Group remains vigilant in ensuring that the workplace
has good indoor air quality, indoor air quality is
regularly monitored and measured. During FY2019,
the indoor air quality of the Group’s offices has been
satisfactory. To improve indoor air quality, air purifying
equipment is used in offices and the air conditioning
system is cleaned periodically. These measures
resulted in achieving a satisfactory indoor air quality
level.
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B. SOCIAL

B1. Employment
General Disclosure

Human resources are the cornerstone of the
Group. The Group recognises that sustainable
growth of the Group relies on good employment
practices. Relevant employment policies are formally
documented in the Employee Handbook, covering
recruitment and remuneration, compensations,
working hours and rest periods, diversity and equal
opportunities, etc. The Group periodically reviews
these employment policies to ensure continuous
improvement of its employment standards and
competitiveness against companies of the similar
industry.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had about
211 full-time employees. Breakdown by gender,
age group, employment category and region are as
follows:

Employee Gender Distribution

EHNBSHER

| Male
44%
| Female
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Employee by Category
BRENESHER

Employee by Region
BRUESSHER

W Full-time
o

m Part-time
FE

During FY2019, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with employment-related
laws and regulations that would have a significant
impact on the Group, including but not limited to
Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong, Labour
Law of the PRC, Social Insurance Law of the PRC,
Company Law of the PRC and Labour Contract Law
of the PRC.

Recruitment, Promotion and Remuneration

Talent acquisition is vital to the sustainable
development of the Group’s business. The Group
is committed to promoting equal opportunities and
diversity in recruitment. Our employees are recruited
via a robust, transparent and fair recruitment process
based on their merits and their potential to fulfil the
Group’s current and future needs.

Remuneration and promotion are based on
job-related skills, qualifications and performances.
The Group will conduct annual performance and
salary review to determine any salary adjustments
and/or promotion opportunities. Remuneration
packages include variable bonuses, annual leave,
maternity leave, etc.
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Working Hours and Rest Periods

The Group has formulated policies in determining
the working hours and rest periods for employees
following local employment laws.

Compensation and Dismissal

The Group offers fair compensation packages for
employees based on employees’ personal capability
and benchmarks. In addition, the Group complies
with the Employees’ Compensation Ordinance of
Hong Kong and Labour Law of the PRC, which cover
employees who sustain personal injury by accident
or disease arising out of the course of employment.

Unreasonable dismissal under any circumstances is
prohibited, dismissal would be based on reasonable
and lawful grounds supported by internal policies.
Verbal or written warnings will be issued before
the official dismissal to provide the staff with an
opportunity for improvement. If no improvement is
noted, the Group shall then consider dismissal only
upon receiving dismissal instruction from the relevant
department.

Equal Opportunities, Diversity and Anti-
discrimination

Sustainable growth of the Group relies on the
diversity of talents. The Group is committed
to creating and maintaining an inclusive and
collaborative workplace culture. Furthermore, the
Group is dedicated to providing equal opportunities
in all aspects of employment and protecting its
employees from discrimination, physical or verbal
harassment based on race, religion, colour, gender,
physical or mental disability, age, place of origin,
marital status, and sexual orientation. The Group
does not tolerate sexual harassment or abuse in the
workplace in any form. The Group also strives to
ensure that complaints, grievances and concerns,
including whistle-blowing, are being dealt with
promptly, confidentially and impatrtially.
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Other Benefits and Welfare

The Group understands that good benefits and
welfare encourages retention and fosters a sense
of belonging, therefore the Group actively seeks
to introduce additional benefits and welfare where
possible.

Health and Safety

General Disclosure

Provision of Safe Environment to Employees

The Group places high priority in providing
employees with a safe and healthy working
environment. Local laws and regulations are being
complied with and occupational health and safety
guidelines recommended by the Labour Department
and Occupational Safety and Health Council have
been adopted.

During FY2019, the Group was not aware of
any material non-compliance with health and
safety-related laws and regulations that would have
a significant impact on the Group, including but
not limited to the Occupational Safety and Health
Ordinance of Hong Kong, Labour Law of the PRC,
Production Safety Law of the PRC, Prevention and
Treatment of Occupational Diseases of the PRC and
Fire Protection Law of the PRC.

As mentioned, applying relevant health and safety
measures are limited in an office-based business.
The Group stresses the importance of keeping the
corridor clean, classifying and recycling wastes
where possible, cleaning air-conditioning equipment
and carpet on a regular basis and participating in
regular health and safety seminars. Fire extinguishers
are strategically placed and fire exits are free from
obstruction.
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B3.

Development and Training

General Disclosure

Training and Development

Training and continuous development are
indispensable to the Group’s employees to keep
abreast of the rapidly changing trend in the industry.

Employees are encouraged to apply for internal and
external training courses to refresh prior knowledge.
The Group encourages employees to familiarise
themselves with newly updated guidelines, maintain
their competitiveness within the industry and ensure
legal compliance in dealing with sensitive matters
and data.

Internally, the Group holds work-related talks and
seminars, such as anti-corruption training and
anti-money laundering training. Training contents
are regularly updated to be in line with the industrial
standard, the Group’s business nature and provide
maximum benefit to the employees.
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B4. Labour Standards

General Disclosure

Prevention of Child and Forced Labour

Child and forced labour are strictly prohibited during
the recruitment process as defined by laws and
regulations. Personal data is collected during the
process to assist the selection of suitable candidates
and to verify candidates’ personal data and that
they have reached the minimum legal age to work
in respective jurisdictions. The Human Resources
Department also ensures identity documents are
thoroughly checked.

The Human Resources Department has established a
reporting mechanism to monitor ensure compliance
with all relevant laws and regulations. If violation
is involved, it will be dealt with in the light of the
circumstances promptly. Upon discovery of child
labour or forced labour, the said person will be
discharged immediately. The Board will discuss
preventive measures to avoid a similar event from
happening again.

During FY2019, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with child and forced
labour-related laws and regulations that would have
a significant impact on the Group, including but not
limited to Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong,
Labour Law of the PRC and Labour Contract Law of
the PRC.
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B5. Supply Chain Management

General Disclosure

Fair and Open Tendering

The engagement with service providers takes place
under a fair and open tendering process, it takes
suppliers’ experience, reputation, prevailing market,
price and reputation into account. The Group
has established procedures for procurement and
logistics management to ensure that the products
procured are of satisfactory quality, thereby reducing
procurement cost. The Group strives not to over-rely
on a specific supplier in order to ensure stability of
the supply chain. At the same time, the Group aims
to strengthen collaborative relationships with existing
suppliers. Should the performance of the supplier fall
below contractual expectations, the contract may be
terminated.

Employees are reminded to avoid situations that
may lead to or involve potential conflict of interest.
Any discrimination against certain vendors without
reasonable grounds and any types of business
bribery are strictly prohibited. To minimise carbon
footprints, the Group endeavours to support local
procurement where possible and give priority to
purchase recycled and environmentally friendly
products.
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Product Responsibility

General Disclosure

Solid corporate governance and risk management
are essential to the Group’s long-term development
and sustainable growth. The Group periodically
revises existing corporate rules and regulations
and ensures strict compliance with local laws and
regulations.

During FY2019, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with laws and regulations
that would have a significant impact on the Group,
concerning advertising, labelling and privacy matters
relating to products and services provided and
methods of redress, including but not limited to,
Money Lenders Ordinance, Personal Data (Privacy)
Ordinance, Securities and Futures Ordinance of
Hong Kong and Protection of Consumer Rights of
the PRC.

Money-lending Assurance

As a licenced money lender in Hong Kong, the Group
holds an active Money Lenders Licence. In addition,
the Group abides by the Money Licensing Conditions
of the said Licence. As a result of a more stringent
additional licensing conditions on money lender
licences, a risk-warning message must be present in
all advertisements in relation to their money lending
business. The guideline stipulates that advertisement,
whether in textual, audio or visual form, must
contain the relevant subsidiary’s telephone hotline
for handling complaints and a well-established risk
warning statement. The said risk warning statement
must also be clearly audible in the audio part of the
advertisement.
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Customer Privacy Protection

The Group protects legitimate rights and interests
of its customers, respects the rights of customers’
information assets and strictly complies with the
customers’ information security management
systems and standards. The Group has formulated a
set of privacy guidelines in regard to the collection,
retention and accessibility of information to ensure
that the lessee’s sensitive information is only used
for its intended purposes and to prevent information
leakage. All employees are trained to respect the
confidentiality of customers’ information, while only
certain employees can access sensitive customer
data. Moreover, employees are required to sign a
confidentiality agreement to hold them accountable
for should there be any unlawful information leakage.

Customer Service Quality

The Group strives to provide excellent services in
response to customers’ enquiries. A customer services
team has been established, standard procedures
have been established to handle customers’ opinions
and comments. To further enhance and better the
Group’ services, customers are encouraged to provide
feedback on their experience. Feedbacks are recorded
in detail and appropriate follow-up actions will be taken
should it be deemed necessary.

Procurement Quality Control

The Group has a dedicated quality control team to
ensure the products procured are of satisfactory
quality and would not pose any significant health
threat to its consumers. Standard procedures are
established to govern the procurement, quality
assurance and storage of these products.

Due to the Group’s business nature, the Group has
an insignificant amount of business dealing regarding
labelling matters.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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B7. Anti-corruption

General Disclosure

The Group values and upholds integrity, honesty and
fairness in how the Group conducts business. The
Group emphatically asserts its zero-tolerance stance
regarding any behaviours that not only violate local
laws and regulations but also severely damage the
Group’s reputation.

During FY2019, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with laws and regulations
of bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering
that would have a significant impact on the Group,
including but not limited to Anti-Money Laundering
and Counter-Terrorist Financing (Financial Institutions)
Ordinance, Money Lenders Ordinance, Personal
Data (Privacy) Ordinance, Securities and Futures
Ordinance in Hong Kong, Anti-Unfair Competition
Law of the PRC and the Criminal Law of the PRC.
During FY2019, there was no concluded legal cases
regarding corrupt practices brought against the
issuer nor its employees.

Anti-money laundering and Counter-financing of
Terrorism

As a professional financial services provider, the
Group is particularly sensitive to the signs of
money laundering and financial crimes. Apart from
complying with local laws and guidelines established
by regulatory authorities, the Group recognises that
the responsibility to help protect the integrity of the
financial system lies within us. The “Anti-Money
Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing Policy”
is in place to safeguard the interests of the Group.
It states the roles and responsibilities of compliance
officers and details procedures such as conducting
a customer due diligence process before beginning
business dealings with customers and reporting
suspicious transactions.
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Prevention of Money Laundering, Fraud and Bribery
Practices

The Group is sensitive to the prevention of poor
money laundering, potential fraud and bribery
practices. Therefore, the Group provides guidelines
on such policies to employees to remind them
of good practices to prevent unnecessary legal
complications.

Community Investment
General Disclosure
Community Participation

The Group is committed to providing career
opportunities to local residents and considers the
development of the community’s economy as part of
the Group’s sustainable development strategy. The
Group has future plans to give back to the society
through a more active participation in community
programmes, which not only benefits the society but
also nurture a good corporate culture.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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RIE HERERKRS

THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX
OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG

LIMITED

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and KPls
EEER BED - —MEER
WMERNER

Aspect A1: Emissions

BEA1 : #i

General Disclosure

—fRBE

KPI'A1.1 (“comply or explain”)

BARENERA ((TETHER])

KPI'A1.2 (“comply or explain”)

BRERIERA1.2 ([TETHAEE])
KPI' A1.3 (“comply or explain”)

BAREIERA 3 ([TETHEE])

KPI'A1.4 (“comply or explain”)

BREIERA1.4 ([TETHAE])

CE

Description
it

Information on

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to Exhaust Gas and GHG emissions,
discharges into water and land, and
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous
waste.

AHERKRERBHR - mKRLMEHET -

AENREERRYNELSN

(@) BE: R

(b) BFHETAREAZENBEBERRADN
BHt o

The types of emissions and respective emissions

data.

PERCR R AR B R EUR

GHG emissions in total (in tonnes) and intensity.
RERBAYNE CAEFE) REE -

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and
intensity.

MELRZRENEE UMHE) RBE -

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes)
and intensity.
MELXEEEZENEE (VAEE) REE -

FEEBSXSMAR TN (IR
B #dERELIBEESD AEER

Section/Declaration

-1 L

Emissions

735

Emissions - GHG Emissions,
Waste Management

B — RERBHN - BEY
BB

Emissions - GHG Emissions
BB — RERBHR
Emissions — Waste Management
Not applicable — Explained
B - BEDER

TER - ERE

Emissions — Waste Management

Py — BEMER
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RIE - HERERERS

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and KPIs
ITEHE B —RESER
RME\NER

KPI'A1.5 (“comply or explain”)
FISERURIRA15 ([NETRLAEE])

KPI'A1.6 (“comply or explain”)
FRENIREA16 ([TETRRE])

Aspect A2: Use of Resources
BmA2: BiRER
General Disclosure

—REE
KPI' A2.1 (“comply or explain”)

MRENIRRA2 1 ([METRARE])
KPI'A2.2 (“comply or explain”)

FRENIRERA2.2 ([NETRRE])
KPI'A2.3 (“comply or explain”)

FRENIREA2.3 ([METRERE])
KPI'A2.4 (“comply or explain”)

FREMIERA24 ([TETHEE])

KPI'A2.5 (“comply or explain”)

FREMIRIRA2E ([TETHEE])

D104 mpsmEmeRERAR

Description
fiit

Description of reduction initiatives and results
achieved.

R A RE N B RATERR o

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous
wastes are handled, reduction initiatives and
results achieved.
HEBAERESERENNE  BEHFREN
EmRAENR -

Policies on the efficient use of resources,
including energy, water and other raw materials.
ARERER (BEER  KREMRME) &
HE -

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type
in total and intensity.

RENESNERER  IEEEREEERTE o

Water consumption in total and intensity.

BRKBREE -

Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and
results achieved.
R AT B RPTEHRR o

Description of whether there is any issue in
sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water
efficiency initiatives and results achieved.
ECKEVE R KR AT A EREE - A RAKEE
B RATRRR

Total packaging material used for finished
products (in tonnes) and with reference to per unit
produced.

SN RAABEMRNAE (UEHE) REEE
BfhE -

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

Section/Declaration

1 L

Emissions - GHG Emissions,
Waste Management

B — RERBYN - BEY
g

Emissions - Waste Management

Py — BENER

Use of Resources

BIRER

Use of Resources — Energy
Efficiency
BREA — R

Use of Resources - Water
Consumption
BRER — KRB

Use of Resources - Energy
Efficiency
BREA — R

Use of Resources - Water
Consumption

BRER —KRHRE

Use of Resources - Use of
Packaging Material

Not applicable - Explained
BIREA — ERREME
TER -ERE



Subject Areas, Aspects,

General Disclosures and KPlIs

IERG BE —REER
WRERNER

Description
fiit

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

BEA3 : RERXARE

General Disclosure

—RBE

KPI' A3.1 (“comply or explain”)

BREIERAZ ([NETHERE])

Aspect B1: Employment
BEB1: &R

General Disclosure

—RBE

KPI' B1.1 (Recommended Disclosures)

BREIUEER. (BHERE)

Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant
impact on the environment and natural resources.
RWEBTAHRERARERELNEATENEE -
Description of the significant impacts of activities
on the environment and natural resources and the
actions taken to manage them.
HMEREDURBRAABERNEAZER DK
DEBRBTENTY -

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours,
rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.

REFHM K ERE  BERES  TERE - BREY-

TE#e  Zrnlt  RESUAREMSERET

7 :

(@) B &

(o) BFHEITABEAZENEBEEK
RO E R -

Total workforce by gender, employment type, age

group and geographical region.

RIER - EREL  FRARNRMERESNESR

o

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
B 5

CHERERRE

Section/Declaration

1 L

The Environment and Natural
Resources

BERRAER

The Environment and Natural
Resources — Indoor Air Quality

BRERANER - ENERER
Employment

ER

Employment

ER®

Annual Report 2019 _.'. 105 "._
—E-NEEH L OO



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
BRI HERERHSE

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and KPIs
ITEHE B —RESER
RME\NER

Aspect B2: Health and Safety

BEB2: RERER2

General Disclosure

—RBE

Description
fiit

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the
issuer relating to providing a safe working
environment and protecting employees from
occupational hazards.

FRRHZ2TERERRBEEHEBENRE

7

(@) B3R + &

(o) BFHBITABERZENHEREER
ROIEEFL -

Aspect B3: Development and Training

BEB3 : BRREHI

General Disclosure

—MREE

106 mpmmEmeRERAR

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and
skills for discharging duties at work. Description

of training activities.

AR EE BT IERR N MBREENEE -
HEIES -

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

Section/Declaration

1 L

Health and Safety

Development and Training
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RIE - HEBRERERS

Subject Areas, Aspects,

General Disclosures and KPIs Description Section/Declaration
ITEHE  BED - —RESER fiit -1 % 1]
RMEBENER

Aspect B4: Labour Standards
[BEB4 : %I %8
General Disclosure Information on: Labour Standards
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to preventing child and forced labour.
—RIRE BB EETHEHSTIH : STER
(@) B&E :+ &
(o) BFHBITABERZENEREER
ROIEEFL

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

BEBS : tENEE

General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social Supply Chain Management
risks of the supply chain.

—REE ERHEEENRE R SRBBE e

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
BEB6 : ERRE
General Disclosure Information on: Product Responsibility
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to health and safety, advertising,
labelling and privacy matters relating to
products and services provided and methods

of redress.
—RRE FRMREERNRENERELZS  BS B8 EmAf
RAEFEEA LA AN
(a) & &k
(o) BFHEITABEAZENEBEERK
RO E R -
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RIE - HERERERS

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and KPIs
ITEHE B —RESER
RME\NER

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
BEB7 : K&E5

General Disclosure

—REE

KPI' B7.1 (Recommended Disclosures)

BRENUEEBT. (BHERE)

Aspect B8: Community Investment
[EmEBS : itERE

General Disclosure

Description
fiit

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering.

AEAVILERE 9% RFELRERN

(@) B &

(o) BFHEITABEAZENHEBEEK
ROIEH -

Number of concluded legal cases regarding
corrupt practices brought against the issuer or
its employees during the reporting period and the
outcomes of the cases.
RERANEETAIHEERIIEELENES
RARRMAEE RFDER -

Policies on community engagement to understand
the needs of the communities where the issuer
operates and to ensure its activities take into
consideration the communities’ interests.

AR E2ERERETACENEHERE
NMEREXBZDEEZBHLRNEMER

—REE
Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Section/Declaration

1 L

Anti-corruption

Anti-corruption

Community Investment
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Directors and Senior Management

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhu Min, aged 71, graduated from Zhejiang University with
a master’s degree in Industrial Management and received a
MS degree in Engineering Economics from Stanford University.
He co-founded Future Labs Inc. in 1991 which was later
acquired by Quarterdeck Corp.. In 1996, he co-founded WebEx
Communications Inc. which was successfully listed on NASDAQ
in 2000 and then acquired by Cisco Systems Inc. for US$3.2
billion in 2007.

In 2003, Mr. Zhu became the sole investment partner in China
of New Enterprise Associates (NEA), a renowned U.S. based
venture capital fund focusing on early- and middle-stage
companies, assisting NEA to successfully invest in a group of
independent innovation enterprises in China. In 2005, Mr. Zhu
founded Cybernaut Investment Group, one of China’s best
venture capital houses in 2015 selected by Forbes. It is one of
the leading private equity and venture capital fund in China.

In 2007, Mr. Zhu donated US$10 million to set up Zhejiang
University International Innovation Institute (ZIl) with Zhejiang
University in a drive to promote domestic technological and
industrial innovations.

Mr. Zhu has many years of experience in computer, network
communications and services. He is a well-known scientist
in the field in the United States. In 2002, he was named by
Business Week as one of the 25 most influential people in
global e-commerce. In 2008 and 2009, Mr. Zhu was selected by
Forbes as one of China’s best venture capital investors. At the
first China Public Entrepreneurship and Innovation Conference
held in 2016, he was granted the title of China’s Pioneer in
Innovation and Entrepreneurship by virtue of his reputation in
the international investment community.

Mr. Zhu is the founder and chairman of the board of Cybernaut
Investment Group Limited, the Vice president of China Society
for the Promotion of Science and Technology Commercialization,
the founder and dean of the Zhejiang University International
Innovation Institute (ZII).

At the date of this annual report, Mr. Zhu directly and indirectly
held 990,284,000 shares of the Company.
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Directors and Senior Management

EERENEERE

Dr. Chen Huabei, aged 54, holds a bachelor’'s degree from
Shandong University, China a master’'s degrees from Aichi
University of Education, Japan and a doctor’'s degree from
Northeast Normal University, China. He currently serves as the
president of Seadragon Innovation Institute of International
Education. Dr. Chen had served as a deputy director of the
education, science, culture and public health department and a
director general of the information center of State Administration
of Foreign Experts Affairs (SAFEA). He had also served as a
commissioner general of China Association for International
Exchange of Personnel Overseas office of Japan. Dr. Chen’s
major research interests are Japanese philosophy history and
internationalization of education and talents.

Mr. Lu Yongchao, aged 40, obtained a diploma in Business
Administration for Real Estate Entrepreneurs in China at Sun
Yat-sen University and a diploma in English at Guangdong
University of Foreign Studies. Mr. Lu was a team member of
Ample Luck International Capital Group Limited, a domestic
well known fund management group. Mr. Lu has extensive
experience in business development, market development,
media management, finance and Information Technology
industry and years of investment, financing and fund
management history. He has rich experience in the enterprise
strategic management, internet strategy, brand management,
investment and financing management. He was the founder of
Enjoymedia Holdings Company Limited, which was listed on
the OTCBB in 2006 and was named one of the hundred most
Chinese Concept corporation listed in United States. Prior to
that Mr. Lu had been the Chief Executive of the online websites
YESITE and ITNOW, as well as the Whirlpool Kit Department
Head in China. Mr. Lu had assisted listing and financing of
different enterprises while working in an investment company
in China, and had served as the director of Taiwan listed
corporation China Mobile Digital Group. He also had served as
a director of a well-known German outdoor brand VAUDE.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Lu resigned as the directors of its subsidiaries, namely
Eagle Pioneer Limited, Accurate Trade International Limited,
China Safety Holdings Limited, Happy Way Technology Limited,
Total Tycoon Limited and Great Select Global Limited with effect
from 13 March 2020. Also, he has been an independent non-
executive Director of Pa Shun International Holdings Limited
(stock code: 574) and Glory Mark Hi-Tech (Holdings) Limited
(stock code: 8159) since 14 September 2018 and 28 March
2019 respectively. At the date of this annual report, Mr. Lu held
6,100,000 shares of the Company.

Ms. Yip Sum Yu, aged 30, was appointed as our non-
executive Director on 10 November 2014. She is currently
a consultant of an investment company. Ms. Yip has gained
valuable experience in investments and investors relations in
connection with both listed and private investments. She did not
hold any other directorships in public companies the securities
of which are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or
overseas in the last three years. Ms. Yip is also the directors of
its subsidiaries, namely Great Select Global Limited, Accurate
Trade International Limited, China Safety Holdings Limited,
Happy Way Technology Limited and Eagle Pioneer Limited with
effect from 13 March 2020.

Ms. Yip Sum Yu re-designated from non-executive Director to
executive Director of the Company with effect from 13 March
2020.
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AT TF=HT=-BEEHT
ANE B E R AlEagle Pioneer Limited
Accurate Trade International Limited -
FRELZEZERERAA - BIMREEBR
A 7] ~ Total Tycoon Limited & 3% ¥4 38 Bk
ERRABIZEE - N BTN
FAA+THBE-Z—AF=ZA=-FTN
AREDAETEFEREZERERAR (K
MR :574) REBEME (BR) BR
DA (BB AR5 8159) 2 B FEH 1T
EFx - NEAFHRAH aXEREAQF
6,100,000& A% 15 R #E B #E 2 o

ETWEL: 30 RZE—HF+—
ATHEZAERRNATFFERITES - HR
KRAE—RIEEARIMNER - EXLtREH
FTARMABRENRERREEBERE
RREELR - BFRBE=-FUEREFE
FREBIFIMEAEFMHE L2 T
AEEFFRAEMESRN - A= =%
FZAT=AR  ELTIAREBNE
NRIEMIRELBIR A A * Accurate Trade
International Limited + Bl L EIER B R
nal -~ BIMREHE AR A F KEagle Pioneer
Limited 2 5 ©

ErmxtBEE_T_TF=A+=HE
HARFBERITETHERITES -

Annual Report 2019 . "1 "._
—E-nEEH -



Directors and Senior Management

EENREREEE

Mr. Sin Kwok Wai Ronald, aged 63, was the Executive
Director of the Company since his appointment as an executive
director on 10 October 2014. Mr. Sin received his bachelor’s
degree with extended major in accountancy from Queensland
University of Technology, Australia in 1994. Then he pursued
his postgraduate studies with research and coursework at
Griffith University, Australia in 1994. He obtained his master
degree in business administration from the University of
Southern Queensland, Australia in 2006. Furthermore, Mr. Sin
pursued his doctorate studies at University of Wales Trinity
Saint David in 2017. He is currently an associate member of
HKICPA and a fellow member of the CPA Australia. Prior to
joining the Company, Mr. Sin has served companies in different
industries in Hong Kong, including those listed in Hong Kong
and overseas. He possesses over 20 years of management
experience in areas of accounting, business strategy and
corporate restructuring. At the date of this annual report, Mr.
Sin held 17,452,000 shares of the Company.

Mr. Sin Kwok Wai Ronald resigned as an executive Director and
appointed as Chief Financial Officer of the Company with effect
from 13 March 2020.

Mr. Xu Yejun, aged 55, was the Executive Director of the
Company and appointed as our Chairman and Executive
Director on 4 February 2010. He was also our Group’s Chief
Executive Officer from its establishment until 2 January 2015
until he resigned from such position, and he was responsible for
the overall strategic planning and management of our Group at
that time. Mr. Xu has extensive experience in the advanced steel
flow control products industry, and has been engaging in such
business for over 25 years. He is also the director of Sinoref
(Hong Kong) Limited.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Xu studied in B 88 KB £ (Yixing Dapu Secondary
School*) from 1979 to 1981. Mr. Xu had been trained in &5
it KM AR FEBE (Luoyang Institute of Refractories Research®)
from 1984 to 1986. He had worked in B S & fif AW RHER
(Yixing Magnena Refractory Materials Factory*) from 1981 to
1983 and from 1987 to 1989, in HE RIS BM KGR QA
(Yixing Wellfire Nonmetal Materials Co., Ltd.) from 1990 to 1995
and in EEIRFEZEAR AT (Yixing Zhongcun Kiln Products
Co., Ltd.*) from 1996 till the establishment of Sinoref (Yixing) in
2005.

For his research item KW RZERZE R EEE M AM
¥ E @& (The research and manufacture of new high
quality refractory accessory materials in glass melting furnace
regenerative chamber series*), Mr. Xu was awarded &8 T
Fli#E 2% (China Light Industry Technological Advancement
Award*) by FREIE T4 € (China Light Industry Association®)
in 1991, Lt /& ™ & 2 K i1 # 2 88 (Science and Technology
Progress Awards of Shanghai) by /8T RIS P 8T EE
B (Science and Technology Progress Awards Jury, Shanghai
Municipality) in 1995 and &M EIBKRTKEFESE (Certificate
for Accomplisher of Technological Advancement in Shanghai*)
by EBTHRIERETEZ 8€ (Science and Technology Commission
of Shanghai Municipality) in 1996. Mr. Xu was also awarded =
BT RIERT# 2542 (Science and Technology Progress Awards
of Shanghai) by EBMEIEFTE S RFEZE S (Science
and Technology Progress Awards Jury, Shanghai Municipality)
in 1996 in respect of BERKENEAETK FERIEEER
& (The research and manufacture of high quality specific
regenerative chambers checkers series accessory products®).

Mr. Xu Yejun resigned as an executive Director of the Company
with effect from 10 October 2019.
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Directors and Senior Management

EENREREEE

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Chow Chi Wa, aged 51, was appointed as our non-
executive Director on 27 November 2013. He holds a master
degree in Corporate Governance from the Open University
of Hong Kong, a master degree in Corporate Finance and a
master degree in Finance (Investment Management) from the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He has been a executive
Director of Sino Splendid Holdings Limited (stock code: 8006)
since November 2013. Mr. Chow is a certified public accountant
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants. He is an associate of the Hong Kong Institute of
Company Secretaries and the Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and Administrators. He possesses extensive experience in
finance and accounting.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Tong Yiu On, aged 53, was appointed as our independent
non-executive Director on 10 October 2014. He is a certified
public accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”). Mr. Tong is currently the company
secretary of China Ocean Industry Group Limited, a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 651). He served as the chief financial officer of Infinity
Development Holdings Company Limited, a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 640)
and concurrently acted as its executive director and company
secretary from July 2011 to May 2018. From September 2000
to November 2008, he served as the chief financial officer and
company secretary of Sinotronics Holdings Limited (currently
known as Kingwell Group Limited, a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1195)) and
he concurrently acted as its executive director from December
2002 to November 2008. Prior to joining such company, he had
nine years of financial management, accounting and auditing
experience from various companies listed in Hong Kong and
overseas and an international accounting firm.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Li Yik Sang, aged 45, was appointed as our independent
non-executive Director on 10 October 2014. He has over 19
years of experience in auditing, finance and accounting. He has
served as the chief financial officer, authorised representative
and company secretary of Meike International Holdings Limited
(a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 953)) from August 2009 to January 2016. Mr. Li
served as an audit assistant and a semi-senior auditor in Grant
Thornton from November 2000 to December 2002. He later
worked as a staff accountant, senior accountant and manager
in Ernst & Young from January 2003 to January 2007. He
acted as the chief financial officer of China Packaging Group
Company Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 572)) from January 2007 to
July 2009. He also served as an independent non-executive
director of China Agrotech Holdings Limited (a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1073))
from December 2011 to June 2014. He received his bachelor’s
degree in commerce from the University of Queensland,
Australia in December 1998. He received his master’'s degree
in commerce (information systems) from the University of
Queensland, Australia in August 2000. Mr. Li has been a
member of CPA Australia since April 1999 and was granted a
certificate of certified practicing accountant of CPA Australia in
November 2006 and he has been a member of HKICPA since
February 2007.

Mr. Cao Ke, aged 45, was appointed as our independent non-
executive Director on 10 June 2015. He received his bachelor’s
degree in economics from Nankai University in China in 1995 and
a master’s degree in business administration from the University of
Hawaii in USA in 2001. He possesses over 10 years of experience
in financial management and over 8 years of experience in financial
investment and project management. He served as Chief Financial
Officer in Guangdong Esquel Textile Enterprise Co., Ltd., Jiemi
Int’l Trade (shanghai) Co., Ltd. and Guangdong Qide Education
Service Ltd.. From January 2010 to March 2020, he served as
Chief Investment Officer in Youngy Investment Holding Group Co.,
Limited which is a reputable investment company in the PRC.
From October 2015 to March 2020, Mr. Cao served as the Vice
Chairman of the Board of Directors for Gefeng Environmental
Protection Technology Co,. Ltd. Since December 2012, he served
as Supervisor in AnHua Agricultural Insurance Company Ltd and
Shenzhen Huaxunark Technology Co., Limited. Since March
2020, Mr. Cao is the CFO of Zhuhai Chang Cheng Investment
Management Company Limited.
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Directors and Senior Management

EENREREEE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Dr. Wang Matthew Yang (“Dr. Wang”), aged 52, joined
Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited on 12
May 2017 as Co-Chief Executive Officer of the Company. He
currently serves as the President of Cybernaut Investment
Group and Chief Scientist of IMZE%. He has been serving
as senior director of IBM Global Technology Committee (one
of 18 people worldwide), member of IBM American Innovation
Leadership Committee, vice chairman of Center for China and
Globalization (CCG), deputy director of China Big Data Expert
Committee, deputy director of China National Committee of
Cloud Computing Experts, council member of Council 2005
of Western Returned Scholars Association (WRSA), director
of China Entrepreneurs Association, executive director of
Zhejiang University Innovation Institute International (ZIIl),
visiting professor of Zhejiang University, Tsinghua University,
China Europe International Business School and Cheung Kong
Business School. He has served as IBM global vice president
and general manager of China Development Laboratories (CDL).
He is a holder of a doctorate degree in computer science from
Vanderbilt University (B {2 & X 2) and a MBA degree from
George Washington University (B34 3 2% 18 A 2).

Dr. Wang joined IBM since 1998 and he was first appointed
as the chief architect of IBM’s global supply chain for personal
computers. After that, he was subsequently appointed as the
senior project director of IBM’s global services department,
being in charge of some projects in the aspects of electronics,
automobile, petroleum and others, with the funds involved
reaching several billion US Dollars. He also helped IBM to
establish the outsourcing center in India.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Directors and Senior Management

In 2002, Dr. Wang joined the Research and Development
Department in his capacity being the executive assistant to the
president of IBM’s Global Research and Development Center.
His main job duties were to develop research in respect of
technological development and strategic direction. Innovation
Frontier Engineering, led by him, was a part of the national
innovation plan of the U.S. and was directly initiated by the
U.S. President. Since 2006, Dr. Wang was seconded to station
at the headquarters of Asia Pacific region and was appointed
as the general manager of IBM’s Software Technical Sales. His
duties were to lead more than 2000 professionals in respect
of technical sales and services distributed in the Greater
China, Japan, Korea, Australia, New Zealand, India and some
Southeast Asia countries, being dedicated to provide the
customers with various software and industrial solutions.

In 2008, Dr. Wang served as IBM global vice president and
general manager of the China Development Laboratories (CDL),
promoting the implementation of IBM’s cooperation with the
Chinese government and universities, including participation in
the Seattle China-US Internet Forum, leading more than 5,000
people in Beijing, Shanghai, Taipei, Guangzhou and Shenzhen.
On 1 March 2016, Dr. Wang announced its accession to
Cybernaut Investment Group, which manages more than
RMB60 billion M&A funds for investments in overseas assets,
especially equity, and connects domestic industries. It uses
technology, capital, and international methods to enhance
domestic investment, industrial transformation, upgrading and
development.
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EENREREEE

Mr. Lee Yim Stephen, aged 44, is currently the director of
Soaring International Limited (Soaring), which holds 100%
owns equity interest of VT Zero Limited. As the director of the
Soaring enterprise, he oversees the eCommerce division of the
group companies, and also acts as the CEO of VT Zero Limited.
Mr. Lee was graduated with a BA (Hons) Finance from Hong
Kong University in 1998. With his enthusiasm in information
technology field, he joined Innaworks Ltd as development
specialist from 1999 to 2001. And from 2002 to 2005, he held
the position as senior developer in Tai Fook Securities Limited
and Emperor Capital Group. With his years of past experience
in IT sector and as software developer in the finance industry,
Mr. Lee founded the eBusiness startup named VT Zero Limited
in 2007. Prior to his startup business, he was a Project
Manager in UBS business group. With his strong experience
in software development and insight on internet shopping,
Mr. Lee managed the business of VT Zero Limited to achieve
an yearly turnover of HK$10 million within the first two years.
Soaring International Limited enterprise is now the wholly-
owned subsidiary of Cybernaut International Holdings Company
Limited, with business majoring on eCommerce of branded
electronic products and second hand mobile devices.

Mr. Ng Hang Fai Calvin, aged 43, is currently the business
development director of Soaring International Limited, that
was founded with his partner Mr. Lee Yim Stephen in 2007.
Mr. Ng was graduated with a BA (Hons) Information Systems
from City University of Hong Kong in 1998. Upon graduation,
he joined Hong Kong International Terminals, IT Infrastructure
division and Hutchison PortsnPortals.com until he served as
development specialist in Innaworks Ltd. from 2000 to 2001.
He also participated the development of online securities
trading platform in TaiFook Securities during the period of 2002
to 2005. Then with his years of past experience in internet
application on research and development in shipping and
finance industry, Mr. Ng worked as a system analyst in CCASS
division of HKEx until he joined Mr. Lee Yim Stephen to start
the eBusiness venture in 2007. Mr. Ng has expertise on internet
marketing and always aims at exploring more online sales
channels for the Soaring International Limited enterprise, in a
view to reach fast growing online shoppers all over the world.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Cheung Wing Lok Tommy, aged 38, joined the Company
in 2014. He is currently the directors of its subsidiaries, namely
HNBLL  H BRI AR AR Huzhou Sai Le Hong Education
Technology Limited (8 /1 & &7, “Huzhou Company”), Time
Credit Limited, Total Tycoon Limited, China Safety Holdings
Limited and Happy Way Technology Limited of the Group. Mr.
Cheung received his bachelor’'s degree in accountancy from
Curtin University of Technology, Australia in 2006 and associate
degree of Business Administration from HKU SPACE in 2004.
He is currently an associate member of HKICPA and the full
member of the CPA Australia. Prior to joining the Company,
Mr. Cheung was an auditor and possessed over 7 years of
experience in areas of auditing and accounting. Other than
serving as subsidiaries’ director, Mr. Cheung also involved in
daily executive duties in the subsidiaries of the Group.

For the purpose of this section, “*” denotes unofficial English translation.
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Report of the Directors

EEERS

The Directors are pleased to present their report and audited
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is primarily engaged in the manufacturing and selling
of paper converting equipment and other relating equipment,
eCommerce, eCommerce solutions and related support services
and selling of information technology products, money lending,
as well as, provision of internet education services.

The Group’s turnover is mainly derived from business activities
in Mainland China. An analysis of the Group’s income for the
year is set out in note 9 to the financial statements.

Particulars of the Company’s major subsidiaries as at 31
December 2019 are set out in note 45 to the financial
statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income on pages 153 and 154 of this
report.

The state of the Group’s affairs at 31 December 2019 is set out
in the consolidated statement of financial position on pages 155
to 156 of this report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2019.

The Company is not aware of any arrangement under which a
shareholder of the Company has waived or agreed to waive any
dividends.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

The result, assets and liabilities of the Group for the last
five financial years, as extracted from the audited financial
statements, are summarised on page 284 of this report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of property, plant and equipment of the Group as at
31 December 2019 are set out in note 20 to the financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company are
set out in note 38 to the financial statements.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the
latest practicable date prior to the issue of this annual report,
there was a sufficiency of public float the Company’s securities
as required under the Listing Rules.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed any of its listed securities for the year ended 31
December 2019.

RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of the movements in reserves of the Group during the
year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity.

The Company’s reserves available for distribution to its
shareholders as at 31 December 2019 were nil (31 December
2018: nil).

Report of the Directors
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Report of the Directors

EEERS

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of sales and purchases for the year attributable
to the Group’s major customers and suppliers are as follows:

Percentage of
the total purchases/
sales accounted for

Purchases
— the largest supplier 9%
— five largest suppliers combined 17%
Sales
— the largest customer 3%
— five largest customers combined 10%

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholder of the
Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more
than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had an interest
in the five largest suppliers or customers of the Group noted
above.

At no time during the year under review, none of the Directors,
their associates or shareholders (which to the knowledge of the
Directors own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital) has any interest in the customers or suppliers disclosed
above.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group has always kept our sustainable development that
aligns with the harmonious relationship to the environment
and committed to pay close attention to conserving natural
resources. The Group strives to minimize our environmental
impact by water-recycling initiatives, sewage treatment
implementation, energy saving and wastage reduction, and
encouraging recycle of office supplies and other materials. On
gas emission, advanced equipments have been employed in
various production procedures to recover part of the wastage
particulates generated during production process and minimize
the emission to the fullest extent. The Group dedicates to
improving equipment efficiency and quality management in order
to reduce power consumption. It also requires our factories to
operate in strict compliance with the relevant environmental
regulations and rules and possess all necessary permission and
approval from the relevant PRC regulators.

The Group always insist on the ideology on issues of
environmental protection, being conventional, safe and clean.
To enhance environmental awareness and encourage daily
participation among staff in the continuous improvement of
environmental protection, the Group implements green office
practices, such as implementing paperless practice whenever
possible and engaging staff regularly on low carbon office
measures.

Report of the Directors

EEERE

BERE

R ER B[R] 2R A 4 B ER AR AR AR 0 AT 45
BR - WENIRRERAER - A5H
BEKERBRBAER  BESKE
2 R RREAR BB EREARAE
R REAMYE - BOOEEIRENZER
ExE - piREHEBmME - RS EHE
EERFERSmEE  AREBIRNE
BE T 22 A B BE SRUBORL N 7 S K &8 [ OORL
EERYEN - REBMENHERERER
o E IR ORI BEROBRE - IREBR TMAE
BB T HEBRRARRAANNERL T E
B WRAKE Y HAETEEERER
BHA W R ML o

AEE-—ARFERL  ZE2RBEFER
BREBRIVE - RIETTRERBAL B
ETHEHE2ERRIE  AKEEE
RERAERE  MEATERTNEHRE
ARACPES - ARMERC B THEE i BITEAR

WMRERE -

Annual Report 2019 . 123"._
SE-AEEH OO



Report of the Directors

EEERS

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Board recognizes that employees, customers and business
partners are the keys to the sustainable development of the
Group. The Group is committed to building a close and caring
relationship with its employees and business partners and
improving the quality of services to the customers. Employees
are regarded as the most important and valuable assets of the
Group. The Group ensures all staff is reasonably remunerated
and its workers are provided with regular training courses on
operation of different types of machinery, as well as work safety.
The Group strives to motivate its employees with a clear career
path and opportunities for advancement and improvement
of their skills. It is committed to maintain a high standard of
corporate social governance essential for creating a framework
for motivating staff, and contributes to the community in which
we conduct our businesses and creates a sustainable return.
It also stays connected with its customers and suppliers and
has ongoing communication with the customers and suppliers
through various channels such as telephone, electronic mails
and physical meetings to obtain their feedback and suggestions.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group has compliance and risk management policies
and procedures, and members of the senior management are
delegated with the continuing obligation to monitor adherence
and compliance with all significant legal and regulatory
requirements. Our Audit Committee is delegated by the Board
to monitor the Group’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements and such policies
are regularly reviewed. Any changes in the applicable laws,
rules and regulations are brought to the attention of relevant
employees and relevant operation units from time to time.
Since the Group has subsidiaries in China and Hong Kong, the
establishments and operations shall comply with relevant laws
and regulations in the PRC and Hong Kong. During the year
ended 31 December 2018 and up to the date of this annual
report, the Group’s operation has complied with all the relevant
laws and regulations in the PRC and Hong Kong in all material
respects.
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DIRECTORS, CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

The Directors who held office during the year and up to the date
of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhu Min (Chairman)
Dr. Chen Huabei

Mr. Lu Yongchao

Ms. Yip Sum Yu'

Mr. Sin Kwok Wai Ronald?
Mr. Xu Yejun?®

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chow Chi Wa
Ms. Yip Sum Yu?

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Tong Yiu On
Mr. Li Yik Sang
Mr. Cao Ke

Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Wang Matthew Yang
Chief Financial Officer

Mr. Sin Kwok Wai Ronald’

! Appointed on 13 March 2020
s Resigned on 13 March 2020
. Resigned on 10 October 2019

DIRECTORS’ PROFILES

Directors’ profiles are set out on pages 109 to 115 of this
report.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Zhu Min’s appointment has no fixed term and is subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general
meeting of the Company. His remuneration as the executive
director and chairman of the Company will be determined by the
remuneration committee of the Company and the Board with
reference to his duties and responsibilities with the Company
and the prevailing market situation.

Dr. Chen Huabei’s appointment has no fixed term and is subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general
meeting of the Company. His remuneration as the executive
director of the Company will be determined by the remuneration
committee of the Company and the Board with reference to his
duties and responsibilities with the Company and the prevailing
market situation.

Mr. Lu Yongchao’s appointment has no fixed term and is subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general
meeting of the Company. His remuneration as the executive
director of the Company will be determined by the remuneration
committee of the Company and the Board with reference to his
duties and responsibilities with the Company and the prevailing
market situation.

Mr. Sin Kwok Wai Ronald was appointed for an initial term of
three years commencing from 10 October 2014 renewable
automatically for a successive term of three year each
commencing from the next day after the expiry of the then
current term of appointment, unless terminated by either Mr.
Sin or the Company giving not less than three months’ notice
in writing expiring at the end of the initial term or at any time
thereafter.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Mr. Xu Yejun, entered into a service contract with our Company
pursuant to which he agreed to act as an executive Director for
an initial term of three years with effect from 7 June 2010. The
term of service shall be renewed and extended automatically
by one year on the expiry of such initial term and on the expiry
of every successive period of one year thereafter, unless either
party has given at least three months’ written notice of non-
renewal before the expiry of the then existing term.

Mr. Chow Chi Wa, our non-executive Director was appointed for
an initial term of one year commencing from 27 November 2013
renewable automatically for successive term of one year each
commencing from the next day after the expiry of then current
term of appointment, unless terminated by either party has
given at least three months’ notice in writing expiring at the end
of the initial term or at any time thereafter.

Ms. Yip Sum Yu has entered into a service contract with the
Company. Her appointment has no fixed term and is subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general
meeting of the Company. Ms. Yip is initially entitled to a
remuneration of HK$144,000 per annum which has been
reviewed by the remuneration committee and determined by the
Board with reference to her duties and responsibilities with the
Company and the prevailing market situation.
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Mr. Tong Yiu On was appointed for an initial term of one year
commencing from 10 October 2014 renewable automatically for
successive term of one year each commencing from the next
day after the expiry of the then current term of appointment,
unless terminated by either Mr. Tong or the Company giving not
less than three months’ notice in writing expiring at the end of
the initial term or at any time thereafter.

Mr. Li Yik Sang was appointed for an initial term of one year
commencing from 10 October 2014 renewable automatically for
successive term of one year each commencing from the next
day after the expiry of the then current term of appointment,
unless terminated by either Mr. Li or the Company giving not
less than three months’ notice in writing expiring at the end of
the initial term or at any time thereafter.

Mr. Cao Ke, our independent non-executive Director was
appointed for an initial term of three years, subject to retirement
by rotation at the annual general meeting of the Company in
accordance with the Company’s articles of association. Mr. Cao
will be entitled to a director’s fee to be determined by the Board
based on his anticipated effort and expertise to be exercised on
the Company’s affairs.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has an unexpired service contract which is not
determinable by the Company within one year without payment
of compensation, other than normal statutory compensation.

The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’
liability insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the
Group to protect the Directors and officers of the Group against
any potential liability arising from the Group’s activities which
such Directors and officers may be held liable.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Apart from the particulars disclosed in note 42 under the
heading “Related party transactions” to the financial statements,
there were no other transaction, arrangement or contracts of
significance in relation to the Company’s business, to which
the Company or any of the Company’s subsidiaries was a party
nor there were any other transaction, arrangement or contracts
of significance in relation to the Company’s business between
the Company or any of the Company’s subsidiaries subsisting
at the end of the year or at any time during the year in which
a Director or an entity connected with a Director had, whether
directly or indirectly, a material interest.

No contract of significance had been entered into between
the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the controlling
shareholder (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company or
any of its subsidiaries.

No contract of significance for the provision of services to
the Company or any of its subsidiaries by the controlling
shareholder of the Company or any of its subsidiaries was
entered into.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN SHARES

As at 31 December 2019, so far as was known to the Directors
of the Company, our Chief Executive Officer of the Company
had an interest or short position in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company, which were required to be recorded in
the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section
336 of the SFO were as follows:
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Long and short positions in the Shares and underlying

Shares

Name of
Shareholder

REREEH

Mr. Zhu Min

AL

Mr. Sin Kwok Wai Ronald

ABREL

Mr. Lu Yongchao

AXBEE

Cybernaut International Limited

Nature of interest

HEMR

Interest in a controlled
corporation
REHEBERS

Interest in a controlled
corporation
Rt ERER

Interest in a controlled
corporation

REH AR R

Beneficial owner

REOREBRO ZHFRERLR

Interest in

Number of underlying Shares

securities held
(Note 1)

FRERSHE
(Briz1)

356,000,000 Shares (L)
356,000,0008% B 17 (L)
17,452,000 Shares (L)

17,452,000 B (L)
6,100,000 Shares (L)
6,100,000 A&7 (L)

634,284,000 Shares (L)

BREARERAR EEBA 634,284,000/ IR A (L)
Notes: Miat -

1. The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in our Shares. 1.

2. Cybernaut International Limited is the legal and beneficial owner 2.

of approximately 15.95% of the entire issued share capital of the
Company. Cybernaut International Limited is wholly owned by Mr.

Zhu Min.
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of share option
(Note 1)

| {3 4
HRRRER
(Hizt1)

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding
(%)

Bk
5244

(%)

8.96%

0.44%

0.15%

15.95%
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS

The Directors and the chief executive officer of the Company are
not aware that there is any party who, as at 31 December 2019,
had interests or short positions in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company, which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO or be directly or indirectly interested in 5% or more
of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights
to vote in all circumstances of general meetings of the Company
or substantial shareholders as recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”), which was adopted on 7 June 2010 (the
“Adoption Date”), for the purpose of providing incentives or
rewards to selected eligible participants for their contribution
to the Group. Unless otherwise cancelled or amended, the
Share Option Scheme will remain in force for ten years from the
Adoption Date.

Eligible participants of the Share Option Scheme include the
following:

(i) any employee (whether full time or part time) of the Group
or any entity (the “Invested Entity”) in which any member
of the Group holds any equity interest (including any
executive director but excluding any non-executive director
of the Group or any Invested Entity);
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(i

(i)

(iv)

(vi)

(vil)

(vili)

any non-executive directors (including independent non-
executive directors) of the Group or any Invested Entity;

any supplier of goods or services to any member of the
Group or any Invested Entity;

any customer of the Group or any Invested Entity;

any person or entity that provides research, development
or other technological support to the Group or any
Invested Entity;

any shareholder of any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity or any holder of any securities issued by
any member of the Group or any Invested Entity;

any adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant to any
area of business or business development of the Group or
any Invested Entity; and

any other group or classes of participants who have
contributed or may contribute by way of joint venture,
business alliances or other business arrangement to the
development and growth of the Group.

The maximum number of Shares issuable upon exercise of the

options which may be granted under the Share Option Scheme

and any other share option scheme of the Group (including

both exercised and outstanding options) to each participant in

any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the issued share

capital of the Company for the time being. Any further grant of

share options in excess of this limit is subject to Shareholders’

approval in a general meeting.
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Share options granted to a Director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of their
respective associates (as defined under the Listing Rules),
are subject to approval in advance by the independent non-
executive Directors (excluding independent non-executive
Director who is the grantee of the options). In addition, where
any grant of share options to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive Director, or to any of their respective
associates, would result in the Shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of all options already granted and to be granted
(including options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to such
person in excess of 0.1% of the Shares in issue and with an
aggregate value (based on the closing price of the Shares at
the date of the grant) in excess of HK$5 million, in a 12-month
period up to and including the date of grant, such grant of
share options are subject to Shareholders’ approval in a general
meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within
21 days from the date of the offer, upon payment of a nominal
consideration of HK$1 by the grantee. The exercise period for
the share options granted is determined by the Board, whose
period may commence from the date of acceptance of the
offer for the grant of share options but shall end in any event
not later than 10 years from the date of the grant of the option
subject to the provisions for early termination under the Share
Option Scheme.

The subscription price for Shares under the Share Option
Scheme shall be a price determined by the Board, but shall not
be less than the highest of:

(i) the closing price of Shares as stated in the daily
quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange on the date of the
offer of the grant, which must be a trading day;

(i)  the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five
trading days immediately preceding the date of the offer of
grant; and

(iliy  the nominal value of a Share.
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Since the Adoption Date and up to 31 December 2019,
120,000,000 share options has been granted by the Company,
representing 3.02% of the issued share capital of the Company
as at 31 December 2019.

MOVEMENT OF THE SHARE OPTIONS

Movements of the share options which were granted under the

Share Option Scheme, during the year under review were listed

below in accordance with Rule 17.07 of the Listing Rules:

HEMWBHEE TS NEFE+_A=+
—H - AAFE 120,000,000 i i%
o RERRRARTR _E-AEFE+ZA=

T—HZBE#ETRAI.02% °

MRS

BIE ETARAIZE17.0715 -

7 Bl B 4F AR

RO ZBREZESHNT

Outstanding Outstanding

as at as at

1 January 31 December

Exercise 2019 Number of share option 2019

Date of price HKS) ~ RZB-h% | B LE RZB-1E

Grantee grant feiid —-B—B  Granted Exercised  Cancelled Lapsed  +ZB=1-A

ERA BHAM (BT) AfTE  EEE BT Eit# B&H ARITHE

Employees

&R

Employees 13 January 2016 0.315 80,000,000 - - - (80,000,000) -

(Note 1)

[E& ZE-~"¥-AT=H (hit1)

7 May 2019 0.198 - 120,000,000 - - - 120,000,000

(Note 2)

“E-WERALR (Hit2)

Total 80,000,000 120,000,000 - - (80,000,000) 120,000,000
#it
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Notes:

1. These options should be valid for a term of three years
commencing from 13 January 2016. The closing price of
the Company’s shares on 13 January 2016 (the trading day
immediately before the date on which these options were granted)
was HK$0.30.

2. These options should be valid for a term of three years
commencing from 7 May 2019. The closing price of the
Company’s shares on 7 May 2019 (the trading day immediately
before the date on which these options were granted) was
HK$0.196.

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted during the
year ended 31 December 2019 was estimated as at the date of
grant, using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, taking into
account the terms and conditions upon which the options were
granted. The following table lists the inputs to the model used:

Dividend yield (%) 0.00
Expected volatility (%) 40
Risk-free interest rate (%) 1.638
Expected life of options (year) 1.50

Closing share price at grant date (HK$) 0.198
The expected life of the options is based on management
expectation and is not necessarily indicative of the exercise
patterns that may occur. The expected volatility reflects the
assumption that the historical volatility is indicative of future
trends, which may also not necessarily be the actual outcome.

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted during
the year was approximately RMB6,040,000 (2018: Nil) of which
the Group recognised a share option expense of approximately
RMB5,956,000 (2018: Nil) during the year ended 31 December
2019.
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EMPLOYEES’' INTEREST IN SHARE OPTION
SCHEME

At no time during the year ended 31 December 2019 was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement
to enable the employees or any of their spouses or children
under the age of 18 to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in the Company or any other body
corporate.

RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE COMPANY'S SECURITIES

Other than as disclosed under the sections “Share Option
Scheme” and “Directors’ Interest in Shares” above, at no time
during the year under review was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries, or any of its fellow subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors or chief executives of
the Company or their respective associates (as defined in the
Listing Rules) to have any right to subscribe for securities of the
Company or any of its associated corporations as defined in the
SFO or to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in,
or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

PLACING OF SHARES

Reference is made to the announcement made by the Company,
relating to the placing under general mandate completed
on 2 February 2017. The net proceeds from the Placing of
approximately HK$176.6 million (the “Placing Proceeds”) had
been fully utilized during year 2019.

MATERIAL TRANSACTION

Reference is made to the announcement made by the Company
on 1 August 2018, relating to the disposal of the subsidiary
(“Disposal”) of the Company, where the Sale Shares represents
100% of the issued share capital of the Disposal Company
(“Sinoref (BVI) Limited”). The discontinued operation are re-
represented as set out in note 43 to the financial statements.
The material transaction of Disposal constitutes a major
transaction of the Company under Chapter 14 of the Listing
Rules.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION

The Company received the Auditor’'s Certificate confirming
that the 2nd and 3rd guaranteed profit for the 2nd and 3rd
guaranteed period had been fulfilled in the business and set
out in note 37. Accordingly, the Company issued the 2nd and
3rd Promissory Note in the principal amount of HK$110 million
to the Vendor or its nominee(s) during the year ended 31
December 2019 as set out in note 37, for the partial settlement
of the Consideration pursuant to the Sale and Purchase
Agreement dated 26 July 2017 which constitutes a discloseable
connected transaction as defined under the Listing Rules.

COMPETING INTERESTS

None of the Directors or the substantial shareholders of the
Company and their respective associates (as defined under the
Listing Rules) had any interest in a business which competes or
may compete with the business of the Group or has any other
conflict of interest with the Group during the year and up to the
date of this report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s articles of association or the laws of the Cayman
Islands which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on
a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts of significance concerning the management
and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company were entered into or existed during
the year, other than those are disclosed in this report.
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

Save as disclosed in this report, as of 31 December 2019, none
of the Directors or their respective associates had engaged in
or had any interest in any business which competes or may
compete with the businesses of the Group.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees and senior
management of the Group is set by the remuneration committee
of the Company on the basis of their merit, qualifications and
competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the
remuneration committee of the Company, having regard
to market competitiveness, individual performance and

achievement.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an
incentive to among other Directors and other eligible employees
of the Group. Details of the scheme are set out in note 39 to
the financial statements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are
set out in the section headed “Corporate Governance Report”
of this annual report.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The Group had no charitable donations during the year ended
31 December 2019.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Please refer to the section headed “Management discussion
and analysis” in this annual report for a business review and the
future prospects of the Company. Please refer to the notes to
the financial statements in this annual report for the principal
financial risks faced by the Company. Please refer to Note 44 to
the financial statements in this annual report for the important
events of the Company after the financial year ended 31
December 2019.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board may declare dividends in the future after taking into
account the Group’s operations, earnings, financial condition,
cash requirements and availability and other factors as it may
deem relevant at such time. Any declaration and payment
as well as the amount of dividends will be subject to the
Company’s constitutional documents and the Companies Law,
including the approval of the Shareholders. Future declarations
of dividends may or may not be reflected from the Company’s
historical declarations of dividends and will be at the absolute
discretion of the Board.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established the Audit Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the requirements as
set out in the Listing Rules for the purposes of reviewing and
supervising the financial reporting process and internal controls
of the Group.

The Audit Committee currently comprises three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Tong Yiu On (Chairman),
Mr. Li Yik Sang and Mr. Cao Ke. The Audit Committee has
reviewed and discussed with the management and the external
auditor for the financial reporting matters including the annual
results for the year ended 31 December 2019.
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AUDITOR

With effect from 29 January 2016, as Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
(“Deloitte”) and the Company could not reach a consensus on
the audit fee for the financial year ended 31 December 2015,
the Board appointed Elite Partners CPA Limited (“Elite”) as the
new auditor of the Group to fill the vacancy occasioned by the

resignation of Deloitte.

A resolution to re-appoint the retiring auditor, Elite Partners CPA
Limited, will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general

meeting.

By order of the Board

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

Zhu Min
Director
Hong Kong, 14 May 2020
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Independent Auditor’s Report

elite
< partners

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

TO THE MEMBERS OF CYBERNAUT INTERNATIONAL
HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liabilities)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set
out on pages 153 to 283, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for
the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 December 2019, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BYZBEHRE

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's “Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Key audit matters
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

EfmEstmEER@F =0

Impairment assessment of goodwill and intangible assets

HERELREREFE

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had goodwill and
intangible assets of approximately RMB386 million
and RMB72 million respectively, which were allocated
to three cash generating units, namely Money lending,
eCommerce and Internet education services (the
“CGUs”). For the purpose of assessing impairment,
the Group appointed an independent external valuer
to assess the recoverable amount of the CGUs, which
were determined by management based on the higher
of value-in-use and fair value less costs of disposal.
The valuation requires significant judgement made by
management in determining the CGUs.

We had identified impairment assessment of goodwill
and intangible assets as a key audit matter because
significant management judgement was used to
appropriately identify the CGUs and to determine
the key assumptions including estimated future
income, operating margins and discount rates. After
the management assessment, management has
concluded that there is an impairment loss of goodwill
of approximately RMB61,225,000 during the year
ended 31 December 2019.
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Our audit procedures to address the impairment
assessment of goodwill and intangible assets
included the following:

BRI E KB EERENENETRFBENUT

e Assessing the management’s identification of CGUs
based on our understanding of the Group’s operations.
BRERMAY SEEKENBERTEEEENRSE
H BRI

e Assessing the reasonableness of the underlying cash
flow projections prepared by management, used for
the determination of the value-in-use of the CGUs,
including but not limited to calculation methodology,
assumptions, growth rate, operating margins and
discount rates.
HEEREERNNANETReEASMEREEN
HARERERAREEE  BRFRETRRFAES
ERER  RERE - RENERITIRE -

e Comparing the current year actual cash flows with
the prior year cash flow projections to consider if the
projections included assumptions that were overly
optimistic.
HAFENERESRE R FFHERETRAET
LB - AZ RIRAIFE SRR S BREE -

e Testing on the accuracy and reliance of the input data
used for the preparation of the cash flow projection on
a sample basis.
BREAEEASBR AR SRETR R AR E
B A SE o

e Assessing the sensitivity analysis on key assumptions
being used in the cash flow project (e.g. using a range
of higher discount rates and lower revenue growth
rate).
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Key audit matters

MEEER

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

B 5 FE W R T iRk (B AT 4

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had trade
receivables of approximately RMB57 million, net of
impairment. We had identified impairment of trade
receivables as a key audit matter because significant
judgements had to be made for the assessment of the
recoverability for each debtor including trading history,
credit history and estimated future cash flow.
RZZE-NF+A=+—0  EBEXEHKREAER
2 B 5 RWGRIEA A R#57,000,0007T « BRAEE
B AR EI M AE L ERAE AT - B
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Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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How the matter was addressed in our audit
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Our audit procedures to address the impairment of
trade receivables included the following:
HFIRIEE ZRUIERENEARFBREAT :

e Testing the accuracy of the ageing of receivables
balances on a sample basis.
RERARE RS BRI AR AR BV SE R -

e Assessing the reasonableness of management’s
loss allowance estimates on trade receivables by
examining the information used by management
to form such judgements, including testing the
accuracy of the historical default data, evaluating
whether the historical loss rates are appropriately
adjusted based on current conditions and
forward-looking information and examining the
actual losses recorded during the current financial
year and assessing whether there was an
indication of management bias when recognising
loss allowances.
FRREEREERABAUSABER ST
BEHESRUFENEREGLARERE &
FRHE 22 QBRI - RIBE ATARR K AT
BEUEEHAEELEEXEECEEARLREE
R FEREANEBSHNEREE - WHERREBERER
Rt e b FEERRENDIR -

e Testing on large individual aged receivables
balances, understanding the rationale for
management’s provisioning decisions by
reference to payment patterns during the year as
well as other information available.
AHAEESERAN LRRRRAERKIENREE - &
B2EFANNTEAREMBEEENBERERRE
BBRT 2215 -

e Assessing the level of cash collected by the
business after the year end of past due receivable
balances to consider any additional provisioning
requirements.
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Key audit matters
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Impairment assessment of loan receivables

PR My % 0 i (B £

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had loan
receivables of approximately RMB139 million. During
the year ended 31 December 2019, there is an
impairment loss recognised of loan receivables of
approximately RMB54,776,000. We had identified
impairment assessment of loan receivables as a
key audit matter because significant management
judgement had to be made for the assessment of the
recoverability of the receivables. (e.g. the credit history
and estimated future cash flows).
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How the matter was addressed in our audit
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Our audit procedures to address the impairment
assessment of loan receivables included the
following:

BPEERRERHBENAHEAEFEENAT

e Discussing with management if there is any
indicator of impairment of the loan receivables
and accessed the reasonableness of

management’s assessment, in particular, those

balances had been past due.
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e Testing on a sample basis on the settlement
made by the borrowers during the year and their
subsequent settlement with reference to the
repayment schedule.
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Key audit matters
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Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

L1146

BRLEEKZRERAR

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EfmEstmAEER@FH =0

e Assessing the reasonableness of management’s

loss allowance estimates on loan receivables by
examining the information used by management
to form such judgements, including testing the
accuracy of the historical default data, evaluating
whether the historical loss rates are appropriately
adjusted based on current conditions and
forward-looking information and examining the
actual losses recorded during the current financial
year and assessing whether there was an
indication of management bias when recognising
loss allowances.
FRREEREERNABAEGRAAER  FHHE
BEHSEVERNEREHGGFESAE - 2158
A SR N BUR 2 EHEE - RIRE AR M ATHE M
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Reviewing and testing the Group’s credit control
policy over extension of existing loans and
monitoring of interest repayments according to
the terms as stipulated in the loan agreements.
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CONTROL OVER ZAIAZ2 (UtR) HEREBR
A 7 (CAPITAL WOWXUE (BEIJING) EDUCATION
TECHNOLOGY LIMITED *) (“WOWXUE?)

HRAAZ (tR) BERBRARAR (TRE]) 2
il 4

The directors of the Company, after consulting legal
opinion, are of the view that the Group has control
over Wowxue (defined in Note 46 to the consolidated
financial statements) through the Contractual
Arrangements (defined in Note 46 to the consolidated
financial statements) and has accounted for it as a
subsidiary of the Group during the year ended 31
December 2019 despite the absence of formal legal
equity interest held by the Group in Wowxue. Please
see Note 46 for details.
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How the matter was addressed in our audit
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Our audit procedures to assess the control over H

BIR 2 (b ) BHEMEKABR LA (Capital Wowxue

(Beijing) Education Technology Limited) included the

followings

AR AEE REDRE (IER) HERRBER AR Z 5

BZBEFIEFEBEUTAR

e Reading the relevant agreements and other
relevant documents, discussed with lawyer
engaged by the Group, considered the relevant
legal opinion provided by the Group and the
requirements in the relevant accounting standard
to determine whether the Contractual Agreements
have given the Group control over Wowxue.
RETANRHRER BEXEEAREZE
# - BERERE R EmEE Y B SEREE
B WER BREMREHERZEEEE
BREEBEAERNZHRE -

e Assessing the Group’s analysis and conclusions
on whether or not it controls over Wowxue
based on the Group’s analysis on its power over
Wowxue’s relevant activities, and the magnitude
and variability of variable returns from its
involvement with Wowxue. We also evaluated the
appropriateness of the Group’s assessment on
its legal or constructive obligation to absorb loss
of Wowxue by reviewing relevant agreements or
contracts, and whether the Group has provided
liquidity support or credit enhancement to
Wowxue.
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Key audit matters
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How the matter was addressed in our audit
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e Assessing the Group’s analysis and conclusions

on the existence of Wowxue or significant
influence over Wowxue. We made inquiries
and inspections of the relevant contracts and
agreements of investments to evaluate the
Group’s assessment of its power to control over
Wowxue’ relevant activities, or to participate in
Wowxue and operating policy decisions.

il EEEUABEEEARTENSTNER
BFBEEMALERRENEES NG G
T BEXERAZHLABRMEEAEGIE - K
EEZEREREBMELERENEN -

Reviewing the minutes of the meetings of
Wowxue, the board of directors of Wowxue.
We evaluated the Group’s reassessment of
its influence over Wowxue on a continuous
basis if facts and circumstances indicated that
there were changes. Furthermore, we checked
the appropriateness of related disclosures of
structured entity.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
such internal control as the directors determined is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BYZBEHRE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This
report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with the
terms of our engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

° obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Independent Auditor’s Report

° evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

° conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with
them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
related safeguards.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BYZBEHRE

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Elite Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 14 May 2020

Chan Wai Nam, William
Practising Certificate no. P05957

10th Floor,

8 Observatory Road,
Tsim Sha Tsui,
Kowloon,

Hong Kong

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

REREREMGEEEER

Continuing operations
Revenue
Cost of sales/service rendered

Gross profit

Other gains or loss, net
Impairment loss, net

Selling and distribution costs
Administrative expenses
Finance costs

Loss before taxation
Taxation

Loss for the year from continuing
operations

Discontinued operation
Profit/(loss) for the year from
discontinued operation

LOSS FOR THE YEAR

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME

Item that may be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss:

Exchange differences arising on
translation of foreign operations

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME FOR THE YEAR

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE
EXPENSE FOR THE YEAR

Loss for the year attributable to
owners of the Company:
Continuing operations
Discontinued operation

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hEF+_A=+—HLEE

2019 2018
—E—hF —F-N\F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5T AR®TT ARBFIT
BEEEEE
U A 9 326,946 237,798
HE S IRERBEK A (245,608) (167,375)
EF 81,338 70,423
E bz ok B8 F 58 11 (5,874) 6,023
B EEFERE 12 (115,684) 2,184
$HE Ko HK AN (5,413) (3,667)
TR X (80,977) (102,886)
BT AR 13 (16,856) (4,696)
BrEiRTE 1A 14 (143,466) (32,619)
g 15 (592) 4,552
RABERKEER2FE
E518 (144,058) (28,067)
BHRILIESEE
REBRILEEER 2
FEHEF,(BE) 49 39,015 (52,888)
EEFE (105,043) (80,955)
Hth2mka
AJEER AR B A E 185
AIEE -
HEGINETSRFEAERE R
=R 3,794 7,485
EEEM2EKRE
3,794 7,485
FEERHEMATEA
(101,249) (73,470)
NN E A AERFEER
SR TS (137,418) (28,698)
BRI FEE FETE 39,015 (52,888)
(98,403) (81,586)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

SERakEMEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_ZT—hhE+_A=+—HLEE

2019 2018
=t E —2-N\F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BT AER®TT ARBTT
Loss for the year attributable to  FE¥E MRS FE/E SE S 518 ¢
non-controlling interests:
Continuing operations BIERAER (6,640) 631
Discontinued operation BRI EETE = -
(6,640) 631
(105,043) (80,955)
Total comprehensive expense FHAFHEABGEERRE
for the year attributable to BASZ#R#E :
owners of the Company:
Continuing operations SEEICEFETS (134,199) (20,620)
Discontinued operation BRI EER 39,015 (52,888)
(95,184) (73,508)
Total comprehensive expense JEIRRRESE(LFEE2MEE
for the year attributable to X
non-controlling interests:
Continuing operations RBECEETS (6,065) 38
Discontinued operation B4R I FE TS = -
(6,065) 38
(101,249) (73,470)
Loss per share: HAEE - 19
From continuing and discontinued 3k B 4548 & 2R IFKE & %715
operations
Basic (cents per share) AR (BRARES) (2.48) (2.02)
Diluted (cents per share) g (BRARED) (2.48) (2.02)
From continuing operations REFELEER
Basic (cents per share) AR (BRARED) (3.46) (0.71)
Diluted (cents per share) B (BRARES) (3.46) (0.71)
Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment

Right-of-use assets

Goodwill

Intangible assets

Prepaid lease payments

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Current assets

Inventories

Trade receivables

Loan receivables

Other receivables, deposits and
prepayments

Prepaid lease payments

Restricted bank deposits

Bank balances and cash

Assets of disposal group classified as
held for sale

Current liabilities

Trade and bills payables
Other payables and accruals
Contract liabilities

Lease liabilities

Tax liabilities

Bank and other borrowings
Promissory notes

Liabilities of disposal group classified
as held for sale

FRENEE

YE e S

EREEE

BE

BEE

TANEEE

BRAFESAABRRZ SR
BE

REEE
FE

B 5 RWR
e & R

HAibEUHIR - e RIAN

IR
BRNEERE
KRBRITER
RITHEBNES

DRARKEHEZHERE

ZEE

wEAR

B 5 5RE R EN 2%
HAb e 3R IE R IERTE A
AHAEE

HEAE

MIEEE
RITREMBEE

Z L

DRARKELEZHERHE

ZAR|

Notes
B5E

20
21
22
23
25

26

27
28
29

30
25
31
31

32
33
34
35

36
38

e BRI R

At 31 December 2019
RZTE-—NF+=-A=+—H

2018

—E-N\F

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREET T
11,930 11,909
3,405 -
385,919 444 306
71,695 96,397
- 96

1,011 —
473,960 552,708
15,325 18,682
56,891 53,425
139,042 217,566
61,942 37,869
- 156
12,305 5,415
158,268 138,631
443,773 471,744
- 109,373
443,773 581,117
71,451 69,061
12,569 3,689
3,995 2,490
2,688 -
5,902 5,394
26,952 86,502
46,570 -
170,127 167,136
- 100,973
170,127 268,109
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

B B RS AR &

At 31 December 2019
RZT—hF+=A=+—H

Net current assets B ERE
Total assets less current liabilities WEHERTHEE
Non-current liabilities ERBAER
Lease liabilities HEAR
Deferred tax liabilities BEFRIBEE
Promissory notes R
Contingent consideration HARE

Net assets BERE
Capital and reserves BEXR R
Share capital &7
Reserves e
Non-controlling interests JEIRREER
Total equity Baue

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 14 May 2020
and are signed on its behalf by:

DIRECTOR
EF
Zhu Min
L3

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

1% mpsmEmeRERAR

2018

—E2-N\F

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B sE AR®TT AREEF T
273,646 313,008

747,606 865,716

89 592 -
37 18,690 24,865
38 289,072 237,056
39 39,068 108,402
347,422 370,323

400,184 495,393

40 337,128 337,128
66,644 155,788

403,772 492,916

(3,588) 2,477

400,184 495,393

FEMBREABAEFEN_ZE_TFHA
THBE#ERRETIEE  WHATREE
£2 ¢

DIRECTOR
EE
Lu Yongchao

2k



At 1 January 2018 (adjusted)

Loss for the year
QOther comprehensive income
for the year

Total comprehensive expense
for the year

Repurchase of shares

Lapse of share options

At 31 December 2018

At 1 January 2019

Loss for the year

Qther comprehensive income
for the year

Total comprehensive expense
for the year

Lapse of share options

Release of special reserve upon
disposal of subsidiaries

Recognition of equity-settled
share-based payment expense

At 31 December 2019

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

GERREER

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hE+_A=+—HLEE

Total equity attributable to the owners of the Company

EXNGE TN T £
Capital Share Non-
Share Share redemption Special ~ Statutory  options Exchange Accumulated controlling
capital  premium reserve reserve  reserves reserve reserve losses  Subtotal interest Total
#x
k¥ ROER REORE RHRE  EEGH BERERE ERGR RHER it FARER i
RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'OO0  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'OO0  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETRT ARETR  ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
(Note g) (Note b)
(i) (M)
RZ2-\¥-A-B
(&8%) 355,046 616,864 - 46,867 48818 20,130 6,375 (480578) 613,522 2439 615961
FERE = - - - - - - (81588)  (81,586) 631 (80959)
ERAMRERE
= = - - - - 8,078 - 8,078 (593) 7,485
ERRERRER
= = - - - - 8,078 (81,586)  (73,508) 38 (78,470)
BBk (17918)  (29,180) 17918 - - - - (17,918 (47,008) - (47,098)
BRMERE = - - - - (11504 - 11,504 - - =
R=E-\E+-A=1-H 337,128 587,684 17,918 46,867 48818 8,626 14,453 (668,578) 492,916 2477 495393
RZ2-N5-A-R 337,128 587,684 17918 46,867 48818 8,626 14,453 (668,578) 492,916 2477 495393
FEBE = - - = = = - (98,403 (98,403) (6,640)  (105,043)
FEEMZERE
- - - - - 3219 - 3219 575 3,79
FR2EMTEE
- - - - - - 3219 (98,403 (95,184) (6,085)  (101,249)
BRMERE = = - - (8,626) - 8,626 - - -
HENBEARBRRENEE
- - - (46,867) - - - 46,867 - - -
BANRALEE AR
RERNHAFRX - - - - - 6,040 - - 6,040 - 6,040
R=E-NE+-A=1-H 337,128 587,684 17,918 - 48818 6,040 17,672 (611,488) 408,772 (3,588) 400,184
A IR t 201
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
REERBEK

For the year ended 31 December 2019

BE-2-NFT-A=t-ALFE

Notes:

(@)

{158

Special reserve represents the difference between the nominal
value of shares of the Company issued as consideration in
exchange for the aggregate of the paid-up capital of the
subsidiaries of the Company arising upon the corporate
reorganisation to rationalise the Group’s structure prior to listing
of the Company’s shares on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The amount would be transferred
to accumulated losses upon disposal of subsidiaries.

In accordance with the relevant laws and regulations of the
People’s Republic of China (“PRC”), the PRC subsidiaries
are required to provide for PRC statutory reserves, including
enterprise expansion fund and general reserve fund, by way of
appropriations from its statutory net profit (based on the PRC
statutory financial statements of the PRC subsidiaries) but before
dividend distributions.

All appropriations to the funds are made at the discretion of the
board of directors of PRC subsidiaries. The board of directors
of the PRC subsidiaries shall decide on the amounts to be
appropriated based on its profitability each year.

The enterprise expansion fund may be used to increase registered
capital subject to approval from the relevant PRC authorities. The
general reserves fund may be used to offset accumulated losses
or increase the registered capital subject to approval from the
relevant PRC authorities.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GERTRER

Operating activities
Loss before taxation from:
Continuing operations
Discontinued operation

Adjustments for:

Interest income on bank deposits

Fair value change of contingent consideration

Fair value change of financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss

Interest expenses

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Depreciation on right-of-use assets

Impairment loss recognised in respect of
trade and loan receivables

Written down of inventories

Impairment loss recognised in respect of goodwill

Impairment loss recognised in respect of
other receivables

Amortisation of prepaid lease payments

Amortisation of intangible assets

Share-based payment expenses

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries

Operating cash flows before movements in
working capital

Decrease/(increase) in inventories

Decrease in trade receivables

Decrease in bills receivables

Decrease/(increase) in loan receivables

Increase in other receivables, deposits and
prepayments

Increase in trade and bills payables

Increase/(decrease) in other payables and accruals
Net cash generated from/(used in) operations
Income tax paid

Net cash generated from/(used in)
operating activities

For the year ended 31 December 2019

EEED

BATEREEE ZBRAER
TRREE
ERILEERH

BATERIEHAE :
BRITERZMBHA
IRREZATFEE
BOFEFABRCEREEL

NHEES

M EFS

nx  BERRERE
EREEERE

P& B RYGR R ERER
ERERERR

FEMR
PABERNAERRE
PEMERGIRER R ERR

ANRE RS H

B EERH

DARRAR R ERER (S 5RF 5
HEMBRTMKE

ZEEAEHH
ReHenE
FERD /()
BRI D
eSSV
FERETR D /()
Hi KR - HER
BNFRE N
BHRNTER
ARES Sl
Hit RN RRES B
#m,/(Bd)

BEFRE (FR) Re B8
EfFEH

BEEBFRE (FRA)
R&B@

BHE_ZT-IWF+-_A=+—HLFE

2019 2018
= -
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR#TT ARETT
(143,466) (32,619)
(39,015) (52,888)
(972) (330)
7,116 (4,789)
987 -
16,856 4,696
2,296 2,286
2.922 —
47,557 16,348
1,460 -
61,225 —
5,442 -
- 58
24,702 51,667
5,956 -
(45,754) =
25,342 (15,576)
2,050 (4,989)
4,226 2,115
- 3,826
26,961 (47,366)
(27,341) (7,857)
1,574 41,409
10,239 (13,818)
43,051 (42,256)
(6,266) (3,368)
36,785 (45,624)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

MEBEITRER

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hEFE+_A=+—HLEE

Investing activities
Interest received
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Proceed from disposal of a property,

plant and equipment
Net cash from disposal of subsidiaries
(Placement)/withdrawal of pledged bank deposits
Purchase of financial assets at fair

value through profit or loss

Net cash generated from/(used in)
investing activities

Financing activities

Capital element of lease rentals paid
Payment on repurchase of ordinary shares
Interest paid

Repayment of bank and other borrowings
Proceed from bank and other borrowings

Net cash used in financing activities

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and
cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of
the year
Effect of exchange rate changes

Cash and cash equivalents at end of
the year,
representing bank balances and cash
as stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position
representing bank balances and cash
attributable to a discontinued operation

160 mpmmEmeRERAR

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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EMHE

BEYE  BELRE
HENE  BERRE

SR
HEMBARZREFE
(BEAN)/ REBEERRTER
BERATEF ARG EREE

BRREIDME (FR) REPHE

BRI
ENEERENERHD
P L E BB
EfNHE
EERTRAMBEE
RITREMEEREHE

MRZDMARSRHE

BeRBSEFEY
/(D) B8

FNRERELFEY
ZEPNTE

FRASRBESEFEN

iR e MBI R R TSI
NRITHESRR SR

B IHEE XS
BITREGRREIR

2019 2018
—Z2-hE —N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETTT
972 330
(1,875) 911)

= 55

46,117 -
(6,763) 326
(1,984) =
36,467 (200)
(2,867) =

= (47,098)

(1,250) (1,094)
(86,768) (89,642)
26,853 122,410
(64,032) (15,424)
9,220 (61,248)
138,743 193,982
10,305 6,009
158,268 138,743
112,151 138,681
46,117 62
158,268 138,743




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GENERAL

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as
an exempted company with limited liability and its shares
are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”).

The Company acts as an investment holding company.
The principal activities of its subsidiaries are investment
holding, manufacture and sale of paper converting
equipment and other relating equipment, eCommerce,
provision of internet education services and money
lending.

For the prior year up to 12 April 2019 (“Disposal date”),
the Group was engaged in manufacturing and sale of
advance steel flow control products. Detail of the disposal
was set out in Note 49.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB”), which is also the functional currency of
the Company.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for certain financial
instruments that are measured at fair values at the end of
each reporting period. Historical cost is generally based
on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for
goods.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

The Group has applied the following new and amendments
to HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA for the first time in the
current year:

HKFRS 16 Leases

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation

Amendments to HKAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement

Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates and
Joint Ventures

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs

2015-2017 Cycle

Except as described below, the application of the new and
amendments to HKFRSs in the current period has had
no material impact on the Group’s financial performance
and positions for the current and prior periods and/or
on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (continued)

Impacts and changes in accounting policies of
application on HKFRS 16 Leases

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 for the first time in the
current year. HKFRS 16 superseded HKAS 17 Leases
(“HKAS 17”), and the related interpretations.

Definition of a lease

The Group has elected the practical expedient to apply
HKFRS 16 to contracts that were previously identified as
leases applying HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 Determining
whether an Arrangement contains a Lease and not apply
this standards to contracts that were not previously
identified as containing a lease. Therefore, the Group has
not reassessed contracts which already existed prior to
the date of initial application.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after 1
January 2019, the Group applies the definition of a lease
in accordance with the requirements set out in HKFRS 16
in assessing whether a contract contains a lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (continued)

Impacts and changes in accounting policies of
application on HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)

As a lessee

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 retrospectively with
the cumulative effect recognised at the date of initial
application, 1 January 2019. Any difference at the date
of initial application is recognised in the opening retained
profits and comparative information has not been restated.

When applying the modified retrospective approach under
HKFRS 16 at transition, the Group applied the following
practical expedients to leases previously classified as
operating leases under HKAS 17, on lease-by-lease basis,
to the extent relevant to the respective lease contracts:

i. relied on the assessment of whether leases are
onerous by applying HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets as an alternative of
impairment review;

ii. elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities for leases with lease term ends within
12 months of the date of initial application;

On transition, the Group has made the following
adjustments upon application of HKFRS 16:

The Group recognised lease liabilities of approximately
RMB1,946,000 and right-of-use assets of approximately
RMB2,198,000 at 1 January 2019.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (continued)

Impacts and changes in accounting policies of
application on HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)

As a lessee (continued)

When recognising the lease liabilities for leases previously
classified as operating leases, the Group has applied
incremental borrowing rates of the relevant group entities
at the date of initial application. The lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate applied is from 1.58% to 2.88%.
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Less: Recognition exemption — short-term leases i : FEREA %R — EHATHE (1,304)
1,976

Lease liabilities discounted at relevant incremental 1248315 & &3 A KALIE A9

borrowing rates HEEE 1,976
Less: Total future interest expenses W ARIRA B AR5 (30)
Lease liabilities at 1 January 2019 RZE—NF—HA—HZHEEERE 1,946
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 3.

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (continued)

Impacts and changes in accounting policies of
application on HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)

As a lessee (continued)

The carrying amount of right-of-use assets as at 1 January
2019 comprises the following:

By class biee =Wl
Prepaid lease payments JEFHE K E
Leasehold buildings HEEF

Transition to HKFRS 16 does not have impact on
accumulated losses at 1 January 2019.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLEEKZRERAR

FERMTEEM B EELER
(FEMBEHEEEN]) RE
fE5T (#8)

RAEFERFERNHITEBUE
BEENREET (&)

BB BB LA E6HEE
HBHBENTERED (8)

TERAEBA ()

R-ZE-NEFE—-—A-—HNEAREE
ERMESEA TSR

RMB’000
ARBETT

252
1,946

2,198

R=Z-NF—A-ABEEEHS
B 95 4 AU 16K Y B BB

B 48R
mEE .



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (continued)

Impacts and changes in accounting policies of
application on HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)

As a lessee (continued)

The following adjustments were made to the amounts
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position at 1 January 2019. Line items that were not
affected by the changes have not been included.
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NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs IN
ISSUE BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HKFRS 17
Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKAS 8

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

U Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2021

2 Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions
for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of
the first annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2020

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to
be determined

& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2020

The directors of the Company consider that the application
of all new and amendments to HKFRSs and HKASs
is unlikely to have a material impact on the Group’s
financial position and performance as well as disclosure in

foreseeable future.

Insurance Contracts'
Definition of a Business?

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or
Joint Venture®

Definition of Material*

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform*

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In
addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange and by the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for certain financial
instruments that are measured at fair values at the end of
each reporting period.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes
in these consolidated financial statements is determined
on such a basis, except for share-based payment
transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2, leasing
transactions that are accounted for in accordance with
HKFRS 16 (since 1 January 2019) or HKAS 17 (before
application of HKFRS 16) Leases, and measurements that
have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value,
such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 “Inventories” or
value in use in HKAS 36 “Impairment of assets”.
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£170

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset
or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is
achieved when the Company:

o has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from
the date the Group gains control until the date when the
Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is
carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition
of the business (see the accounting policy above) less
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units
(or groups of cash-generating units) that is expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently when there is indication that the unit may be
impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss
is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets
of the unit on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying
amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss
for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in
subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the
attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.

Revenue recognition

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when
it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to
the Group and the amount of income can be measured
reliably. Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by
reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective
interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts through
the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net
carrying amount on initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15

Nature of goods or services

The nature of the goods or services provided by the Group
is as follows:

o manufacturing and sales of paper converting
equipment and other relating equipment

° eCommerce
o internet eduction services
Identification of performance obligations

At contract inception, the Group assesses the goods
or services promised in a contract with a customer and
identifies as a performance obligation each promise to
transfer to the customer either:

a good or service (or a bundle of goods or services)
that is distinct; or

ii. a series of distinct goods or services that are
substantially the same and that have the same
pattern of transfer to the customer.

A good or service that is promised to a customer is
distinct if both of the following criteria are met:

the customer can benefit from the good or service
either on its own or together with other resources
that are readily available to the customer (i.e. the
good or service is capable of being distinct); and

ii. the Group’s promise to transfer the good or service
to the customer is separately identifiable from other
promises in the contract (i.e. the promise to transfer
the good or service is distinct within the context of
the contract).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15
(continued)

Timing of revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when (or as) the Group satisfies
a performance obligation by transferring a promised
good or service (i.e. an asset) to a customer. An asset is
transferred when (or as) the customer obtains control of
that asset.

The Group transfers control of a good or service over
time and, therefore, satisfies a performance obligation
and recognises revenue over time, if one of the following
criteria is met:

i the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

ii. the Group’s performance creates or enhances
an asset (for example, work in progress) that
the customer controls as the asset is created or
enhanced; or

ii. the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

If a performance obligation is not satisfied over time, the
Group satisfies the performance obligation at a point in
time when the customer obtains control of the promised
asset. In determining when the transfer of control occurs,
the Group considers the concept of control and such
indicators as legal title, physical possession, right to
payment, significant risks and rewards of ownership of the
asset, and customer acceptance.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15
(continued)

Timing of revenue recognition (continued)

Sale of sales of paper converting equipment and other
relating equipment and eCommerce are recognised at a
point in time at which the customer obtains the control
of the promised asset, which generally coincides with the
time when the goods are delivered to customers and the
title is passed.

Service income from internet education services are
recognised over time when services are rendered.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held for
use in the production or supply of goods or services, or
for administrative purpose, are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost, less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets less their residual values over their useful lives,
using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives,
residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an
item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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5.

F176

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leasing

Under HKAS 17 (prior to 1 January 2019)

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified
as operating leases.

The Group as lessee

Assets held under finance leases are initially recognised as
assets of the Group at their fair value at the inception of
the lease or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum
lease payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor
is included in the consolidated statements of financial
position as obligations under finance leases. Lease
payments are apportioned between finance expenses
and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a
constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the
liability. Finance expenses are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter
into operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a
liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised
as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leasing (continued)

Upon the adoption of HKFRS 16 on 1 January 2019

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the
date of initial application, the Group assesses whether
a contract is or contains a lease based on the definition
under HKFRS 16 at inception or modification date. Such
contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and
conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.

As a lessee

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of leasehold properties that have a
lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase option.

Lease payments on short-term leases are recognised as
an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets

Except for short-term leases, the Group recognises
right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the
lease (i.e. the date the underlying asset is available for
use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leasing (continued)

Upon the adoption of HKFRS 16 on 1 January 2019
(continued)

As a lessee (continued)

Right-of-use assets (continued)

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received; and

° any initial direct costs incurred by the Group.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term is depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful
life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leasing (continued)

Upon the adoption of HKFRS 16 on 1 January 2019
(continued)

As a lessee (continued)

Lease liabilities (continued)

The lease payments include fixed lease payments
(including in-substance fixed payments).

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the
consolidated statements of financial position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing
the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability
(using the effective interest method) and by reducing the
carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made.

The Group remeasures the lease liability (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use asset)
whenever:

° the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option,
in which case the lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment;

o the lease payments change due to changes in
expected payment under a guaranteed residual
value, in which cases the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate.

B B ISR R M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hE+_A=+—HLEE

FEEMHBR (8)

HE (&)

R-FE—NF—H—AERNE B
B ERIE 16512 (&)

TERABA (8)
HEAE ()

HENHBRETHEENR (BRE
BHREEM)

HERBESAMBAREKT 2T
REFEAR -

HEBBRERRAEEREENRRBR
HEAGBMNE (RAERMNER) &
12 S8R AR B DA R BR PR R AR E A
R T HETE -

WHBRATER  AEEEHTE
HERE (UERBEREEEEL
MHERE)

s HEHAMEIXITEEER
BRENFGEEAERL  E1E
wT - HEREEBRARE
ettt A EERTRRRE
RERGIERTHE N KM EH T

=

=

s MENFEBEFRFKEET
BHNRESMHRE &
HERT - HEEEREES
RA VA RE IR KRR EERTHE
ENHMEHTE ©

Annual Report 2019 . 179"._
—E-hEFH -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B IS R R Y R

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hEFE+_A=+—HLEE

5.

£ 180 :

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and
recognised separately from goodwill are initially recognised
at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded
as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets
acquired in a business combination with finite useful lives
are reported at costs less accumulated amortisation and
any accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as
intangible assets that are acquired separately. Amortisation
for intangible assets with finite useful lives is recognised
on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when
no future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition of
an intangible asset, measured as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Retirement benefits costs

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit schemes
and the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are recognised
as an expense when employees have rendered service
entitling them to the contributions.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from “profit before tax” as
reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income because of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax base used in the computation of taxable
profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are
generally recognised for all deductible temporary difference
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition of assets and liabilities
in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor
the accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition of goodwill.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Taxation (continued)
Deferred tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to
utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they
are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax for the year

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.
Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is
included in the accounting for the business combination.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Costs of inventories are calculated
using the weighted-average method. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price for inventories less
all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to
make the sale.

Research and development costs

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from
development activities (or from the development phase of
an internal project) is recognised if, and only if, all of the
following have been demonstrated:

o the technical feasibility of completing the intangible
asset so that it will be available for use or sale;

° the intention to complete the intangible asset and
use or sell it;

° the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

° how the intangible asset will generate probable future
economic benefits;

° the availability of adequate technical, financial and
other resources to complete the development and to
use or sell the intangible asset; and

o the ability to measure reliably the expenditure
attributable to the intangible asset during its
development.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Research and development costs (continued)

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated
intangible asset is the sum of the expenditure incurred
from the date when the intangible asset first meets the
recognition criteria listed above. Where no internally-
generated intangible asset can be recognised,
development expenditure is recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated
intangible assets are reported at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, on
the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired
separately.

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets other
than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible assets and intangible
assets to determine whether there is any indication that
those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss (if any). When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate
assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating
units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be identified.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets other
than goodwill (continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future
cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit)
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset (or a cash-generating unit) in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial assets
Classification of financial assets

Investments in equity securities (other than investments in
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures)

An investment in equity securities is measured fair value
on initial recognition. An investment in equity securities is
subsequently measured at FVTPL unless the investment is
designated as at fair value through other comprehensive
income (FVTOCI) as at date of initial application of
HKFRS 9 based on the specific transitional provisions
set out in HKFRS 9. Under HKFRS 9, an investment in
equity securities can be designated as at FVTOCI on
an instrument-by-instrument basis provided that the
investment is neither held-for-trading nor contingent
consideration recognised by the Group in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 applies.

For investments in equity securities designated as
at FVTOCI (as described above), fair value changes
are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the “FVTOCI (equity investment) reserve”.
Such fair value changes will not be reclassified to profit
or loss when the investments are derecognised. However,
they will be transferred to the Group’s retained earnings
when the investments are derecognised.

For investments in equity securities that are held-for-trading
or not designated as at FVTOCI (as described above), they
are subsequently measured at fair value through profit or
loss (FVTPL) such that changes in fair value are recognised
in profit or loss.

An investment is equity securities is derecognised when
the Group sells the investment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Classification of financial assets (continued)
Investments in debt securities

An investment in debt securities is classified as follows
depending on the instruments’ contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for
managing the investment:

° Amortised cost when (a) the contractual terms of
the asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows
that are solely payment of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding and (b) the
financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by collecting contractual cash
flows.

° FVTOCI when (a) the contractual terms of the asset
give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payment of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding and (b) the financial
asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both collecting contractual
cash flows and selling the financial asset.

° FVTPL when either (a) the contractual terms of the
asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that
are not solely payment of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding or (b) the financial
asset is held within a business whose objective is
neither (i) collecting contractual cash flows nor (ii)
collecting contractual cash flows and selling the
financial asset.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Classification of financial assets (continued)
Investments in debt securities (continued)

For investments in debt securities subsequently measured
at FVTOCI, fair value changes are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the “FVTOCI
(debt investment) reserve” except for impairment loss (see
below) and foreign exchange gains or losses. Interest
income is calculated using the effective interest method
and is recognised in profit or loss. When an investment
in debt securities is derecognised, the fair value changes
previously recognised in other comprehensive income are
reclassified from equity to profit or loss as a reclassification
adjustment.

An investment is debt securities is derecognised when the
Group sells the investment or when the contractual rights
to the cash flows from the asset expire.

Transaction costs

Transaction costs directly attributable for the acquisition of
financial assets (other than those classified or designated
as at FVTPL) are included in the initial measurement of
the financial assets. For financial assets subsequently
measured at amortised cost, such transaction costs are
included in the calculation of amortised cost using the
effective interest method (i.e. in effect amortised through
profit or loss over the lives of the financial assets).
For investments in equity securities at FVTOCI, such
transaction costs are recognised in other comprehensive
income as part of change in fair value at the next
remeasurement. For investments in debt securities
classified as FVTOCI, such transaction costs are amortised
to profit or loss using the effective interest method (i.e. in
effect amortised through profit or loss over the lives of the
financial assets).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment on financial assets

The Group has applied the expected credit loss model
under HKFRS 9 to the following types of financial assets:

° financial assets that are subsequently measured at
amortised cost (including cash and cash equivalents
and trade receivables);

o contract assets as defined in HKFRS 15; and

o investments in debt securities that are subsequently
measured at FVTOCI;

Expected credit loss (ECL) of a financial asset is measured
based on an unbiased and probability-weighted amount.
It also reflects the time value of money and reasonable
and supportable information that is available to the Group
without undue cost or effect at the reporting date about
past events, current conditions and forecasts of future
economic conditions. The maximum period considered
when estimating ECL is the maximum contractual period
over which the Group is exposed to credit risk.

ECL is measured on either of the following bases:

o 12-month expected credit loss when, at the reporting
date, the credit risk on a financial asset has not
increased significantly since initial recognition; and

° Lifetime expected credit loss when (a) at the
reporting date, the credit risk on a financial asset has
increased significantly since initial recognition; or (b)
at the reporting date, the financial asset has become
credit-impaired.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment on financial assets (continued)

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial asset
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the
Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial asset as at the reporting date with the risk of
a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
date of initial recognition and considers quantitative and
qualitative reasonable and supportable information that is
available to the Group without undue cost or effort, that is
indicative of significant increases in credit risk since initial
recognition.

Specifically, the following information has been taken into
account in assessing whether the credit risk on a financial
asset has significantly increased since initial recognition:

o Significant changes in internal price indicators of
credit risk as a result of a change in credit risk since
inception.

o Significant changes in terms of existing financial
assets if the asset was newly originated or issued at
the reporting date.

o Significant changes in external market indicators
of credit risk for a particular financial instrument or
similar financial instruments with the same expected
life.

o An actual or expected significant change in the
financial instrument’s external credit rating.

o An actual or expected internal credit rating
downgrade for the borrower or decrease in
behavioural scoring used to assess credit risk
internally.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment on financial assets (continued)

° Existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant change in the borrower’s ability
to meet its debt obligations (e.g. actual or expected
increase in interest rates or an actual or expected
significant increase in unemployment rates).

° Actual or expected significant change in the
operating results of the borrower.

o Significant change in the quality of guarantee
provided.

o Contractual cash flows are more than 30 days past
due.

In making the abovementioned assessment, the Group
considers that a default occurs when (a) it is unlikely that
the borrower will be able to settle his/her debts in full and
(b) the financial asset is more than 90 days past due.

ECL is remeasured at the end of each reporting period
to reflect changes in financial asset’s credit risk since
initial recognition. Changes in ECL are recognised in
profit or loss with the corresponding adjustment to the
carrying amount of the asset through a loss allowance
account, except for investments in debt securities
that are subsequently measured at FVTOCI for which
the corresponding adjustment is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in “FVTOCI (debt
investment) reserve”.

For trade receivables and contract assets without
significant financing component, ECL is always measured
at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment on financial assets (continued)

At the end of each of the reporting period, the Group
assesses whether its financial assets have become credit
impaired.

The Group directly reduces the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset when the Group has no reasonable
expectations of recovering a financial asset in its entirety
or a portion thereof. This is generally the time when the
Group assesses and concludes that the debtor is unable
to settle the debts in full or part of the debts.

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. The Group
has an unconditional right to receive consideration when
only the passage of time is required before payment of the
consideration is due.

For the Group’s trade receivables, ECL is always measured
at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses. In
particular, ECL is estimated using a provision of matrix
based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for (a) information that is specific to particular
debtors and (b) forward-looking information based on
the current and forecast general economic conditions
available to the Group without undue cost or effort at the
reporting date. ECL is recognised in profit or loss with the
corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of the
trade receivables through a loss allowance account.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Trade and other receivables (continued)

The Group directly reduces the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset when the Group has no reasonable
expectations of recovering a financial asset in its entirety
or a portion thereof. This is generally the time when the
Group assesses and concludes that the debtor is unable
to settle the debts in full or part of the debts.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that the
Group has transferred to a customer when that right is
conditioned on something other than the passage of time.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the
Group has received consideration from the customer.

For a single contract with a customer, either a net contract
asset or a net contract liability is presented. Contracts
assets and contract liabilities arising from unrelated
multiple contracts are not presented on a net basis.

For the Group’s contract assets, ECL is always measured
at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses. In
particular, ECL is estimated using a provision of matrix
based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for (a) information that is specific to particular
customers available and (b) forward-looking information
based on the current and forecast general economic
conditions at the reporting date. ECL is recognised in
profit or loss with the corresponding adjustment to the
carrying amount of the contract assets through a loss
allowance account.

The Group directly reduces the gross carrying amount
of a contract asset when the Group has no reasonable
expectations of recovering a contract asset in its entirety
or a portion thereof. This is generally the time when the
Group assesses and concludes that the Group is unable
to recover the costs.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities, depending
on the purpose for which the liabilities were incurred.
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are
initially measured at fair value and financial liabilities at
amortised costs are initially measured at fair value, net of
directly attributable costs incurred.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
include financial liabilities held for trading and financial
liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value
through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they
are acquired for the purpose of sale in the near term.
Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives,
are also classified as held for trading unless they are
designated as effective hedging instruments. Gains or
losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in profit
or loss.

Where a contract contains one or more embedded
derivatives, the entire hybrid contract may be designated
as a financial liability at fair value through profit or
loss, except where the embedded derivative does not
significantly modify the cash flows or it is clear that
separation of the embedded derivative is prohibited.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
(Continued)

Financial liabilities may be designated upon initial
recognition as at fair value through profit or loss if the
following criteria are met: (i) the designation eliminates or
significantly reduces the inconsistent treatment that would
otherwise arise from measuring the liabilities or recognising
gains or losses on them on a different basis; (i) the
liabilities are part of a group of financial liabilities which are
managed and their performance evaluated on a fair value
basis, in accordance with a documented risk management
strategy; or (iii) the financial liability contains an embedded
derivative that would need to be separately recorded.

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss are measured at fair value, with
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they arise.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including trade and
other payables, borrowings, certain preference shares
and the debt element of convertible loan note issued by
the Group are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method. The related interest
expense is recognised in profit or loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
amortisation process.
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5.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)
Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income or interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or
payments through the expected life of the financial asset
or liability, or where appropriate, a shorter period.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded
at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Derecognition

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled
or expires.

Where the Group issues its own equity instruments to a
creditor to settle a financial liability in whole or in part as a
result of renegotiating the terms of that liability, the equity
instruments issued are the consideration paid and are
recognised initially and measured at their fair value on the
date the financial liability or part thereof is extinguished. If
the fair value of the equity instruments issued cannot be
reliably measured, the equity instruments are measured to
reflect the fair value of the financial liability extinguished.
The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability or part thereof extinguished and the
consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss for the
year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
the directors of the Company are required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
underlying assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at
the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

In applying the accounting policy on property, plant and
equipment with respect to depreciation, management
estimates the useful lives of various categories of
property, plant and equipment according to the industrial
experiences over the usage of property, plant and
equipment and also by reference to the relevant industrial
norm. If the actual useful lives of property, plant and
equipment are less than the original estimated useful
lives due to changes in commercial and technological
environment, such difference will impact the depreciation
charge for the remaining periods.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B IS R R Y R

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hEFE+_A=+—HLEE

£ 198

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Loss allowance for ECL

The Group’s management estimates the loss allowance
for trade receivables and loan receivable based on risk
of a default and expected loss rate. The assessment of
the credit risk involves high degree of estimation and
uncertainty as the Group’s management estimates the
risk of a default and expected loss rate for applying
provision matrix on debtors based on the Group’s
historical information, existing market conditions as well
as forward looking estimates at the end of each reporting
period. Where the expectation is different from the original
estimate, such difference will impact the carrying amount
of trade receivables. For details of the key assumption and
inputs used in estimating ECL, please refer to Note 8(b) to
the consolidated financial statements.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than
goodwill)

The Group assesses each cash-generating unit annually
to determine whether any indication of impairment exists.
When an indicator of impairment exists, a formal estimate
of the recoverable amount is made, which is considered
to be the higher of the fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. The carrying amount of the property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets are reviewed
for impairment when events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable
in accordance with the accounting policy as disclosed
in the relevant part of this section. Estimating the value
in use requires the Group to estimate future cash flows
from the cash generating units and to choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of
those cash flows.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Estimated allowance of inventories

The Group makes allowance for inventories based on
an assessment of the net realisable value of inventories.
Allowances are applied to inventories where events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the net realisable
value is lower than the cost of inventories. The identification
of obsolete inventories requires the use of judgment
and estimates on the conditions and marketability of the
inventories. Where the subsequent selling prices decline
or increase in costs of completion and those necessary to
make the sales, additional allowance may arise.

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an
estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating units
to which goodwill has been allocated. The value in use
calculation requires management to estimate the future
cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating
units and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate
present value.

Fair value measurement of financial instruments

The Group uses valuation techniques for financial
instruments which are not quoted in an active market.
Valuation techniques include the use of discounted cash
flows analysis, comparable listed company method,
option pricing models or other valuation methods as
appropriate. In practical applications, only observable
data are used in the models. However, areas such as
credit risk of the Group and the counterparty, volatilities
and correlations require management to make estimates.
Changes in assumptions about these factors could affect
the estimated fair value of the financial instruments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B IS R R Y R

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hEFE+_A=+—HLEE

£ 200

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Control over a subsidiary

The Group’s management needs to assess whether the
Group has the power over Wowxue and is exposed to
significant variable return of Wowxue. If such power and
exposure exist, the Group should consolidate Wowxue. The
judgments the Group used in determining if it has control
over Wowxue detailed in Note 46 Interests in consolidated
Wowxue.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that the entities
in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of cash and
cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the
Company, comprising share capital, reserves and retained
profits.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
on a continuous basis taking into account the cost of
capital and the risks associate with the capital. The Group
will balance its overall capital structure through payment
of dividends, new share issues as well as the issue of new
debt, if necessary.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

8. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(@)

(b)

Categories of financial instruments

ERRE

Financial assets
Amortised cost
Financial assets at fair

value through profit or loss EREE
Financial liabilities SMAR
Amortised cost B SRR
Financial liabilities at fair value BRAFEFABRRZZ
through profit or loss AR

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
trade receivables, loan receivables, other receivables,
restricted bank deposits, bank balances and cash,
trade and bill payables, other payables, lease
liabilities, promissory notes and bank and other
borrowings. Details of these financial instruments are
disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated
with these financial instruments include market risk
(price risk, currency risk and interest rate risk), credit
risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate
these risks are set out below. The management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely
and effective manner.

8.

BAYEFARSEZ

B B ISR R M R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B IS R R Y R

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hEFE+_A=+—HLEE

8. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Market risk

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risks of changes in
market interest rates related primarily to the Group’s

loan receivables with floating interest rates.

The table set out below demonstrates the sensitivity
to a reasonably possible change in interest rates in
the current year, with all other variable held constant,
of the Group’s loss before tax (through the impact on

floating rate borrowings).

2019
RMB
RMB

2018
RMB
RMB

1202 mpmmEmaRERAR

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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(b) SREAREEZEHREE
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s ER
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2 HE) HRIENABT R
SRHHBE -

Increase/ Decrease/
(decrease) in (Increase) in
basis points loss before tax
EEB58 AR
(WD) WY (18m)

RMB’000

ARETIT
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(50) (123)
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(50) (90)




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

8. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through
its investment in listed equity securities and financial
derivatives. Management manages this exposure
by maintaining a portfolio of investments with
different risks. The Group’s equity price risk is mainly
concentrated on equity instruments quoted in the
TSX Venture Exchange.

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to equity price risks at the
reporting date.

If the prices of the respective equity instruments had
been 10% (2018: Nil) higher/lower, loss for the year
would decrease/increase by RMB93,000 (2018: nil)
as a result of the changes in fair value of investment
in listed equity securities.

B B ISR R M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019
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B B IS R R Y R

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hEFE+_A=+—HLEE

8.

{204

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk

As at 31 December 2019, the credit risk of the
Group is primarily attributable to trade and other
receivables, loan receivables and bank balances.

i The Group has no significant concentrations
of credit risk. The carrying amounts of trade
and other receivables and cash and cash
equivalents represent the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk in relation to financial
assets. As at 31 December 2019 and 2018,
all bank balances were deposited in reputable
financial institutions and were hence without
significant credit risk. Management does not
expect any losses from non-performance by
these counterparties. Credit sales are made to
selected customers with good credit history.
The Group has policies in place to ensure that
outstanding trade receivables are collected
on a timely basis. Trade receivables are
subject to the expected credit loss model. The
Group applies HKFRS 9 simplified approach
to measuring expected credit losses which
uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for
all trade receivables from initial recognition.
To measure the expected credit losses, trade
receivables have been grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics and the days
past due. The expected loss rates are based
on the historical payment profiles of sales
and the corresponding historical credit losses
experienced. The historical loss rates are
adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking
information on factors affecting the ability of the
customers to settle the receivables.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B ISR R M R

8. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The credit quality of the other receivables
excluding deposits and prepayments have
been assessed with reference to historical
information about the counterparties default
rates and financial position of the counterparties.
The directors are of the opinion that the
expected credit loss of other receivables was
approximately RMB5,442,000 (2018: Nil).

In respect of loan receivables, the Group has
adopted procedures in extending credit terms
to loan borrowers and in monitoring its credit
risk. The credit policy on extending credit terms
to loan borrowers includes assessing and
evaluating loan borrowers’ creditworthiness and
financial standing. Management also closely
monitors all outstanding debts and reviews the
collectability of loan receivables periodically.

The Group adopts a loan risk classification
approach to manage its loan receivables
portfolio risk. Loan receivables are categorised
into the following stages by the Group:

Stage 1

Loan receivables have not experienced
a significant increase in credit risk since
origination and impairment are recognised on
the basis of 12 months expected credit losses
(12-month ECLs).

For the year ended 31 December 2019
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B B IS R R Y R

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hEFE+_A=+—HLEE

8. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 8. &MIA (#)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) SREKBEEZBHREE
policies (continued) (&)
Credit risk (continued) EERERE (&)
Stage 2 EoPEER

{206

Loan receivables have experienced a significant
increase in credit risk since origination and
impairment is recognised on the basis of
lifetime expected credit losses (Lifetime ECLs
non credit-impaired).

Stage 3

Loan receivables that are in default and
considered credit impaired (Lifetime ECLs
credit-impaired). The Group applies the new
ECL model to measure the impairment loss
of the loans and advances to customers. The
Group assessed that there is significant loss
allowance recognised in accordance with
HKFRS 9 as at 31 December 2019.

When a certain number of customers undertake
the same business activities, stay in the
same geographical locations, or bear similar
economic features for their industries, their
ability to fulfil contracts will be affected by the
same economic changes. Concentration of
credit risk reflects the sensitivity of the Group’s
operating results to a particular industry or
geographic location. As the Group mainly
conducts microfinance business in Hong Kong,
a certain level of geographical concentration
risk exists for its loan portfolios in that it
might be affected by changes of economic
conditions.
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B B ISR R M R

8. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Stage 3 (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, 15% (2018:
26%) and 59% (2018: 62%) of the total loan
receivables was due from the Group’s largest
borrower and the five largest borrowers
respectively.

The maximum exposure to credit risk of loan
receivables for each stage is represented by the
net carrying amount of each type of financial
assets as at the end of the reporting periods.
The details are set out in Note 29 to these
financial statements.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s

exposure to credit risk arising from loans business

are disclosed in Note 6 to these financial statements.

The credit risk on pledged bank deposits
and bank balances is limited because the
counterparties are mainly banks with high credit
ratings assigned by international credit-rating
agencies.

For the year ended 31 December 2019
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B B IS R R Y R

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hEFE+_A=+—HLEE

8.

{208

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 8. &#MTIHA (&)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) EEEREEZBHRBER
policies (continued) (&)
Liquidity risk B E LR
In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group RERRDESRERME * &
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash SEHERRERBERERRR
equivalents deemed adequate by the management WENASBLEEZRES R
to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the SEEYWKT - UERFERS
effects of fluctuations in cash flows. MERBHTE -
The following table details the Group’s remaining TRFINAEE ZIEITER M
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial BEZHTEHEEA - Tk
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on the BBEREEBERENK &R
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based BfizeRBERMBERESR
on the earliest date on which the Group can be ERE -
required to pay.
Weighted More than
average On demand 1 year Total
effective ~ or less than but less than  undiscounted
interest rate 3 months Within 5 years cash flows Carrying
Ty BREXY 1 year BliE KER amounts
KR i3ER 1£f BORsE  REKEEE R
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
% ARETT ARETT AREFT AREFT AREFT
As at 31 December 2019 RoE-NE
+ZBZ+-H
Trade payables BAEEE - 1,451 - - 1,451 1,451
Other payables RApRRFE - 12,569 - - 12,569 12,569
Lease liabilties HERE 2.59 - 2,73 595 3,331 3,280
Bank and other bomowings ~ {TREMES 50 = 21,859 = 21,859 26,952
Promissory notes EREE 1.93 - 46,570 295,556 342,126 335,642
84,020 11,165 296,151 457,336 449,804
Asat 31 December 2018 RZB-/\E
+ZAZ+-H
Trade payables B AR - 69,061 = - 69,061 69,061
Other payables HipRRE - 3,680 - - 3,689 3,689
Bank and other borrowings ~ FTREMEE 473 - 90,59 - 90,59 86,502
Promissory notes Ai5E 5.05 - - 249,004 249,004 287,056
72,750 90,59 249,024 412,310 396,308

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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8. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

()

Fair values measurements of financial
instruments

The following table presents financial liabilities
measured at fair value in the statement of financial
position in accordance with the fair value hierarchy.
The hierarchy groups financial liabilities into three
levels based on the relative reliability of significant
inputs used in measuring the fair value of these
financial liabilities. The fair value hierarchy has the
following levels:

- Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets and liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

- Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices
included within Level 1 that are observable
for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as
prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices);
and

- Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that

are not based on observable market data

(unobservable inputs).

The level in fair value hierarchy within which the
financial liability is categorised in its entirety is based
on the lowest level of input that is significant to the
fair value measurement.

B B ISR R M R
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e M BRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hEFE+_A=+—HLEE

8. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

()

£ 210

Fair values measurements of financial

instruments (continued)

At 31 December 2019 and 2018, the financial

assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the

consolidated statement of financial position are

grouped into the fair value hierarchy as follows:

Financial assets at
31 December 2019
Financial asset at
fair value through
profit or loss

Financial liabilities at
31 December 2019
Contingent consideration

payable

Financial liabilities at
31 December 2018
Contingent consideration

payable

R-B-N¥+=R
Zt—-HzemRE

BAFEFARRZ
TREE

R-B-L¥+ZA
=t—RzemAR
ENSAKE

R-2B-N\¥+ZR
=t—-HZeMAR
ENHARE

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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8. ®£MTIA ()

(c) &BMIAZATEFE (F)
RZE-—NER_T—N\F+
ZA=+—8 ' REETBKRK
REAREAFEFEZEHME
ERAERAFEERZHHE
M

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E— St BER 5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETr ARETT ARETR
536 475 - 1,011

- - 39,068 39,068

- - 108,402 108,402
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B ISR R M R

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

()

Fair values measurements of financial
instruments (continued)

Financial assets/liabilities Fair value as at

SURE/ AR RUTEEZAFE
2019 2018
ZE-NE “E-0\E

=

Listed equity securities A

at FVTPL

Listed equity securities of Ellipsiz N

Gommunications Ltd.

- communications services and
solutions - RMB536,000

For the year ended 31 December 2019

8. &MTIHA (&)

()

Fair value
hierarchy

DFERE

Level 1

%ﬂ‘ﬂ
=

Level 2

RATE AR Z ETRA Elipsiz Communications Lid. NER

25 L ERAES

- BARBRBANE - ARK
536,0007T

Derivative financial assets  Assets RMB475,000 N/A
TEeRAE B ARB475,0001T ER
Contingent consideration ~ Liabilities RMB39,068,000 Liabilities RMB108,402,000 Level 3

payable
ERFARE £ & AR 739,068,0007C B & AR108,402,0007C

There were no transfers between Level 1 and 2
during the year (2018: Nil).

#=h

BHE_ZT-IWF+-_A=+—HLFE

EMITAZNFETE (F)

Valuation techniques
and key inputs
HEREREERARE

Quoted bid prices in an
active market

RETSARLEAE

Binomial option pricing
model

“EABEERRS

Binomial option pricing
model

ZHA R ER

Significant
unobservable inputs

EXATRRBARE

=
=

A

MR

Expected volatility of
12% (2018: 13%)

TR 2%
(ZF-/\% 1 13%)

RER - F—REE _RZHE
WEBELEER (ZT—N\F:

&) o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B IS R R Y R

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hEFE+_A=+—HLEE

f212;

REVENUE 9. KA
An analysis of revenue is as follows: WABI AT :
2018
—E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000

Revenue from contracts with customers Z& 8 ¥ IR & % QI 551558 &0 &
within the scope of HKFRS 15, AZBFEHWA REE
disaggregated by major products or EmERBEED)
services lines:

AR®TRT ARETT

Revenue from sales of goods HEERZWA 281,766 194,316
Revenue from provision of internet REREEHMBHE RS
education services 0N 28,962 24,571
310,728 218,887
Revenue from other sources outside EBIEREERE155
the scope of HKFRS 15: & [E SN 2 BRI -
Revenue from money lending business & B MEZE KW A 16,218 18,911
326,946 237,798

Note: Revenue from sales of goods is recognised at a point in Biat -
time and revenue from provision of internet education
services is recognised over time.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLEEKZRERAR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

10. OPERATING SEGMENTS

HKFRS 8 “Operating segments” requires operating
segments to be identified on the basis of internal reports
about components of the Group that are regularly reviewed
by the chief operating decision maker (the executive
directors) (“CODM”) in order to allocate resources to

segments and to assess their performance.

The Group’s operating activities are attributable to five
operating segments focusing on: i) the manufacture and
sale of paper converting equipment and other relating
equipment; ii) money lending; iij eCommerce; and iv)
internet education services. These operating segments
have been identified on the basis of internal management
reports prepared in accordance with accounting policies
which conform to HKFRSs, that are regularly reviewed by

the CODM.

On 12 April 2019, the manufacture and sale of advanced
steel flow control products segment was disposed of.

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and
results by reportable and operating segments:

10.

B B ISR R M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hE+_A=+—HLEE

EERE

ERBUBHRE LB [KLED
BB 25k - HEREE DR B AR
SEEMNERB ARSI BER
HAE ;A#migii&ﬁ* 757 HA H
FTEZEREE (BT %)(fi;z
%@km%ﬁ%ﬁ UASE 3% 7 20
TEIRD BL KRR -

>ﬁ1t

1 [ 4% 4% 4

AEBZEREEHERDELED
BB BER )V REREERRNT
R M E AR R ¢ )RUE ;i)E
FRE% RivEBBRE RS - %
FREDBNENT B LU

SREAZ A BRABHZNEE
BREMmBER - XAETBEERR

EEHImET -

TZ-NAFHA+=—H HER

fﬁﬁﬁlﬁﬁfﬂﬂqlmué MAOEEHE °
RO ZHRREE D %B%U a0 NESE]
WA REESITWT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B IS R R Y R

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hEFE+_A=+—HLEE

10. OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued) 10. EE 980 ()

DEBRA R E A&

Segment revenue and results

BE_Z—NEF+-A=+—HL
F£E

For the year ended 31 December 2019

Continuing operations

FREERE

Manufacture

and sale

of paper

converting

equipment

and other Internet
relating Money education

equipment lending eCommerce services Consolidated

RiER

HERE

IR

REf

R
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000
AEBTT AR®TT ARBTE AE®TT ARWTxR
Revenue WA 40,086 16,218 241,680 28,962 326,946
Gross profit £ 7,831 14,098 30,688 28,721 81,338
Segment profit/(loss) AEEF/(BR) (8,357) (35,524) 3,158 24,140 (16,583)
Unallocated corporate income A AEARUA 932
Unallocated corporate expenses  APEAAIFX (127,815)
Loss before taxation BRATEE (143,466)

D24 mpmEmeRERAR

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

10. OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued)

Segment revenue and results (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2018

Revenue

Gross profit

Segment profit/(loss)

Unallocated corporate income
Unallocated corporate expenses

Loss before taxation

LON

el

AEHEN /(BR)

B B ISR R M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hE+_A=+—HLEE

10. EE ST (48)

DEBARRE (&)

BE_ZT-/\F+-_A=1+—HIt

FE
Continuing operations
HERER
Manufacture
and sale
of paper
converting
equipment
and other Internet
relating Money education
equipment lending  eCommerce services  Consolidated
BER
HEMR
T &
REAM, G
XA Hf& BTH% HE R e
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT  ARETT ARETRT ARETT  ARETET
4,778 18,911 152,543 24,571 237,798
7,532 11,896 27,862 23,133 70,4283
(435) 6,645 1,773 20,612 28,595
7,118
(68,332)
(32,619)

Segment loss represents the loss incurred by each

segment include depreciation, amortisation and

impairment, but without allocation of certain administration

costs and other income. This is the measure reported to
the CODM for the purposes of resource allocation and

performance assessment.

DEEEES D BELENER (2%
IrE #HBELRE) BXESRE
TITBRAARREMBBA - LTI E
RO B MR I W A 3 2 2 5E R
REREHITE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B IS R R Y R

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hEFE+_A=+—HLEE

10. OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued)

Segment assets and liabilities

For the year ended 31 December 2019

Manufacture
and sale
of paper

converting
equipment
and other
relating
equipment
RERME
#RmMI
Bk
HEH R
RMB’000
AE®TT

ASSETS EE
Segment assets NEE 42,642

10.

BESBW ()

THEERER

BE_Z—NEF+-A=+—HL

FE

Continuing operations
FREERE

Money
lending

RMB'000
ARRTR

239,990

Internet
education
eCommerce services

RMB'000  RMB'000
ABBRTE  ARBTX

95,888 53,904

Unallocated corporate assets FORRBEE

Consolidated total assets LREELA

LIABILITIES -1
Segment liabilities ABEE 49,935

2,135

57,683 6,962

Unallocated corporate liabilities ~ A2 B AFEE

Consolidated total liabilities SN =Lpat ]

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

(26 mpmmEmeRERAR

Consolidated

RMB'000
N3 S

432,424

485,309

917,733

116,715

400,834

517,549



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B ISR R M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hE+_A=+—HLEE

10. OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued) 10. EE S (1)
Segment assets and liabilities (continued) PHEEREE (F)
For the year ended 31 December 2019 (continued) BE_Z—hE+-A=+—HL
F£E ()

Continuing operations

RREERE

Manufacture
and sale
of paper

converting
equipment

and other
; Internet
relating Money education
equipment lending  eCommerce services  Unallocated Consolidated
RERSE
#RmI
BisREf ER#
HRRE BREE

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 ~ RMBO000  RMB000
AR®IT ARWTT  ARWTT ARWTR  ARWTT  ARWTR

Other segment information K13 5&#

Amounts included in the measure S EAHFIBEEE
of segment profit or loss or AN HEERTAL

segment assets: G

>

Addition to property, plantand ~ FENE  BER

equipment B - - 1,866 9 - 1,875
Addition to right-of-use assets ~ FEEREEE - 3,620 459 - - 4,079
Depreciation of property, plant ~ #1% - BERRE

and equipment e 150 165 699 42 1,240 2,296
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEELE 54 1,023 172 - 1,673 2,922
Interest income FIEWA - (10) - (30) (932) (972)
Interest expense FERS 1,047 37 4 - 15,768 16,856
Income tax expense/(credit) MEREY /(E%) - - 730 6,038 (6,176) 592
Impairment loss recognised HESRUNFTER

in respect of trade and EWET R

loan receivables RESE 5,918 39,203 632 1,714 - 47,557
Written down of inventories HEH 1,460 - - - - 1,460
Impairment loss recognised AR ERER

in respect of other receivables  KIEI{EEE - 3,372 1,823 247 - 5,442
Impairment loss recognised SEERANAESR

in respect of goodwill - - 61,225 - - 61,225
Amortisation of intangible assets &/ AEEH - - - 24,702 - 24,702

Annual Report 2019 So17 B
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B IS R R Y R

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hEFE+_A=+—HLEE

10. OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued) 10. EESE (&)
Segment assets and liabilities PTHEEREE
For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE_Z-N\F+ZH=1+—81t
FE
Continuing operations
REEEXHK
Manufacture
and sale
of paper
converting
equipment
and other Internet
relating Money education
equipment lending  eCommerce services  Consolidated
HEREE
BERNT
RERE BHA
R & ETEE  AERE Fa

RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR  ARBTR  ARBTR ARETR  ARRTR

ASSETS HE
Segment assets PHEE 41,006 259,742 65,295 45,525 411,568
Unallocated corporate assets KARAFEE 612,884
Assets of disposal group classified A AR{EHE 2

as held for sale HESEEE 109,373
Consolidated total assets TAEELE 1,133,825
LIABILITIES aff
Segment liabilities PHEE 49,039 68,473 30,591 16,397 164,500
Unallocated corporate liabilities AEAREE 372,959
Liabilties of disposal group PERFELEL

classified as held for sale HELE EE 100,973
Consolidated total liabilties FeRREESE 638,432

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Segment assets and liabilities (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2018 (continued)

Other segment information

Amounts included in the measure of
segment profit or l0ss or segment
assets:

Addition to property, plant
and equipment
Depreciation of property, plant
and equipment
Interest income
Interest expense
Income tax expense/(credit)
Amortisation of prepaid
lease payments
Amortisation of intangible assets

RABRH
HENHNERER
HORERTANEE

RENX  BERRE
ER T E
HERA

HERX
fihimx/(£%)
BN REHEEH

B AERH

10. OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued)

B B ISR R M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hE+_A=+—HLEE

10. EE ST (48)

THEERESE (B)

BE_T-N\F+_A=1t—HI

FE (&)
Continuing operations
FEIERH
Manufacture
and sale
of paper
converting
equipment
and other Internet
relating Money education
equipment lending  eCommerce services  Unallocated  Consolidated
HERHE
aRmT
FERER BERA
R e EREET HERE AR Fa
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR
268 45 456 - 198 967
16 222 312 - 1 561
(368) 1) (121) (294) (2,328) (3,112)
982 - 2,638 - 1,076 4,696
- 1,247 128 5,165 (11,077) (4,562)
53 - - - - 53
- - 21,686 29,981 - 51,667
Annual Report 2019
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B IS R R Y R

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hEFE+_A=+—HLEE

10.

{220

OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued) 10. EESE (&)
Information about geographical areas ih = E R

The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s

revenue by geographical market:

The People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC”) (country of domicile)

Europe

Asia (other than the PRC and
Hong Kong)

North America

Hong Kong

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLEEKZRERAR

WADHT

TREHASE RN ERTIHE D8

For the year ended

31 December

8E+-A=+—HLEE

2019 2018
—E—NF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARBTT
REE ARFEAME ([HEH])

(RERR) 52,370 62,005
BM 211,812 105,830
SN (TEREFBREES)

17,664 19,490

JEE=M 3,625 16,722
e 41,475 33,951
326,946 237,998




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B ISR R M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hE+_A=+—HLEE

10. OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued) 10. EE S (48)
Non-current assets ERBEE

As at 31 December

»+=-RA=+—H
2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TT ARETT

Hong Kong B 277,394 327,191

PRC =allEy 195,555 225,517
472,949 552,708

The non-current asset information above is based on the LA ESERBEEZF NIRIEEEN

location of assets. EME °

Information about major customers FEEFER

No individual customer contributed more than 10% of the BHE_Z—NWEFRZE-—N\F+=

Group’s revenue for the years ended 31 December 2019 A=+T—RHLFE BEENRF

and 2018. ABREEBERBIB10%ZHA -

Annual Report 2019 221 B
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B IS R R Y R

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hEFE+_A=+—HLEE

11. OTHER GAINS OR LOSS, NET

Interest income on bank deposit

Exchange gain

Sundry income

Fair value (loss)/gain on contingent
consideration

Fair value loss on financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss

12. IMPAIRMENT LOSS, NET

Trade and loan receivables
Inventories

Other receivables

Goodwill

13. FINANCE COSTS

Interest charge on lease liabilities
Interest charge on promissory notes
Interest charge on bank borrowing

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

(22 mpmmmeRERAR

RITEROFEWA

BEE 5 W sm

FETEUA

HARRENRFE
(E1]),/ Was

BRFEFABREZE
Z RFEEE

B 55 1 ORI B U B
HH

3 it FE IR

B

SEHEEENOFNE
AR BB RS
SIRTTIEEXOF S

[\

1. Htily S SRR

2019 2018
—E—-hE —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®FRT AREFIT
972 330
161 368
1,096 536
(7,116) 4,789
(987) —
(5,874) 6,023

12. REBGRPHE
2019 2018
—E—hE¥ —T—N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TTT ARBTIT
= 47,557 (2,184)
1,460 —
5,442 —
61,225 —
115,684 (2,184)

13. BBRE

2019 2018
—E—hE¥ —T-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRT ARBTIT
70 —
15,606 3,602
1,180 1,094
16,856 4,696




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B ISR R M R

14. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION

Continuing operations
Loss before taxation has been arrived
at after charging (crediting):

Auditor’s remuneration
Provision/(reversal) of impairment loss
recognised in respect of trade and

loan receivables
Written down of inventories
Impairment loss recognised in
respect of other receivables
Impairment loss recognised in
respect of goodwill
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments
Amortisation of intangible assets
Cost of inventories recognised as
an expense
Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Short-term lease payment
Minimum lease payments in respect of
office premises
Net exchange (gain)/loss
Share-based payment

Staff costs (including directors’
emoluments)
— Salaries and other benefits
— Retirement benefit scheme
contributions

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hE+_A=+—HLEE

14. BRRAEGE

RFREERE
BB AT RSB (FFA)
THIEBRER :

Z A =

8 2 B UEKIA R

P& Wi 5 K e R O LS 1R
B (BE)

Tr B OB

FhEL A FE MR IR FE R Y
B R

SR B RER AREE B

BN ERIA R
B BB
BRBAXZFERA

ME - BERRBITE

ERREERE
REEE MK
BRAMRENEZRKE
HERIA

B (Wa), EiRFE
B4 ST R0R

BETIRA (BREZHE)

— ¥ REAER
— RIRAE I B

2019 2018
—E—nE —T-N\f
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARBTT
793 827
47,557 (2,184)
1,460 -
5,442 -
61,225 —
- 53
24,702 51,667
243,247 158,922
2,296 561
2,922 -
1,309 =
- 5,960
(161) 134
5,956 -
23,643 29,326
909 1,410
24,552 30,736
Annual Report 2019
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B IS R R Y R

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hEFE+_A=+—HLEE

15.

P 224

TAXATION

Continuing operations BIEEEEE
Hong Kong Profits Tax: EHRAEM
— Current year —RFEE
PRC Enterprise Income Tax: hERXERRFRR -
- Current year —REE
Deferred tax: BIERIA -
— Current year —KFE

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council
passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017
(the “Bill”) which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28 March 2018
and was gazetted on the following day. Under the two-
tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million of
profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%,
and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The
profits of group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat
rate of 16.5%.

Provision for the PRC Enterprise Income Tax was made
based on the estimated taxable profits calculated in
accordance with the relevant income tax laws and
regulations applicable to the Company’s PRC subsidiaries.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the
“EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law,
the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25%.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLEEKZRERAR

15. NI\

2019 2018

=L BEN = \F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AERBTRE  ARETFT
730 1,370

6,038 B,168
(6,176) (11,077)
592 (4,552)

RN—_E—NEFE=A=_+—H ' &
NEEBR T —EERE (1BF])
(B79%) BROIER ([GEMESR]) -
SIAM ARG FETHEGE o RHIE
ER_ZE-—NF=ZA=ZF+N\B%E
ERALETRBAFIEER-
BERRSFEHEHNE &8
1% & B E 88 7 #2,000,0005 T =
) #5 128.25% .2 T R - MR
2,000,000/ 7t 2 % F1 A1) #16.5% 2
TREBMFL - A MR HF B R E
HIEER EBEE 2 RN B#EE
1216.5% 2 B — T R EF o

B

REREEASTEEDREMGEE
ARBE A (B AR AR B BB
RAZEAMBHENRERAE) 1E
4o

BIBECPRCEMBR A (D%
Fiisfia]) RIEEMEHEE I
- REHBARNFERAE25% °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

15. TAXATION (continued)

A PRC subsidiary of the Company namely “Wowxue”
obtained a Chinese High-Tech Enterprise Certificate in
2017. According to GuoShuiHan [2009] No.203, entities
qualifying for the Hi-tech status could enjoy a PRC
Enterprise Income Tax preferential treatment for 3 years
commencing from 2015 and 2017 accordingly. As a result,
these PRC subsidiaries were subject to a PRC Enterprise
Income Tax of 15%.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused
tax losses of RMB73,070,000 (2018: RMB14,454,000)
available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax
asset has been recognised in respect of such unused tax
losses due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the loss
before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

Loss before taxation

B 75 A 5 18

Notional tax at the applicable tax rate A IEEEFIIE /A=
B RE AT R

to losses in the tax jurisdictions
concerned EREE

Tax effect of expenses not deductible  ANB] 154 B 52 2 Bt 165 57

for tax purpose
Tax effect of income not taxable for
tax purpose

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised  KERFIHEE Z iS5
Deferred tax upon revaluation of assets &z B {H{EE 2 IELEFIE

Taxation expenses/(credit) charge for ~ FERFIBERY /(%) T

the year

BARBRBAZ R &

B B ISR R M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hE+_A=+—HLEE

15. 18 (&)

KRal—KPEMBE QR - B K
Bl BERZZE—LFESHESH
T 3FEE - RIBEET H[2009]%
2035% F AR BEMEEEERNE
BAUEZXA-_ZT—RAFR-_ZF—+
FR=ZFHNPETGEMGHER
B At ZEFREMNBRARE
15%H Bl (b XIS AR

/==
<F
b3

RBERR AEBEHEERBDAM
IE &5 18 A R 73,070,000 (= &
—\F : ARM14,454,0007T) + 7]
WEEEFETEE - AR EETEA
HiERFMR WAL EHRZERD A
REEBERELHEEE -

FAFRBETHEGABEREMSE
H R 2 BRI AIEEE RN T

2018
—N\F

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®FT ARET T
(143,466) (32,619)
(17,338) (5,686)
17,851 13,449
(7,535) (1,343)
13,790 105
(6,176) (11,077)

592 (4,552)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B IS R R Y R

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hEFE+_A=+—HLEE

16. DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 16. EEREFETHRABZ#HE
EMOLUMENTS
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the directors BENXERTFEEEREETHA
and the Chief Executive, were as follows: BZM&wT

Retirement
benefit
Salaries and scheme  Share-based

allowances contributions payments
Ly HERE
FeRRM & ERMAR

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARRTRT  ARRTR  ARMTR  ARRTR  ARWTR

For the year ended 8E-Z-AFE+ZR
31 December 2019: St-HLFE:
Executive directors: HITES:
Zhu Min G 317 - - - 317
Chen Huabei (Note 1) BRicdt (A1) 88 - - - 88
Lu Yongchao Bkl 264 - - - 264
Yip Sum Yu (Note 3) Eim (hz23) = = - - -
Xu Yejun (Note 2) REE (Hit2) 26 - - - 26
Sin Kwok Wai Ronald (Note 3) BBl (#7#3) - 885 16 - 901

Non-executive director: FHTES:

Chow Chi Wa RATE 212 - - - 212

Yip Sum Yu (Note 3) Eim (1it3) 351 - - - 351

Independent non-executive BUFNGTES:

directors:

Li Yik Sang Y/ 106 - - - 106

Tong Yiu On ER% 106 - - - 106

Cao Ke ) 106 - - - 106
1,576 885 16 - 2,477

Notes: Ktat -

1. Appointed on 11 June 2019. 1. RZZT-—NFAA+—BEZRE-

2. Resigned on 10 October 2019. 2. RIZE-NFTATHBE-

3. Ms. Yip Sum Yu was re-designed as executive director and 3. NRIZEZTF=F+=R0 ' Ei#®
Mr. Sin Kwok Wai Ronald has resigned as executive director ZTRENTES - REBETE
and has appointed as chief financial officer on 13 March ERERTESWEEZ RN
2020. 1aEs o

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

16. DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

For the year ended

31 December 2018:

Executive directors:
Zhu Min
Xu Yejun (Note 2)

Sin Kwok Wai Ronald (Note 3)

Lu Yongchao

Non-executive director:

Chow Chi Wa

Yip Sum Yu (Note 3)

Independent non-executive

directors:

Li Yik Sang
Tong Yiu On
Cao Ke

B B ISR R M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hE+_A=+—HLEE

16. EEREETRABZEHS
(#)
Retirement
benefit
Salaries and scheme  Share-based
Fees allowances  contributions payments Total
RINEMEE D]
ik e Rzh 3 R it
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AREFT AREFTL ARETT AREFT
B#E-2-)\£+ZH
=t-HLEE:
HTES:
P 304 - - - 304
REE (Hit2) 244 = 13 = 257
B (H#3) - 808 25 - 833
Bk 127 - - - 127
FHITES:
Bz 203 - - - 203
58 (h1i23) 290 - - - 290
BUFNTES
Y3 101 = - = 101
ERZ 101 - - = 101
£ 101 - - - 101
1,471 808 38 - 2,317

The performance related bonus is determined by the

performance of individuals.

None of the directors waived any emoluments for both

years.

There was no compensation paid during the financial

year or receivable by directors or any employees for

loss of office as a director of any member of the Group.

No payment was made by the Group or receivable

by directors or any employees for both years as an

inducement to join or upon joining the Company.

HERIVEE A TRBEMEARR
BE -

RZMEFEE  SEESHEKER
ERBE

RAMHREEARE IR EE
EREMRBERREAEBEEMMK
ISENSIEVEE 3 A vATT R = o= Ok
B-RNZMEFE NEEHMES
N EEEREMIES R ME
RRABRIMBAARRRENES ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B IS R R Y R

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hEFE+_A=+—HLEE

17.

18.

{228

EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, three (2018: three) were directors of the Company
whose emoluments are included in the disclosures in Note
16 above. The emoluments of the remaining two (2018:
two) individuals were as follows:

Salaries and allowances e KoEBh
Retirement benefit scheme BRREFIET B

contributions

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

17. ER#M&

EXEERAEZERFALTES =
Z(ZB-N\F: =8) REARAZ
Ex HM&E RN EXE16h K
B-#RTME(ZZE-N\F: WA)
AL zBEmT

2019 2018
=L BEN = \F
RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR®FR ARETIT

2,320 2,056
32 30
2,352 2,086

REZHMENFATHEEZA :

2019 2018

—E—-NF —E-)N\F

Number of Number of

employee employee

ERA# BE A

Up to RMB1,000,000 &% & AR¥1,000,0007T = =
RMB1,000,001 to RMB1,500,000 AR #1,000,001LE

AR #1,500,0007T 2 2

DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid or proposed by the Company during
the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, nor has
any dividend been proposed since the end of the reporting
period.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLEEKZRERAR

18.

B2

ARRAR I EIRMNHEZRNBEE =
E-NEFER_F-NEF+-_H=1
—BLEFEZBRE  BE®REHRK
TMEZZIR M ERRE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

19. LOSS PER SHARE

For continuing operations

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the

following data:

Loss figures are calculated as follows:

Loss for the year attributable to
the owners of the Company

Add:

(Profit)/loss for the year from
discontinued operation

Loss for the purpose of basic and
diluted loss per share from
continuing operations

Number of shares

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares for the purpose of basic
and diluted loss per share

B B ISR R M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hE+_A=+—HLEE

19. BlREGR
BRSS R

ARAEE AEIETREAREE
SR TYIRIR A T RS & -

EEETZAENT
2019 2018
—B-hF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARBTIT
XOFEEAEGZ
FEBR (98,403) (81,586)
hn
REERIEEEEE 2
FE CaH)/EiE (39,015) 52,888
MRERFBELEES 2
ERERNREEEE
mE &8 (137,418) (28,698)
Number of Number of
shares shares
Bip&E R 4=
2019 2018
=t EORN =\
000 000
T8 TR
Bir& B
R EBRERREE
ESIEFTE R 2 LB
NOHRE 352 3,975,448 4,044,614
Annual Report 2019
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B IS R R Y R

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hEFE+_A=+—HLEE

19. LOSS PER SHARE (continued)
From continuing and discontinued operations
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share

from continuing and discontinued operations attributable
to the owners of the Company is based on the following

data:

Loss BiR

Loss for the purpose of basic and FERER KB EEIE
diluted loss per share mE ZEE

The denominators used are the same as those detailed
above for both basic and diluted loss per share.

From discontinued operation

Basic and diluted earnings per share for the discontinued
operation are RMB0.98 cents per share (2018: loss
RMB1.31 cents per share), based on the profit for the year
from discontinued operation of RMB39,015,000 (2018:
loss RMB52,888,000) and the denominators detailed
above for both basic and diluted loss per share.

The calculation of diluted loss per share for each of the
two years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 had not
taken into consideration the assumed exercised of the
Company’s outstanding share options as it would reduce
the loss per share.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

120 mpsmEmeRERAR

19. BEREIE (48)

REFEKERCRIEQEER

ARBFEBAEREREFERLER
EREREXRB 2 BREANREE
ERTIRBIA T 8URETE -

2019 2018
—z—ns LG
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®FR ARBET T

(98,403) (81,586)

FTRADBE EXHERERREE
BB RERR e

RESKRIEREXE

ERIEEEEB cERERNREE
BFBEFRARK08Y (ZF—
NE: BREBARB1.315) - T
BEREERIELEXEB 2 FE R
A A R #39,015,0007T (=& — )\
F: 518 A R #¥52,888,000T) &
X EREARBE BB
ZAREE -

HEHE—T-NFRZZT-N\F
+Z A=+ ALMEFESFEZ
BREEFEBYET ARKITESR
NEIMARITEZERE BEEeE
BEREERRD o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B ISR R M R

Cost:

At 1 January 2018
Additions

Disposals

Reclassified as held for sale
Exchange realignment

At 31 December 2018 and
1 January 2019

Addition
Exchange realignment

At 31 December 2019

Depreciation and impairment:

At 1 January 2018
Provided for the year
Eliminated on disposals
Reclassified as held for sale
Exchange realignment

At 31 December 2018 and
1 January 2019

Provided for the year
Exchange realignment

At 31 December 2019

Carrying values:
At 31 December 2019

At 31 December 2018

BE .

R=Z-\£—H—H

ME

&
ENDBARRIELE
5 R

RIB-I\F
+=A=+-Ak

~2-7¥-R-H

AE
3T

RZB-1%
t=A=+-H

HERRE :

R=F-/\F-A-A

ERgE
HE 2 53
ENDRARELE
B3 EE

RIB-I\f
+ZA=+—-HR

~2-n§-RA-H

ERRE
5 A%

20. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hE+_A=+—HLEE

20. Y% - BE R E

Furniture Plant,
and fixtures ~ machinery
and office and Motor

Buildings  equipment  equipment vehicles Total

REARKER BE HER
BF  HOZRRE Rl RE it
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT  ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETR
74,318 7,258 114,292 9,991 205,859
43 715 153 - 911
- - (2,342) (1,776) (4,118)
(37,453) (3,776) (111,135) (7,402) (159,766)
534 (51) - 17 500
37,442 4,146 968 830 43,386
- 1,875 - - 1,875
185 383 - 63 631
37,627 6,404 968 893 45,892
65,060 4,647 113,340 8,847 191,894
357 651 676 602 2,286
- - (2,342) (1,721) (4,063)
(37,375) (3,741) (110,743) (7,067) (158,926)
86 192 - 8 286
28,128 1,749 931 669 31,477
865 1,270 37 124 2,296
30 97 - 62 189
29,023 3,116 968 855 33,962
8,604 3,288 - 38 11,930
9,314 2,397 37 161 11,909
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B IS R R Y R

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hEFE+_A=+—HLEE

20. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 20. Y%  -BERERE ()
(continued)
As at 31 December 2018, certain of the Group’s buildings RZE—N\F+=ZA=+—H8 &K
with a net carrying value of RMB37,000 (2019: Nil) were EECERETEEFEAARKE
pledged to secure short-term bank borrowings. 37,000 (ZZE—NF: T) /g

F - MBS EHIRITEE -

The above items of property, plant and equipment are L BELXEEEFERE
depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated MERKERA G RIREBEEIN
useful lives and after taking into account of their estimated TANFEFTERH (G A5 A 5 5
residual value, at the following rates per annum: ZIE
Buildings 4.5% — 18% BF 4.5% — 18%
Leasehold improvements ~ 20% or over the lease term, MEMERE 20% L EY -
whichever is shorter NG E A%
Furniture and fixtures and ~ 18% REREER 18%
office equipment WAERAE
Plant, machinery and 9% 5= - a3 9%
equipment B
Motor vehicles 18% B 18%
The buildings are situated on land in the PRC held under BFEUAPEAMNES - XD 5
medium term leases and in Hong Kong held under long RIER BB RERARLSFE -
term leases.
No impairment loss has been recognised during the years REBEE-_ZE—HAFEFR-_E—N\F+
ended 31 December 2019 and 2018. ZA=tT—BILEE BEERMR
B/ -
21. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 21. EFHERE

Prepaid
lease Leasehold

payments buildings

AMHARRE HREF

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRE ARWTRT AR®TRT

Carrying amount: REE :
At 1 January 2019 RZE—hF—HA—H 252 1,946 2,198
At 31 December 2019 R-ZE—hhFE+_-_A=+—H 198 3,207 3,405

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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21.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2019, additions to
right-of-use assets were RMB4,079,000, which related to
the capitalised lease payments payable under new tenancy
agreements.

The analysis of (expense)/income items in relation to leases

recognised in profit or loss and other comprehensive
income is as follows:

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets

by class of underlying asset: BENEER
Prepaid lease payments BAREFE
Leasehold buildings HEEF

Exchange realignment of right-of-use assets
by class of underlying asset:

Leasehold buildings HEgF

Prepaid lease payments

The Group’s prepaid lease payments represent leasehold
land in the PRC under medium lease within 50 years.

As at 1 January 2019 and 31 December 2019, certain
of the Group’s leasehold land with net carrying value of
RMB252,000 and RMB198,000 was pledged to secure
short-term bank borrowings.

Leased buildings

The Group leases various leased buildings for its

operation. Leased contract are entered into for fixed term
of more than 1 to 2 years.

B B ISR R M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hE+_A=+—HLEE

21. FHEEE ()

REBEE_Z-IAF+_A=+—H
IEFE FNFEAREERARKE
4,079,0007T « EEFFIHERZEIE
THERNMCEERMNFKIBEREA -

RiEmRAEMEPERGEFERNE
BHEZ (FAX),/ WAEEBSTHA
T

2019
—2-0F

RMB’000
AR®TR

BB ERR S5 e R

(54)
(2,868)

(2,922)

BIRAEERRIE D 0OfE R
BEENAE

50

BENHEERE

REB BN HEFRELR S
WARBS0F R 2+ MBHFH M
Sttt o

RZZE—NEF—A—BEZ=ZZE—AN
F+ZA=1+—H ~EEDIHKF
ATEREFEARAREK252,0007T &
AR#198,000C HITEE T H - BAER
BEHRTEE -

HERF

AEEREXBHESZRHEE
F o HEANZEERYBEIE
ﬁzo
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B IS R R Y R

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hEFE+_A=+—HLEE

22. GOODWILL

Cost:
At 1 January
Exchange realignment

At 31 December

Accumulated impairment:

At 1 January
Impairment
Exchange realignment

At 31 December

Carrying value:
At 31 December

REtw(E
m—H—H
e

PE 5 SR

“+=A=+—~

REE :
R+—A=+—H

Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s cash generated units
(“CGU”) identified according to business segment as

follows:

Money lending WE
eCommerce BIE©&
Internet education services BB BT

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

D284 mpmEmeRERAR

22 BHE
2019 2018
—E—hE —T—N\EF
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARWFT ARMETIT
491,484 472,750
4,428 18,734
495,912 491,484
47,178 45,072
61,225 —
1,590 2,106
109,993 47,178
385,919 444 306

Notes

B E

HEEIREEANEERIATERD
BHENReELEN ((ReEL

B ) :
2019 2018
—2—ns YV
RMB’000 RMB’000
AERBFRE  ARBTE
73,708 74,438
188,639 246,296
123,572 123,572
385,919 444,306




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

22. GOODWILL (continued)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Money lending

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the
Group acquired 90% issued share capital of Time
Credit Limited and goodwill of approximately
RMB103,318,000 was recognised upon completion
of the acquisition.

eCommerce

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the
Group acquired the entire issued share capital
of Soaring International Holdings Limited and its
subsidiaries (“Soaring International Group”) and
goodwill of approximately RMB229,740,000 was
recognised upon completion of the acquisition.

Internet education services

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the
Group acquired 100% issued share capital of
Cybernaut Technology International Limited and its
subsidiaries and therefore goodwill of approximately
RMB123,572,000 was recognised upon completion
of the acquisition.

B B ISR R M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hE+_A=+—HLEE

22, HE (48)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

HE

REBEE-_Z—RF+_-_A=+
—ALEFE AEERETR
H=EBR AT Z90%E 31T
BEAR -+ 30 A UR B SE K 14 R R
249 A R#1083,318,0007T °

EFEH

RBEE-_Z-—AF+=A
=t+t—-BLFE A5 H
Uy B T Soaring International
Holdings Limited s £ K & 2
7] ([Soaring International&
E|) 2 2EEITRA - TR
WS T EEREEHNARE
229,740,0007T °

EBBBERE

RBE_Z—+tF+_-_A=
T—BIEEE AEEKE
T Cybernaut Technology
International Limited & H i B
AR Z100%E #FATRAS
BE R EE SERK R BE R B XA
R #123,572,0007T °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B IS R R Y R

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hEFE+_A=+—HLEE

23. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 23. ELEE
Technology Customer Contract
know-how relationship Platform backlog Total
SHEH EFRE Fg  RREEH it

RMB'00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTE  ARBTT ARBTT ARBTRT AREBTR

Cost: BE .
At 1 January 2018 RZE-N&—A—-H 98,771 10,733 118,593 9,844 237,941
Exchange realignment AR 2,778 - - - 2,778
At 31 December 2018 and RZIS8-I\%£
at 1 January 2019 +ZA=+—-Ak
ZZ-h1%-A-H 101,549 10,733 118,593 9,844 240,719
Exchange realignment B i 2,095 = = = 2,095
At 31 December 2019 A_Z-NE+ZH
=+-H 103,644 10,733 118,593 9,844 242,814
Accumulated amortisation RHMARGEE
and impairment:
At 1 January 2018 W=E-N&—A—-H 72,175 10,733 1,977 82 84,967
Provided for the year FERE 21,686 - 28,997 984 51,667
Exchange realignment B 5 R 7,688 - - = 7,688
At 31 December 2018 and RIZ-I\%&
at 1 January 2019 +ZA=+-Ak
—2-71%¥-A-H 101,549 10,733 30,974 1,066 144,322
Provided for the year FERE - - 23,718 984 24,702
Exchange realignment i R 2,095 - - - 2,095
At 31 December 2019 RZB-1E
+ZA=+-H 103,644 10,733 54,692 2,050 171,119
Carrying amount: FEE :
At 31 December 2019 RZB-NE
+ZHA=1+-H - - 63,901 1,79 71,695
At 31 December 2018 RZZ-\F
+-RA=+-H = - 87,619 8,778 96,397

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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24.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B ISR R M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hE+_A=+—HLEE

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 23. |i-EE (&)
The above intangible assets have finite useful life. Such LillmEEEREAREREH -
intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis ZEBEEEDRATHRAKRER
over the following periods: VEEESH
Technology know-how 3 to 10 years BHEFEM 3E10%F
Customer relationship 10 years EREBIE 104F
Platform 5 years e 5%
Contract backlog 10 years RTEKEL  10F
No impairment loss has been recognised during the years RBE_E—NFR_ZE—N\F+
ended 31 December 2019 and 2018. ZA=T-HRIEFE  BEERR
RS o
IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL AND 24. BHEREREEZKEIK
INTANGIBLE ASSETS
For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill and SURERIEME - B sE22 R23ATH
intangible assets set out in Notes 22 and 23 have been MEMEFEEEPEZ=AR&
allocated to three cash generating units (“CGUs”), EXEN ((ReELEM]) 21
comprising money lending segment, eCommerce MIED B - BEFEHE D P KRG
segment and internet education services segment. The HERBHE - PEREZZFEMD
carrying amounts of goodwill and intangible assets (net of MEREREE HIKRAFHES
accumulated impairment losses) allocated to these units B) WEEEOT
are as follows:
Goodwill Intangible assets
[} ELEE
2019 2018 2019 2018
i B T\ ety R —T—)\F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRE AR%®Tt ARBTR AR%Tr
Money lending & 73,708 74,438 - =
eCommerce BER 188,639 246,296 = =
Internet education services G EHE RiE 123,572 128,572 71,695 96,397
385,919 444,306 71,695 96,397
Annual Report 2019
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B IS R R Y R

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hEFE+_A=+—HLEE

24,

{238

IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL AND
INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Money lending

The recoverable amount of the money lending CGU has
been determined based on a value in use calculation
and based on a valuation by an independent valuer. That
calculation adopted cash flow projections covering a
5-year period (2018: 5-year period), based on financial
budgets approved by the management with discount rate
of 14% (2018: 16%) per annum. Cash flows beyond the
5-year period (2018: 5-year period) are extrapolated with
3% (2018: 3%) growth rate. Other key assumptions for
the value in use calculations relate to the estimation of
cash inflows/outflows which include budgeted sales, gross
margin and revenue growth of 7% to 18% (2018: 8% to
13%). Such estimation is based on the money lending
CGU’s past performance and management’s expectations
of the market development.

During the year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018,
management of the Group determines that there is no
impairment on the money lending CGU. Management
believes that any reasonably possible changes in any of
these assumptions would not cause the carrying amount
of the money lending CGU to exceed the recoverable
amount of the money lending CGU.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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4. BERERLREZRENR

(1)
HfE

WERSEASBEN 2 AIRESER
BEEABEFERRBREE YV HE
BB EEETE - ZarEHEBAER
EREMHENTHREERNAXS
F14% (ZZF—)\F : 16%) WA F
HE (ZZ—N\F : AFHM) AR
EREEMN AFHEH(ZZE—N
F: AFHRE) BR2BREREDR
B3% (ZZE—N\F : 3%) IR X
HEE FHEBAENHMEER
FREREEEHEE  EFNERREA
BRE7%E18% (ZZE—N\F : 8% %
13%) EAMBERAEHZ &
AR ARG DERKERS
EEBMNBARAREEESM
BRROIEHEL -

REE-FT-NER-_FT-/\&Ft
“A=t—RLEFE AEEER
BEEMERSELEMHER
B -EEERS WMEFMZKFEHER
HREMSEAREES ITe8
BREReELBUZREERLY
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

24. IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL AND

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)
eCommerce

The recoverable amount of the eCommerce CGU has
been determined based on a value in use calculation
and based on a valuation by an independent valuer. That
calculation adopted cash flow projections covering a
5-year period (2018: 5-year period), based on financial
budgets approved by the management with discount rate
of 13% (2018: 16%) per annum. Cash flows beyond the
5-year period (2018: 5-year period) are extrapolated with
3% (2018: 2.5%) growth rate. Other key assumptions for
the value in use calculations relate to the estimation of
cash inflows/outflows which include budgeted sales,gross
margin and revenue growth of 3% to 16% (2018: 25%
to 40%). Such estimation is based on the unit’s past
performance and management’s expectations of the
market development.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, management
of the Group have consequently determined impairment
of goodwill directly related to the eCommerce CGU
amounting to RMB61,225,000 (2018: Nil). The impairment
loss has been included in profit or loss in impairment loss
line item.

B B ISR R M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hE+_A=+—HLEE

4. BERERLREZRENR

(%)
E7EH

ETEEREELENZAKES
BERBEREAETERRER L
HEMOGEET - %8 HEA
ERERBEMENTHREE RITR
REF13% (ZZF—)\F : 16%) &
AEHE (22— N\F: AFHH)
NIRERETEA - AFHHE (ZF—
NF: AFHHE) B2RERED
BIE3% (ZF—/\F : 2.5%) K
REHE - FHEBGENEME
ERBEDFEEEHEE  EFER
WA REI%E16% (ZF— /\F :
25%ZE40%) ERMBE S RA K
L2 EEt Bl - AR HERE
MNHWBARBAREEEBHMBER
FTEHAS I ©

REBEE_ZT-NWF+_A=+—H
HtEE AEBEEEREETH
ErEEReELENEEERY
2R E A R #61,225,0005T (=
T-N\F:T) - REBBEEFTAR
HPRREREER -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B IS R R Y R

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hEFE+_A=+—HLEE

24,

{240

IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL AND
INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Internet education services

The recoverable amount of the internet education services
CGU has been determined based on a value in use
calculation and based on a valuation by an independent
valuer. That calculation adopted cash flow projections
covering a 5-year period (2018: 5-year period), based
on financial budgets approved by the management with
discount rate of 14% (2018: 17%) per annum. Cash
flows beyond the 5-year period (2018: 5-year period)
are extrapolated with 3% (2018: 3%) growth rate. Other
key assumptions for the value in use calculations relate
to the estimation of cash inflows/outflows which include
budgeted sales, gross margin and revenue growth of 5%
to 25% (2018: 9% to 45%). Such estimation is based on
the internet education services CGU’s past performance
and management’s expectations of the market
development.

During the year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018,
management of the Group determines that there is no
impairment on the internet education services CGU.
Management believes that any reasonably possible
changes in any of these assumptions would not cause the
carrying amount of the internet education services CGU to
exceed the recoverable amount of the internet education
services CGU.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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MIEREEE - FAEBTENE
HhEZRZERIEEEHE - EF
ERWMAERSNE25% (ZF—N
F 1 9%E45%) ERMBERA
REZ G B - ARG HER
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ERaag
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

25. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS

The Group’s prepaid lease payments represent leasehold
land in the PRC under medium term lease and are
amortised to consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income over the lease term of 50

years.
Analysed for reporting purposes as: BERE
Non-current asset E I

Current asset MENE E

No impairment loss of prepaid lease payments has been
recognised during the years ended 31 December 2018.

As at 31 December 2018, certain of the Group’s
leasehold land with a net carrying value of RMB252,000
was pledged to secure short-term bank borrowings. As
at 1 January 2019, prepaid lease payments has been
reclassified as right-of-use assets.

B B ISR R M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hE+_A=+—HLEE

25. AftHAREA

AEBE BN HEFBRELR T
Y REFHENFHE2HEL
VIR R HA0OFNEERELFRAER
KR A2 E Wk P

2018
—E-N\F
RMB’000
AR%ETT

96
156

252

REE-F—\E+-A=+—H
LR BERREMRERE
R -

N-ZEBE—-—NE+-_A=+—0" ' &
EEEHERETEEFEAARKE
252,0007C KM & L #b - DAEIE R
HRITEE - R E—NE—A—
H ENEEFREEEN>BEAE
REEE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B IS R R Y R

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hEFE+_A=+—HLEE

26. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Equity securities listed in Canada

Derivative financial assets TTESRMEE

Notes:

(@)  The above listed equity investments represent common
shares of an entity listed in Canada. The directors of the
Company have elected to designate these investments in
equity instruments as at FVTPL.

(o)  The derivative financial assets represent 2,500,000 units
common share purchase warrant (“Warrant”) of an entity
listed in Canada. Each Warrant entitles the holder to
acquire an additional common share at CADO.15 per share
in two years from the date of issue.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

D22 mpmmmeRERAR

RINER £ 2 RAZEZ

Notes
b=

Mzt -

26. BAFHEAAARRZEME
E

2019 2018
il =5
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRE  ARKTX
536 =

475 =

1,011 =

bt EREAEER-RMEAL
MEBNEER - ARAAESRCRE
BRZENERTAZREETEAR
BAFEFABRER

ZOTESMEEE —HMEA LT
E £ 792,500,00017 & 38 I% 52 IR 18
B(RBREE] BHRKRESE
TR ARERIRNEITHE M F
WNIZEZIR0ASITTHIEREE — &
BEINE R -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B ISR R M R

27. INVENTORIES

Raw materials
Work-in-progress
Finished goods

Less: Allowance for inventories

Movement in the allowance for
inventories:

At beginning of the year

Impairment loss recognised
in respect of inventories

At end of the year

R #
E2m
LR AR

W FEEE

ERBERD -
RER)

MFEERNRERE

RER

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hE+_A=+—HLEE

27. &8

2019 2018

= b T )\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARBTT
3,664 5,273
8,070 11,979
9,190 5,569
20,924 22,821
(5,599) (4,139)
15,325 18,682
2019 2018
—E—-hE —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARBTT
4,139 4,139
1,460 =
5,599 4,139
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B IS R R Y R

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hEFE+_A=+—HLEE

28.

{244

TRADE RECEIVABLES

The credit period granted by the Group to certain
customers is within 180 days (2018: within 180 days),
while payment from other customers are due immediately
when goods are delivered. The following is an aged
analysis of trade receivables, net of allowance, presented
based on the goods delivery and services rendered date
at the end of the reporting period, which approximated the

respective revenue recognition dates:

0 — 30 days
31 - 60 days
61 — 90 days
91 - 120 days

121 — 180 days
181 days to within 1 year

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLEEKZRERAR

0&30H
31£60H
61%290H
91£120H
1212180H
181HE1FIARA

28. BHBWKRIE

AEEMETEFPEECEESRR
180B A (=& — )\ : 180H A
W) MEAMEF BRI E REED
BAR e A TARBREHRRBRESR
M REERB A (BEE5aHK
AR BEER) 2528 5 BIHR
1B (MBREE) BREDIT -

2019 2018
=L BEN = \F
RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR®TT ARETT

37,338 23,314
10,519 4,659
1,362 4,674
44 3,970
445 7,277
7,183 9,631
56,891 53,425




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

28. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

The Group has not provided for certain trade receivables
which are past due but not impaired because the directors
of the Company consider that those receivables are
recoverable based on the good payment record of the
customers and long established trading history with these
customers. The Group does not hold any collateral over
these balances.

No allowance on doubtful debts recognised during the
year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 was based
on estimated irrecoverable amounts by reference to
the creditability of individual customers, past default
experience, subsequent settlement and payment history of
the customers. Full provision has been made for individual
trade receivables aged over one year with no subsequent
settlement as historical evidence shows that such
receivables are generally not recoverable, or individual
trade receivables which has been in severe financial

B B ISR R M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hE+_A=+—HLEE

28. BAEWKRIA ()

AREBEY EHLE T EBHIERBE
2B 5 RWGIREL % - Than
ARREFREBEETF 2 REFNFE
BMEZERTFHNENRFHERE
LR B E RWGIRR TIRE - K
8 5 30 4 L Ut F 45 BR 1 B (T A R

[}
oA °

REBEE-ZF-NEFR-F-N\F+
“A=t—RALEFEYEERRK
B W HERK2E@EMEFH
=R BEFRBEENLE B
RBE R L A E A AR E S
BoERKRikBE - FRIEEHRR
BENERE 5 R FIE (FRESL
EBRBTNZERYGRE R TAK
B) sk 2 RN EE M RN ER &
Z EUFIRIE L 2 E o

difficulties.
Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts: RIGEHE 2 E8) -
2019 2018
—EZ-hE —E—N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARBTT
At beginning of the year (1 January 2018 RFE#) (ZZE—/)\F
amount has been restated) —A—H&BEEEY) 7,803 9,811
Reversal of impairment loss recognised — Ft& 5 fE W sk 1B 2 1t
in respect of trade receivables VERIENSEi=tE{E (7,219) (2,008)
At end of the year RER 584 7,803
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hEFE+_A=+—HLEE

29. LOAN RECEIVABLES

The Group’s loan receivables arose from the money

lending business during the year.

Loan receivables bear interest at variable and fixed rates,

and with credit periods, mutually agreed between the

contracting parties. Loan receivables are secured by

properties and personal guarantees by the debtors/certain

individuals. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly and

handled closely by senior management.

The loan receivables, net of allowance, at the end of the

reporting period are analysed by the remaining period to

contractual maturity date as follows:

Within 3 months
3 months to 1 year

Over 1 year which contain a repayment

on demand clause

=EAR
—BRAE—F
—FUE (HEREXK
BARIES)

The average effective interest rate was at 2% to 13.20%
per year as at 31 December 2019 (2018: 5.25% to 24%).

D246 mpmmmeRERAR

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

29.

B R

TR AKENERERRARE
E

RUWERZAZRBEENRREER
HimAT e KABRE - BIRER
TIAEBA /ETFENALZHE
KAAAERER - BIHEERTH
SREEEENEZLBREE -

R & R U E R (FNBR B8
rm) = A

i HEH BRI BR DT
T

2019 2018

—B-hF —E-N\F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARWTT AREETT

78,937 160,664

42,764 37,817

17,341 19,085

139,042 217,566

R-E—-—NE+-_A=+—8" F
BHEBFMEE2%E13.20% (==
—\EE : 5.25%%24%) o
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B B ISR R M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hE+_A=+—HLEE

29. LOAN RECEIVABLES (continued) 29. BEURERR (48)
Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts: RERB B &)
2019 2018
—2-hEF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TRT ARETT

At beginning of the year (1 January 2018 RF¥#] (ZZ— \F

amount has been restated) —HA—HB&fEeEy) 17,720 17,896
Provision/(reversal) of impairment loss

recognised in respect of loan B E FRAER A

receivables BEBERE (BE) 54,776 (176)
At end of the year MNER 72,496 17,720
Included in the provision for impairment on loan BHE-_Z-—hWFTA=+—HIE
receivables is individually impaired of approximately FEMNERERRERES BEE
RMB54,776,000 for the year ended 31 December BB EIE B #) A R #54,776,000
2019 and reversal of allowance for loan receivables T RBEZZE-NFTA=T
of approximately RMB176,000 for the year ended 31 —BIEFENEKEZRBERELD
December 2018 have been recognised in impairment loss AR ®176,0007T B R & IBE E KR
on various assets. BEEERER -

Annual Report 2019
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B B IS R R Y R

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hEFE+_A=+—HLEE

29. LOAN RECEIVABLES (continued)

{248

Analysis of the gross carry amount of loan

as follows:

Gross carrying amount as at
1 January 2018

New loans/financing originated
Loans/financing derecognised
or repaid during the year

(other than write-offs)

Gross carrying amount as at
31 December 2018 and
1 January 2019

New loan/financing originated
Loans/financing derecognised
or repaid during the year

(other than write-offs)

Transfer to lifetime expected credit

loss credit impaired (Stage 3)

Exchange realignment

Gross carrying amount as at
31 December 2019

RZE—-N\F
—A—B2
REAE

REFER/ BE

RERRIEER S
BEEZER
BE (BB

R-B—-N\%¥+ZAR
Z+-HRZS-N¥F
—R—RAZ
EmeE

REMER/ BE

TN MR LE R 3%
BEBZER/
BE (BREEH)

BRECDHLERRES
FERRYEERR
(F3MR)

B 5 AR

AZ2-hE+ZRAZt
—RZzEE#E

receivables is

29. U E® ()

EWE R RHAEI AT
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
E1REER SE2REER SEIRERR st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETT AREFT ARETR
176,368 - - 176,368
174,957 - - 174,957
(133,759) - - (133,759)
217,566 - - 217,566
315,784 - - 315,784
(342,745) = = (342,745)
(54,776) = 54,776 =
3,213 - - 3,213
139,042 - 54,776 193,818

Definitions of Stage 1, Stage 2 and Stage 3 are detailed in

Note 8(b).

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of
the reporting period is the carrying value of the loan
receivables. The Group seeks to maintain tight control
over its loan receivables in order to minimise credit risk by
reviewing the borrowers’ or guarantors’ financial positions.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLEEKZRERAR

G BoOWBRRBIBEY TR
M RES(0)R B -

RBERRZEANEERR SRR
ERZEHE - AEEBEBEXE
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EERR -



29.

30.

31.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

LOAN RECEIVABLES (continued)

Interest income for loans receivables of approximately
RMB16,218,000 (2018: RMB18,911,000) have been
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income for the year ended 31
December 2019.

OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND
PREPAYMENT

Other receivables E fib pE U 5k I8
Deposit 2e
Prepayment TET IR

BANK BALANCES AND CASH/RESTRICTED
BANK DEPOSITS

Restricted bank deposits represents deposits of
RMB3,164,000 (2018: RMB5,415,000) which have
been pledged to banks to secure bills payables and
RMB9,141,000 (2018: Nil) which have been pledged to
secure short-term bank borrowings. The pledged deposits
are not available for use in the Group’s daily operation.

At 31 December 2019, included in the bank balances and
cash and restricted bank deposits was RMB135,015,000
(2018: RMB122,594,000) that was denominated in
HKD and RMB236,000 (2018: RMB916,000) that was
denominated in USD. All the remaining bank balances and
cash are denominated in RMB.

29.

30.

31.

B B ISR R M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hE+_A=+—HLEE

PR R ()

REEZZT—AF+=ZA=+—H
IEFE BREFHFEWALA
R #16,218,0007T (=& — )\ F :
AR #18,011,000T) E RN &4 1B
R HEAME KSR ER o

HtER®RE - Be kR
o]

2019 2018

—Z—-hF —E-N\F

RMB('000) RMB(’000)

AR®TR ARET T

54,132 31,656

2,439 1,556

5,371 4,657

61,942 37,869
BITRBRRRS ZRHR

TE™

XBREIBITERDIECER TR
TUBREENEENTERARE
3,164,000 (ZZ—N\F : AR
5,415,0007T) & B & #H ARG 5
RITEENAR,141,0007T (=
T-N\F:T)  BERGFEHRTAH
AEBNBEEBPER -

RZBE—NFE+ZRA=+—8 "5
ABRITEHB RS RZRHRITE
& F A R#135,015,0007 (=
T— N\ F: AR#122,594,0007T)
ThAAB TCEHE - A K #236,0007T
(ZZ—N\&F : AR¥916,0007T) Al
INETTEIE - FTBERTRITEBR K
BEAARKELE -
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B B IS R R Y R

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hEFE+_A=+—HLEE

32. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES

The following is an ageing analysis of trade and bills
payables presented based on the goods receipt date at

the end of the reporting period.

0 - 30 days
31 - 60 days
61 — 90 days

Over 90 days

The credit period granted by the suppliers to the Group is

within 30 days.

The carrying amounts of the trade payables at the end of

0%30H

31£60H
61£90H
90H A E

the reporting period are denominated in RMB.

33. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

Other payables

Accrued professional fees
Accrued staff costs
Accrued other expenses
Other tax payables

(250 mpmmmeRaRAR

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

HoAth JE A 5RIR
ERFEXEHN
&5 B TR
JEET H M FE
H it e TR

32. RHEFMRAREFRE

NTREZHENFBARENEER
BERARRBURRERBAHETZ
BRI DA

2019 2018
—F—-NF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®FR ARBET T

52,773 50,919
3,248 2,406
1,632 2,644

13,798 13,092

71,451 69,061

HEBRARNEER K ZEEHAR30
BA -

RBERR BHRNREZERR
BEAARBE -

33. HfufEftRIARE T

2019 2018
—e—nx LS
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARETTT

10,125 2,408
1,654 834
352 371
171 =
267 76
12,569 3,689
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hE+_A=+—HLEE

34. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 34. E¥AR
2019 2018
ot Sl B 2 —E-N\F
RMB('000) RMB('000)

AR®FR ARETIT

Sales of paper converting equipment  $5&E 4K IR AN T 554 3,995 2,490
The Group typically receives in advance before transfer AREB —REGEEVHEIEERZ
goods to the customers. The Group expects to deliver BITE S Y3k - NEETEEAFE — F 8%
the goods to satisfy the remaining obligations of these BFEABRASNEYMAETZSE
contract liabilities within one year or less. BHEENFIBRETR -
The following table shows how much of the revenue TRER_E—NFRZZE—NF
recognised relates to carried-forward contract liabilities +ZA=+—HZE®RWAEL
and how much relates to performance obligations that BAOBEANEEBITNELE
were satisfied as at 31 December 2019 and 2018. EHEBRYIE R o
2019 2018
—2-hEF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TT ARETT

Balances as at 1 January N—A—B2Zz&% 2,490 1,853
Revenue recognised from performance & RNRE BT B 4%

obligations satisfied during the year R Z WA (26,999) (33,903)
Consideration from sales of paper FREERFRNT

converting equipment during the year  :RE&EZ (B 28,504 34,540
Balances as at 31 December Rt+-A=+—8Bz2%&% 3,995 2,490

Annual Report 2019 S 951 B
—E-hEFEH - 0
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B B IS R R Y R

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hEFE+_A=+—HLEE

35. LEASE LIABILITIES

The exposure of the Group’s lease liabilities are as follows:

Current
Non-current

Minimum lease payment due:

- Within one year

- more than one year but not more than
two years

- more than two years but not more than
five years

- QOver five years

Future finance charges

Present value of lease liabilities

Amounts due for settlement within one year
(shown under current liabilities)

Amounts due for settlement after one year

(22 mpmmmeRERAR

BN EA
FERNHA

RATH B AN SERENR

-—%R

- BB FETBBRE

- BBMFATBBLF

- BBLF

ARBEER

HEAERE

—FREBAINFR
(RRBEETITR)

—F R HHE

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

35. HEAR

AEEHERENRRIT

Minimum
lease payments

2019
—F-0%F
RMB’000
AR®TT

2,688
592

3,280

Present value of
lease liabilities

REHREMHR HEARRE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETIT
2,736 2,688
595 592
3,331 3,280

(51)

3,280
(2,688)
592



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

35. LEASE LIABILITIES (continued)

As at 31 December 2019, the effective interest rates of
the Group’s lease liabilities ranged from 1.58% to 2.88%
(2018: Nil) per annum.

The Group leases office premises for operation and these
lease liabilities were measured at the present value of the
lease payment that are not yet paid. All leases are entered
at fixed prices.

The Group does not face a significant liquidity risk with
regard to its lease liabilities. Lease liabilities are monitored
within the Group’s treasury function.

The total cash outflows for leases including the payments
of lease liabilities for the year ended 31 December 2019
was RMB2,867,000.

35.

B B ISR R M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hE+_A=+—HLEE

HARKER (W)

R=ZFB—NAF+=-—A=+—8" &
CEEHEAENFERANERNT
1.58%%2.88% (ZE—\F : B) o

AEBEREEBHERIME R
ZEHERBERARNOBEEN
KB EFE - MEHESREE
{BIERIIL °
AEBEVERERABEEAERED
EXRBESRAR - HEREHRA
SEREBBALEE o

HE_Z—-—NF+=-_A=+—81t
FEEHHEEZReRLLAE (215
HEaENR) B ARKE2867,000
7": o
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B B IS R R Y R

For the year ended 31 December 2019

BH=E

36.

{254

“E-NAFFT-RA=+—HILEEFE

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

The bank borrowings of RMB26,952,000 (2018:
RMB18,000,000) were secured by the Group’s bank
balance of RMB8,940,000 (2018: Nil) and leasehold land
and building with a net carrying value of RMB198,000
(2018: RMB252,000) and RMB Nil (2018: RMB37,000)
respectively at the end of the reporting period and
repayable within one year.

The bank borrowings of approximately RMB19,800,000
with fixed rate by 5.70% (2018: 5.70%) and the bank
borrowings of approximately RMB7,152,000 with floating
rate at lower of prime rate minus 2% and HIBOR plus 3%
(2018: Nil).

The other borrowings of approximately RMB68,502,000
were due to independent third parties as at 31 December
2018. The amounts were settled during the year ended 31
December 2019.

The interest rate of the other borrowings amount was 6%
per annum.

At 31 December 2019, the Group has available unutilised
bank loan facilities of approximately RMB4,988,000 (2018:
RMB5,000,000).

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLEEKZRERAR

36. MITRHEMER

RBEBHKR BITEBEARE
26,952,000 (ZZE—N\F: AR

#18,000,0007T) JIARE B AR
#8040,000C (Z B — NE: &)
ZIRITHEBUREEFESRAA

R#198,000L (ZZE—N\F : AR
#252,0007) RARBZ L (=ZF
—N\F: AR#37,000T) 2HE
THREFERR  LER—FRA
g -

4 A R #19,800,0007T KR 1TIE &
LA E Fl &£5.70% (Z & — )\ F :

5.70%) 5T B &4 AR #7,152,000
TCEYERTT I8 B LA S B B A EIF2% 3k
EREREREMNI% (AEIKE H%E)
(ZZ—N\F : T) NEHFERFE -

Fﬂ>

RZE—NF+ZA=+—HEAM
BE L AR #68,502,0007T & 45 1+
TERYE=F  c ZESBEREE
—E-NEFE+=-A=t+—HILFE

fBiE -

E

2F
i

HifEESBHFMERE% °

RZZE-NAF+=A=+—H &
EEENAERRBANRITER
mhE 4 AR #4,088,0000T (=& —
NE + AR#5,000,0007T) °
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38.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B ISR R M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hE+_A=+—HLEE

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 37. EERERAR
Revaluation
of assets
BE
ENfE
RMB’000
ARET T
At 1 January 2018 RZE-N\E—A—H 35,883
Credit for the year FREE (11,077)
Exchange realignment IR 59
At 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2019  R-Z—\F+_-_A=+—-HE-ZT—h&E—A—H 24,865
Credit for the year FRER (6,179)
At 31 December 2019 NZE-h&E+-_A=1+—H 18,690

PROMISSORY NOTES 38. AREE

2019 2018
Cr P El -~ )\&

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARBETT

At 1 January n—H—H 237,056 185,576
Accrued interest charged FE=T 2 WELER) B 15,606 3,602
Issue of promissory notes upon REMORAIRFB B EETTER
fulfillment of profit guarantee (Note b) 2 (Msb) 78,499 37,586
Exchange realignment bE H SR 4,481 10,292
At 31 December R+-_HA=+—H 335,642 237,056
Analysis as: DA
Current B EA 46,570 -
Non-current JERNEA 289,072 237,056
335,642 237,056
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hEFE+_A=+—HLEE

38. PROMISSORY NOTES (continued)

{256 ;

Notes:

(@)

On 9 November 2015, the Company issued promissory notes
for an aggregate principal amount of HK$213.6 million at
2% interest per annum (the “PN1”) upon completion of
the acquisition of Soaring International Holdings Limited to
Mr. Lee Yim and Mr. Ng Hang Fai Calvin (the “Vendors”),
independent third parties not connected to the Group. The
PN1 are due on the third anniversary of the date of issue.
On 2 November 2018, the Vendors and the Company have
agreed to extend the maturity of the PN1 to 9 November
2020.

On 7 July 2019, the Company entered into the Deed of
Amendment with the vendors to extend the maturity date of
the PN1 to 9 July 2021 and decrease the interest rate from
2% to 1% per annum effective from 7 July 2019.

The fair value of PN1 was approximately to their principal
amount calculated at the effective interest rate of 1% per
annum (2018: 2%). The PN1 is classified as non-current
liabilities and are carried at amortised cost until settlement
on due date.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the
Company issued promissory note of principal amount of
HK$55,000,000 (the “PN2), non-interest bearing, upon
fulfillment of profit guarantee. The PN2 will be maturity on
29 September 2020. The effective interest rate of the PN2
is 13.36%.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Company
issued promissory note for an aggregate principal amount
of HK$110,000,000, non-interest bearing, upon fulfillment of
profit guarantees. The promissory note of principal amount
HK$55,000,000 (the “PN3”) and HK$55,000,000 (the
“PN4”) will be maturity on 7 April 2022 and 29 September
2022, respectively. The effective interest rate of PN3 and
PN4 are 11.52% and 12.34%, respectively.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLEEKZRERAR

38. AR ()

Mzt -

R=ZF—AF+—AhB ' KAF
58 5K Uk B Soaring  International
Holdings Limited?# [A) £2 7K &£ [E I
ERENBYE = THBELERR
BigEskd (&) BEFFE2%E
11784 #8%8213,600,0007% 7T #) %
KRR (IPN1]) - PN1R E 1T H
A E=F2EH - N=F—N\F
+—AZH BFEAQRFTERE
BPN1HHRERZE—T =—TF 1+
—AhB-

RZZF—hFtAtH  AarH
BRI MAERT & - HPN1.2 EI 8
AERE_T=-—FtANA I
BT NFtALHEEFHN=E
F2% R ZE1% ©

PN1HATFEHNESENERSTE
1% (ZE—N\F 1 2%) B E
BEFIRFE - PN1I D EAIER
HEERAEZREE RS ENRE
SHACARTIBR o

HE_T-N\F+ZA=+—H1t
FE - AR RIREKREFIRER T
17 7K & %8 555,000,000 7T 2 N
i B A H Z iR ([PN2]) - PN2#
R-TB-—TEAA-F+HhBRH-
PN2.2 B FI 2% %13.36% ©

HE-Z—NF+=-A=+—8
WEFE - ARABRENK R MRE
1% % 17 7N & #8 %8 /110,000,000
BILZ P B AR ER - N5
/55,000,000% 7T ([PN3]) &
55,000,000 7T ([PN4]) z & 3,
ERBAORNR_E__FmMA+t
AkZZFTE_—_FhA=+NBE
B - PNS&PN4Z BB FED 5 A
11.52% . 12.34% ©



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

39. CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION

At 1 January Hn—A—A
Fair value change AN
Issue of PN2 ZEFTPN2
Issue of PN3 and PN4 2¢7TPN3 & PN4
Exchange realignment PE H

At 31 December

On 26 July 2017, the Company entered into the Share
Purchase Agreement (the “SPA”) with Cybernaut Education
Limited, a company which is owned as to 90% by Mr. Zhu
Min, an executive director and a substantial shareholder
of the Company, (the “Vendor”). Pursuant to the SPA, the
consideration will be subject to adjust based on the net
profit after tax generating from operating activities (the
“Net Profit”) of Cybernaut Technology International Limited
and its subsidiaries as shown in the audited consolidated
financial statements for:

()  the Net Profit for the six-month period ending 30
June 2018 shall not be less than HK$7.5 million;

(i) the Net Profit for the six-month period ending 31
December 2018 shall not be less than HK$7.5
million;

(i) the Net Profit for the six-month period ending 30

June 2019 shall not be less than HK$9 million; and

(iv) the Net Profit for the six-month period ending 31
December 2019 shall not be less than HK$9 million.

R+—B=+—8H

B B ISR R M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hE+_A=+—HLEE

39. HAKE

2018
—N\F

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARBFIT
108,402 143,143

(7,116) 4,789

- (37,586)

(78,499) =

(16,281) 1,944

39,068 108,402

RZZ—+tFtA=+<8 A FHE
Cybernaut Education Limited (— % H
RABATEER T ERRRBEER
B0%z AR ([EF]) 7T LK Ik
(MBERk ) - RIFERZ - RER
E R Cybernaut Technology International
Limited 5 KL fY 88 & B 2 i@ Tz kr & M 7%
HERATR 2 KRB LR 2 B F T
(DFHEF ) FIAFE -

i) REBEE-_T—NEF~AA=+HI
ANEABBEZFRINTE LR
7,500,000/ 7T :

iy REE=ZZ—/\F+=ZA=+—8H
LEAEAHEZ F a5 TEIRN
7,500,000/ 7T :

iy REBEEZZE-—AFSA=+HL
NEAHBEZFEAMAE LR
9,000,000 7T : &

vy RBE-_Z-AFt+-HA=+—H
e} M8 A B 2 % s F A J AR
9,000,000/ 7T °
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B B IS R R Y R

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hEFE+_A=+—HLEE

39. CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION (continued)

The fair value of the contingent consideration was
determined by an independent professional valuer not
connected with the Group based on Binomial Option
Pricing Model. The fair value as at 31 December 2019 was
RMB39,068,000 (2018: RMB108,402,000).

During the year ended 31 December 2019, items (i) and
(iii) have been fulfilled, and PN3 and PN4 have been issued

accordingly.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, item (i) have
been fulfilled, and PN2 have been issued accordingly.

(28 mpmmmeRERAR

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

39.

BARE (1])

FAREBERAFENEEASEEREY
By EEGEMZ-_EAHREEEER
FiEE - RZE—hhF+=ZA=+—8
2 AFEABARKE39,068,000T (=ZF
—\F : AR#108,402,0007T) °

RBE-Z-NAF+-A=+—BILF
& - F(i)E R E(i) B2 EK - EPN3R
PNAEHHEZETT °

REBEE-_T—N\FE+_A=+—HILF
CEB)ELE EMNK  RPN2E A FE B

R

=N\
=l
°
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B B ISR R M R

40. SHARE CAPITAL

Authorised:
At 1 January 2018, 31 December 2018,
1 January 2019 and 31 December 2019

Issued and fully paid:
At 1 January 2018
Share repurchase and cancelled (Note)

At 31 December 2018, 1 January 2019
and 31 December 2019

Shown in the consolidated financial
statements
At 31 December 2019

At 31 December 2018

EE
RZE—-\E—H—H"
“T-N\F+=RA
=t+-B ZZE-hfE
—A—BR-Z-NF
+-A=+—8

ERTRME :
R-F-\$-A—H
B Rk (&)

RZB-N\E+-ZA=+-H"

“T-NE-A-Hk
“Z-AF+-A=1—H

REEHBEERAT

RZE-NE+=-A=1+—H

RZE-N\F+=-A=1+—H

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hE+_A=+—HLEE

40. B&=

Number of
shares at
HK$0.10
per share Amount
SRE{E0.10
ETZEROHEE &8
‘000 HK$’000
Fik T
20,000,000 2,000,000
4,193,148 419,315
(217,700 (21,770)
3,975,448 397,545
RMB’000 equivalent
ARRTLEE 337,128
RMB’000 equivalent
ARRTLEE 337,128

Annual Report 2019 .
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B B IS R R Y R

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hEFE+_A=+—HLEE

40. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

{260

Note: During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company
repurchased and cancelled its own ordinary shares on The

Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited as follows:

Month/year

/R

February 2018
April 2018
May 2018
June 2018
July 2018

October 2018

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLEEKZRERAR

—F-N\F=A
—Z—N\FImA
—E-N\FhHA
—T-N\EFXA
—ZT—N\FtA
September 2018 —Z— \F N A
—ZT—-NF+AH

Number of
shares
repurchased
EEZ
Bin&H
('000)

(FA)

101,968
9,448
39,364
17,892
28,336
7,648
13,044

217,700

40. BE® (48)

Mz REBE-ZT-NF+-A=+—8
LLFE - ARBRBBBA XS
BERARBEEEHAARS LA

Highest
price paid
per share

FR3Z 16
BRRSE

(HKS)
(BmT)

0.295
0.275
0.280
0.270
0.270
0.220
0.213

B R

Lowest
price paid
per share
FR3Z{1EY
BERER
(HKS)
(#7T)

0.247
0.270
0.265
0.255
0.250
0.210
0.195

Aggregate
paid

FR3Z 16
R
(HK$’000)
(F#&T)

27,803
2,588
10,762
4,693
7,208
1,637
2,648

57,339



41.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”),
was adopted pursuant to a resolution passed on 7 June
2010 for the primary purpose of providing incentives to
directors and eligible employees, and will expire on 6
June 2020. Under the Scheme, the board of directors of
the Company may grant options to eligible employees,
including directors (excluding non-executive directors) of
the Company and its subsidiaries, to subscribe for shares
in the Company.

At 31 December 2019, the number of shares in respect of
which options had been granted and remained outstanding
under the Scheme was 120,000,000 (2018: 80,000,000),
representing 3.02% (2018: 2.01%) of the shares of the
Company in issue at that date. The total number of shares
in respect of which options may be granted under the
Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10% of the shares of
the Company in issue at any point in time, without prior
approval from the Company’s shareholders. The number
of shares issued and to be issued in respect of which
options granted and may be granted to any individual in
any one year is not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares
of the Company in issue at any point in time, without prior
approval from the Company’s shareholders.

Options granted must be taken up within 20 days from the
date of grant, upon payment of HK$1 per option. Options
may be exercised at any time from 1 year from the date
of grant of the share option to the 10th anniversary of
the date of grant. The exercise price is determined by the
directors of the Company, and will not be less than the
higher of (i) the closing price of the Company’s shares
on the date of grant, (i) the average closing price of the
shares for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the
Company’s share.

41.

B B ISR R M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hE+_A=+—HLEE

LI BERARRS

RABRBER_-_ZE—TF X ALR
B RFRR AR B ([3
iElD TEZEMERESEKAE
RIEBRMER MR =
Z_TEXANBER - RIEZF
g ARFEFEARNAERESR
(BREARFAREMBRARNES
TEBEFNTES) ROBRE - U
RBEARBD

RZE—-—NF+=ZA=+—8" 18
Bt a8l B R M AR ITE 2 BB
REFTH I 2 17 2 B /120,000,000
B (== — \4F : 80,000,0000%) -
BERARRRZATEITRDZ
3.02% (= E — /L F£:2.01%) °
EAREARRRBRRES LA ENER
T - IRIRZ AT B AT RE I WO BB AR A
FTig R ZBRIDBETBBBARRF
A E BB TR 210% °
FEAREARNRIRES A AERNBR
T FEERNALRERN —FRE
BRAERZEREMSRZE R
TEBTEITRNHEE NSBBER
AR EMESEE TR Z1% °

ERBREATARRH B R
208 ABL B BB 1B - A
EMBERE - BEEA N E LB
BEBES —FEERHBAHZ T
BEILERBSETE- - TREHAAX
NRREFETE BB TE8ERAT
RmE  ()ARFBROHREHBERHZ
Wi B (i RERE L B HA
hEEXBZFHRHE - KA
RERDEE
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B B IS R R Y R

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hEFE+_A=+—HLEE

Exercise

price

fTfEf®

HK$0.315

0.315% 7T

HK$0.2

0.2%T

4. LERMBERFARES ()

41. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(continued)
2019
Vesting
Date of grant period  Exercisable period
BHAM REN TEY
13 January 2016 Nil 13 January 2016 to
12 January 2019
T 5-At=H & ZZ-~F-RAT=HE
Z-nF-A+=H
7 May 2019 Nil 7 May 2019 to
6 May 2022
“E-NFRAtA Fid “2-NERRtRZE
kSt =

P 262

Exercisable at 31 December 2019
TR=E-hE+ZA=+-B1f

Weighted average exercise price
MEFHRE

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLEEKZRERAR

—B-nE

Number of share options

REESE

Balance at Balance at
1.1.2019 Granted Exercised Lapsed 31.12.2019
RZZ-hE
et 2 2 +ZR=+-H
—B-HZ&R REARE REATE RERERX b4 -
80,000,000 - - (80,000,000) -
- 120,000,000 - - 120,000,000
80,000,000 120,000,000 - (80,000,000) 120,000,000
120,000,000
HK$0.2
0287



41.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

2018

Vesting

Date of grant period

Rt AH 588
16 March 2015 Nil
“Z-n%=R+r”EB E

13 January 2016 Nil

“E5-At=R &

Exercisable at 31 December 2018
AR=Z-\F+-A=+—Bfff

Weighted average exercise price
MEFHRE

Exercisable period

764

16 March 2015 to
15 March 2018
ZZ-R%=At/RE
“Z-\$=A+1H
13 January 2016 to
12 January 2019
ZE-RE-AT=HE
“T-N$-A+ZH

Exercise

price

1ffE

HK$0.32

0.327

HK$0.315

0.315% 7T

B B ISR R M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hE+_A=+—HLEE

4. LERMBERFARES ()

—B-N\E
Number of share options
RRESA
Balance at Balance at
1.1.2018 Granted Exercised Lapsed 31.12.2018
RZB-N\E
RIZ-N\F TZRA=t-H
—R-BzER REREE  REROR  RERRR i
105,000,000 - - (105,000,000) -
80,000,000 - - - 80,000,000
185,000,000 - - (105,000,000) 80,000,000
80,000,000
HK$0.315
0.315% 7T

Annual Report 2019
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B B IS R R Y R

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hEFE+_A=+—HLEE

41.

{264

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted
during the year ended 31 December 2019 was estimated
as at the date of grant, using the Binomial option pricing
model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon
which the options were granted. The following table lists
the inputs to the model used:

4. LERMBERFARES ()

RBEE-_ZT-NF+-_A=1+—8
HFE REzRABEEREZ
RFETIRELBREBR AR
AHIEEERAFH AT - WA
Ko P 15 B PR 2 AR SR R MR = TR
FHIFARAEA 2280

2019

—E—hE

Dividend yield (%) KB R (%) 0.00

Expected volatility (%) T8 B 18 (%) 40

Risk-free interest rate (%) £ [ B2 1 2= (%) 1.638

Expected life of option (year) BERE 2 fhat &R (&) 2.80
Closing share price at grant date (HK$)

The expected life of the options is based on management
expectation and is not necessarily indicative of the
exercise patterns that may occur. The expected volatility
reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is
indicative of future trends, which may also not necessarily
be the actual outcome.

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted
during the year was approximately RMB6,040,000 (2018:
Nil) of which the Group recognised a share option expense
of approximately RMB5,956,000 (2018: Nil) during the
year ended 31 December 2019.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLEEKZRERAR

REFEH B2 WmE CET) 0.198

BREZGAFHOREEEER
HET YN —ERRAELEZ
TR - T8 B IE < BR /E S2 ORI
ARRARBE 2BR  BERLE
BERGER -

FARBZRAGEEEREZ AT
B A% AR6,040,0005T (ZF —
NE: ) HFAEEREE=F
—NE+_A=+—HILFEHER
— IR RS RR I S 49 A R 5,956,000
T(ZE—NF:F)-



42,

43.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

OPERATING LEASES

At 31 December 2018, the Group had commitment for
minimum lease payment under non-cancellable operating
leases which fall due as follows:

Within one year —FR
In the second to fifth year inclusive

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Capital commitments outstanding at 31 December 2019
not provided for in the Group’s financial statements were
as follows:

Capital contribution contracted for
but not provided in the consolidated
financial statements

BE2EE

On 5 July 2019, the Company entered into agreement to
establish a limited partnership and agreed to subscribe
the partnership interest of US$5,000,000 (approximately
RMB34,800,000) as the capital contribution of the limited
partnership.

Up to the date of the approval of these financial
statements, in the opinion of the directors, the limited
partnership has not been duly established.

E_FEFOF
(BREEEMSF)

B B ISR R M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hE+_A=+—HLEE

2. EEHR

N-ZBE—-NE+-_A=+—0" &
EERETURMBESCEREGUT
REBEEMRZEE  HFHEHEBR
I

2018
—E-N\F

RMB’000
ARETIT

2,998

282

3,280

. BAKiE

R-F-NE+-_A=t—BXRE
TTMARRANEE M B REBEEE
ARAFENT

BERIK BRI AR A B H &

2019 2018
LN = \F
RMB('000) RMB('000)
ARBTE  ARKT

34,800 =

RZZTE—NLFELHAAH ' XRQF
FIVBEAKZBRABLRE
R #85,000,000% T (B9 A R %
34,800,0007T) & #E=IEREAB
REBHITE -

HEEZEWHRAEIEZA  E
ERA - ARAEBHARIENKL
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hEFE+_A=+—HLEE

44,

{266 ;

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed in elsewhere to the consolidated
financial statements, the Group have the following related

party transactions.

4. HEHFRX S

BREEMBRREMEIBRESE
Sh - REBETAENTHEESRS -

Nature of
Name of related party Relationship transaction/balance 2018
HEAMR & RHME R —E-N\F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBTRE ARBTT
Zhu Min Executive Director Promissory notes 78,499 37,586
NG WTES S
Lu Yongchao Executive Director Loan interest received (Note 1) 157 17
=K HITEE BHRERME (FE1)
Loan receivable 2,637 1,756
e E K
Sin Kwok Wai Ronald Executive Director (Note 3) Loan receivable (Note 2) 894 1,317
Pzl WITES (M3) FEWE K (MiE2)
Cybernaut Capital Common directorship Other receivables 313 -
Management Limited ERES H A & YR
Hongshanshu Common directorship Services fee 600 =
(Hangzhou) Information ~ HEEZ= fRi% &
Technology Co., Ltd
st () 58
BRMAERAR
Notes: BEE
1. The interest rate of the loan was 6% per year. In the opinion of 1. BXNFENER% BEFRA
the directors, the transactions between the Group and the related AEEEBER RS IIRA T
party were conducted in the ordinary course of business. BIEPHETT ©
2. The amount is interest free, unsecured and repayable on 2. %eBARE  EEBREREX
demand. 8iE -
3. Mr. Sin Kwok Wai Ronald has resigned as executive director 3. GEHBEEEER-_Z_TF=A+

and has appointed as chief financial officer on 13 March 2020.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLEEKZRERAR

—HEBENTESLRZERY

TEHEES -
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hE+_A=+—HLEE

44. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 44. REFXS (&)
(continued)

Compensation of key management personnel FTEEEAESHMH
The remuneration of directors and other members of key EEREMTEEREKENME
management for both years was as follows: FEZEHMNT :
2019 2018
—z—ni [EEEEV:
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®FR ARETIT

Short-term benefits w2 HAtE A 5,006 4,335
Retirement benefit scheme contributions & k4@ F 5+ 214 3¢ 66 68

5,072 4,403
The remuneration of directors and key executives is EERFETHRABZHME RS
determined by the remuneration committee having regard MEEELERMAXRREMSBE
to the performance of individuals and market trends. MEEE °

Annual Report 2019
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hEFE+_A=+—HLEE

45. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 45.
THE COMPANY

(@) Financial information of the statement of financial
position of the Company

Non-current assets FERENRE

Property, plant and equipment M - BE KRB

Interest in subsidiaries S EPNGI E

Financial assets at fair BAFEGTABRZ
value through profit or loss PRIEE

Current assets mEEE

Loan receivables FEWE R

Prepayments and other receivable TEA FRIE K H A FE IR

Amount due from a subsidiary R NEIE €]

Restricted bank deposit ZRRFIERITIER

Bank balances 1T R

Current liabilities mERE

Other payables and accruals HithfE I 508 R FEET & A

Amount due to subsidiaries FERTB B A RIFIB

Bank borrowing IRITIEE

Promissory notes A

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

28 mpmmmeRERAR

ments

FLFRMBRRAE

(a)

AT BRR T 2P EER

2019 2018
—E-nE —E-)N\F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®TTT AREFIT
128 194
340,842 357,258
1,011 -
341,981 357,452
26,247 7,026
1,876 1,938
128,279 72,733
9,141 =
15,147 84,777
180,690 166,474
3,804 2,630

706 5,000

7,152 -
46,570 -
58,232 7,630




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B ISR R M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hE+_A=+—HLEE

45. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 45. ELTFIMBKRAE ()

THE COMPANY (continued)

Net current assets RENEERE

Total assets less current liabilities FE#ERTHAR

Non-current liabilities ERBAR
Promissory notes O R
Contingent consideration FARE
Net assets HERE
Capital and reserves B RGEE
Share capital N
Reserves f#

Total equity BoWsE

Approved and authorised for issue by the board
of directors on 14 May 2020 and are signed on its

behalf by:

DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
£ Ea

Zhu Min Lu Yongchao
L34 Bk

2019 2018
—E—hFE —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®FT AREFIT
122,458 158,844
464,439 516,296
289,072 237,056
39,068 108,402
328,140 345,458
136,299 170,838
337,128 337,128
(200,829) (166,290)
130,299 170,838
BEeN-_E-_FTFERATNE

BHUERIRETIE - XHIAT

RERRE
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B B IS R R Y R

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hEFE+_A=+—HLEE

45. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 45. ELTFIMBKRAE ()
THE COMPANY (continued)

(b) Movement of capital and reserves of the (b) AQTEXRGFEES
Company

Capital Share
Share Share  redemption options  Exchange  Accumulated
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve losses Total
ks  ROAR ZIROGE WEEGE  ERRG RitER @t
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETT ARBTT ARETR ARETR ARETT  ARETT  ARETR

At 1 January 2018 R=E-\5-A-R 356,046 616,864 - 20,130 (11,515) (750,615) 229910
Loss for the year EEER - - - - - (9,491) (9491)
Other comprehensive income FREM2ENE

for the year - - - - (2,483) - (2,483)
Total comprehensive expense FERERER

for the year - - - - (2,483) (9,491) (11,974)
Repurchase of shares ERRH (17918 (29,180) 17,918 - - (17918 (47,098)
Lapse of share options BARERE - - - (11,504) = 11,504 -
At 31 December 2018 RZE-\E+-f=1-H 337,128 587,684 17,918 8,626 (13,99) (766,520) 170,838
Loss for the year EEER - - - - - (41,127) (#1,127)
Other comprehensive income EEEMZENR

for the year - - - - 548 - 548
Total comprehensive expenses FELARN AR

for the year - - - - 548 (41,127) (40,579)
Lapse of share aptions BRMERE - - - (8,626) - 8,626 -
Recognition of equity - settled TR R

share - based payments expenses BERNAFRY - = = 6,040 = = 6,040
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NE+-A=1-H 337,128 587,684 17,918 6,040 (13,450) (799,021) 136,299

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

(270 mpmmmeRERAR
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hE+_A=+—HLEE

46. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 46. ELTFIME L CIHETE

COMPANY
Issued and Proportion of
Place and date of fully paid ownership
incorporation/establishment share capital/ interest held by
Name of subsidiary and operations registered capital the Company Principal activities
EfaL/ ERTREERS/ NG
MELTER BAREERHR AN ithEx FRgEaLH FERE
2019 2018
ZE-NF it
Soaring International Holdings The British Virgin Islands Us$2 100% 100% Investment holding
Limited 5 March 2015 Eg RERR
EERTEE
“5-1%=-A1A
\T Zero Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100% eCommerce
24 January 2007 10,0007 ERy
&k
ZZRtE-AZTRA
HRERET (R) ARAA The PRC RMB500,000 100% 100%  eCommerce
25 February 2011 AR#500,0007 1%
hE
“E-—£-f-15A
Time Credit Limited Hong Kong HK$2,000,000 100% 90% Money lending
RAEEARAT 30 December 2011 2,000,0007%7 i
B
“2—E+ZA=1H
Accura Machinery & The PRC RMB26,639,440 100% 100%  Manufacture and sale of
Manufacturing (Taicang) Co., Ltd. 23 February 2004 ARH26,639,4407 paper converting equipment
HRER (X2) BRAA G and other relating equipment
“ETRF-A=1ZR HERHEARNIRER
HfrAwRE
Accurate Trade International Limited The British Virgin Islands USS1 100% 100%  Investment holding
18 November 2013 1% REZRK
ABRAES
ZEZET-ATAR
China Safety Holdings Limited Hong Kong HKS1 100% 100% Investment holding
PRZERRERAT 7 April 2014 137 RERR
Bk
“E-MEMALA
Eagle Pioneer Limited The British Virgin Islands US$1 100% 100% Investment holding
12 March 2014 1% ERR
ABRRES
Z2-ME=A+ZH
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hEFE+_A=+—HLEE

46. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 46. ELOTIMEB LTI ()
COMPANY (continued)

Issued and Proportion of
Place and date of fully paid ownership
incorporation/establishment share capital/ interest held by
Name of subsidiary and operations registered capital the Company Principal activities
eI/ ERTRERES / FLEREN
WELFER RIREEHHR AN EhEs it 1 ] TERH
2019 2018
ot SOkN —T-\F
Great Select Global Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
SHBRER LA 18 November 2013 13T RAER
305
“T-ZFH-AtAA
Sinoref (BVI) Limited The British Virgin Islands US$2 N/A 100% Investment holding
12 January 2010 e AR RERR
AERAHE
“§-%5-A17A
Sinoref (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong HK$1 N/A 100%  Investment holding
EMbR (%) BRAA 17 February 2010 BT PR RESRK
&k
ZE-TECATHA
Sinoref Yixing* The PRC RMB151,716,600 N/A 100% Manufacture and sale of
EfER 20 July 2005 AK#151,716,60070 FER advanced steel flow control
e products
ZEEREEACTH HERHERREKERER
Cybernaut Technology Intemational Limited  The British Virgin Islands US$0.01 = NOTE()  NOTE (j Investment holding
17 January 2017 0OIXT | MEl) gy  REER
AERIEE
ZE-tE-AttA
Hong Kong Cybernaut Technology Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$10,000 = NOTE()  NOTE() Investment holding
BRRIERNRARAT 27 February 2017 10000 MED gy REER
é%
S-tEAtth
Huzhou Sai Le Hong Education The PRC HK$10,000000 ~ NOTE()  NOTE() Investment holding
Technology Limited (‘Huzhou') 23 March 2017 100000007 MED) pay  REER
MNELAHENRERAR ([N ]) HE
“E-t#=f-F=A
Capital Wowxue (Beiing) Education The PR AMB4,000000 ~ NOTE()  NOTE()  provision of ntemet
Technology Limited (“Wowxue” | 15 March 2012 ARE4,000,0007 W) i) education services
RERE (47) HENHARAT (7)) T2 EAEREHARD
ZZ-ZEZAtHA
# Wholly-foreign owned enterprise registered in the PRC. f A BE RN EE 2 -
None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at FRBEEN B A R BT E A EE B
the end of the year. % o

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

(272 mpmmmeRERAR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

46. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

COMPANY (continued)
NOTE (i)
CONTRACTUAL AGREEMENTS

Particulars and main business of Wowxue

RAER 2 (b R) BERKZAERARQA (Capital Wowxue
(Beijing) Education Technology Limited) (“Wowxue”) is a
limited liability company established under the laws of
the PRC and is principally engaged in the research and
provision of internet education services.

Wowxue is owned as to 40%, 20%, 20% and 20%
by BH%IEE £ EFMR A A (Cybernaut Investment
Group Limited), BH&EE (t ) HERELERIEZ2H TR
(Cybernaut Think Tank (Beijing) International Ecological
Science Research Institute), Mr. Zhao Yingming and
Mr. Zhao Yingyong respectively (the “Registered
Shareholders”). On 31 August 2017, AN ELLHF R
AR AA (Huzhou Sai Le Hong Education Technology
Limited), being a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group
(the “Huzhou Company”), Wowxue and the Registered
Shareholders entered into a series of agreements (the
“Contractual Arrangements”). Supplementary agreements
were further entered into on 25 September 2017.

B B ISR R M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hE+_A=+—HLEE

. ERTIMELTFS (8)

B & (i)

AENFBREEXRK

RENREZ (IR HEREBARAQA
(FRE]) B—RREHBIREMKL
ZERRE TEREEBEHE
RGO  LIRHEEBBEHER
% o

AREDFBEEREREESEFRA
A BEELEE (tR) BEEREERER
Bl - AR A RSB
£ ([ZRRE]D #H40% - 20%
20% K20% AR #E o« AT — L F N\
A=+—RH X&EBE2EWE QA
M B LHB R HEBR AR ([
MAaE]) - RBEELDRFE] L —
Ry ([GHARHE]D  TR=F
—+tENA-+HBE—FILE
Tl ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
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46.

{274

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (continued)

Major terms of the structured contracts
Irrecoverable option agreement

Huzhou Company, Wowxue and the Registered
Shareholders entered into an irrevocable exclusive
option agreement (the “Option Agreement”) whereby the
Registered Shareholders granted an exclusive option to
Huzhou Company to acquire the entire equity interest
in Wowxue held by the Registered Shareholders, under
which Huzhou Company shall have the right to require
the Registered Shareholders to transfer their equity
interest in Wowxue on demand to Huzhou Company or its
designated entity or individual, at nil consideration. The
Option Agreement does not have a defined exercisable
period and the Option Agreement will expire when the
relevant law and regulation in the PRC allows foreign
investment in Wowxue or when Huzhou Company or its
designated party exercises the option to acquire Wowxue.

Pursuant to the Option Agreement, each of the Registered
Shareholders and Wowxue has given undertakings that
it shall perform certain acts or refrain from performing
certain other acts unless the prior written consent of
Huzhou Company has been obtained.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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ERMESONEEMRR
T ] F 35 6 R HE g

IR E

E

FEAREREH -

RIRE R

BlZEMERRE -

AREBRERBRIRET —
0 NA B R IE B W ([
BED - BB R BRI D
AREBERERE  ARBEHRERL
BRERFE ZRB2ERE - RIBEZ
BN DB A R R E R
RBRERAAMARIKEEEER
FEANEREBERENRZN
Pt o BEARAE AR W AR SRE 1T (2 1
- BRI W 1S X AR B BA 2
KOERRIERFINE R AR B AN
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

46. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

COMPANY (continued)
Major terms of the structured contracts (continued)
Service Agreement

Huzhou Company and Wowxue entered into an exclusive
service agreement (the “Service Agreement”) pursuant to
which Huzhou Company shall serve as the service provider
to Wowxue, to provide investment advice, planning and
other business advice on the operation and technical
services of Wowxue in accordance with the requirements
of Wowxue.

In consideration of the provision of the abovementioned
services by Huzhou Company, Wowxue agrees to pay to
Huzhou Company fees on an annual basis. Fees payable
to Huzhou Company by Wowxue will be equivalent to the
total income of Wowxue minus all relevant costs, expenses
and taxes payable by Wowxue. If there is a loss in a
given year, then no provisions for the said management
and consultancy fees would be required for the year until
Wowxue records a surplus.

In addition, Huzhou Company shall have the right to obtain
and review the business data, financial information and
other information relevant to the operations and business
of Wowxue.

The Service Agreement has a term of ten years from the
date of signing the Service Agreement. Upon the expiry
of each term, Huzhou Company is entitled at its sole and
absolute discretion to renew the Service Agreement for a
further term of ten years for each renewal.

B B ISR R M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hE+_A=+—HLEE

46. N TFMBLATER (1)

ERMESONEIERR (B)
R 1%

WM R B ER B ET S — D BR AR
Whak ([ARFE ek 1) - R LM 2 7]
BEERZNRBHEER - REBERX
BMENR - BABNEERIMR
BlREREES RIALEMEE
B o

sROAM A RRME LARE R E - R
BREZEFFRAMMARIMNER -
ARBRMAMDR 2 ERABEENRK
BZRBBANRERBEMN A M
B~ FISXRBIA - HRERR
BEFEEHRSER IRZFEHA
MR EEREREIRES B
ERBELRBA/IL -

BESN - BN X RSB RIS K 2 B
EBBE  MBEERRBBAASZE
BREBHEMBER

ARTS W ot 2 FF IR /3 B 22 SLAR 75 19 =%
ZBEETF o REFRI B -
WM DB A REREE - BISEE—
SEERBHE  SREENTF
B e
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46.

{276

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (continued)

Equity pledge agreement

Huzhou Company, Wowxue and the Registered
Shareholders entered into an equity pledge agreement
(the “Equity Pledge Agreement”) pursuant to which the
Registered Shareholders unconditionally and irrevocably
agreed to pledge all the equity interest in Wowxue that
they own (including any interest or dividend paid for
such shares) to Huzhou Company as a security for the
performance of the obligations by Wowxue and the
Registered Shareholders under the Service Agreement.

The Equity Pledge Agreement became effective from
the date when the agreement was entered into and
shall remain valid until Wowxue and the Registered
Shareholders unconditionally and irrevocably fulfilled all the
obligations (including, but not limited to, the settlement
and/or the payment of the service charge, liquidated
damages (if any), etc.) under the Service Agreement.

Power of attorney

The Registered Shareholders executed an irrevocable
power of attorney which enables Huzhou Company to
exercise all the powers of the shareholders of Wowxue.

Pursuant to the Power of Attorney, the directors of
Wowxue, the Registered Shareholders and the legal
representative of Wowxue have irrevocably appointed
Huzhou Company as its/their attorney-in-fact to (i)
exercise all the directors’ rights, shareholders’ rights and
legal representative’s rights (as the case may be) including
but not limited to passing of board resolutions and
shareholders’ resolutions as well as the right to appoint
or remove the directors, legal representative, general
manager and other senior management of Wowxue; (ii)
sign on their behalf all the documents necessary to give
effect to the Contractual Arrangements; (i) exercise all
the rights and powers under the Equity Pledge Agreement
and the right to deal with the assets of Wowxue; and (iv)
submit documents to the competent company registration
authorities of Wowxue or other relevant authorities for filing
purpose.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

46. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

COMPANY (continued)
Equity pledge agreement (continued)
Power of attorney (continued)

The terms of the Power of Attorney became effective
from the date of the Power of Attorney to the earlier
of the revocation or termination of each of the Service
Agreement, Irrevocable Option Agreement, Loan
Agreement and Equity Pledge Agreement.

The directors of the Company, after consulting legal
opinion, are of the view that the terms of the Contractual
Arrangements have in substance enabled Huzhou
Company to have power over Wowxue, rights to variable
returns from its involvement with Wowxue, and has the
ability to use its power to affect its returns, despite the
absence of formal legal equity interest held by the Group
in Wowxue. Accordingly, Wowxue is accounted for as
a consolidated structured entity as a subsidiary of the
Group.

The revenue, profit, total assets and total liabilities of
Wowxue included in the consolidated financial statements
are set out below:

Revenue WA
Profit Pl
Total assets BERE
Total liabilities BERE

B B ISR R M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hE+_A=+—HLEE

46. xNFMB TR (1)

REERHE (8

RIEZTE ()

BRRZAE2FHEERERER
HRRE A 2= PR Wk~ DRI EY
BREDHZ  ERGE R REE R
BEEREVE 158 L Jard s
BHSLE -

ARREERABRERER®R R
BEHLHZIGEHREE LMD
BBAYHARBEZEN  HEZ2ER
$Z¥%ﬁﬁ%E%Tﬁ@ﬁ&ﬁ
RENTTEERIMZEELE R
EEASEYEREF RS EN1Z
@ At ARERKRENG S
BUEBRELSEMBARAR -

REEHBBRRARZARBEZR
A /ﬁﬂ BERELRAGRERH

2018

—\¥

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRT ARBTTT
28,962 24,571
18,103 15,458
53,905 45,5625
(6,962) (16,397)
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46. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 46. FATIME LTI (&)
COMPANY (continued)
NOTE (ii) B & (ii)
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS BEXFEKRER
The following information relating to non-wholly owned UTERBENERHEE S REE
subsidiary that have material non-controlling interests Mettas ([FIEERRER ) BIEREM
(“NCI"). BARR] -
The summarised financial information represents amounts Z Ml B 75 B R R R R B 8 AT
before intercompany eliminations. K& ©
Time Credit Limited EBERARLT

2019 2018
—E—-NnE —E-N\F

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETIT

At 31 December R+—A=+—8H

Non-current assets EMBNEE 2,764 348
Current assets MENEE 210,986 259,394
Current liabilities mEAE (247,815) (227,587)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (533) =
Net (liabilities)/assets (afE%m) AEFE (34,598) 32,155
Carrying amount of NCI FEfERR T 2 BRE B (3,588) 1,691
Year ended 31 December HE+_-_A=1+—BItFE

Revenue WA 16,182 18,911
Cost of sales SHER AR (2,120) (7,015)
Other income EHapg A 15 1
Expenses Fl 2 (47,272) (5,587)
(Loss)/profit for the year ER(ER),/#F (33,195) 6,310
(Loss)/profit attributable to NCI ISR S MG (B51B), A (6,640) 631

Net cash generated from/(used in) #&&EBNFTE,/(FrA) R4 F5E
operating activities 135,495 (87,204)

Investing activities WEEE = -

Net cash (used in)/generated from FEEE) (FTA),/ FT5HE & F4E
financing activities (69,457) 33,768

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

47. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(a)

Since January 2020, the outbreak of Novel
Coronavirus (“COVID-19”) has impact on the global
business environment. Pending the development and
spread of COVID-19 subsequent to the date of this
report, further changes in economic conditions for
the Group arising thereof may have impact on the
financial results of the Group, the extent of which
could not be estimated as at the date of this report.
The Group will keep continuous attention on the
situation of the COVID-19 and react actively to its
impact on the financial position and operating results
of the Group.

On 11 February 2020, the Company entered into
an agreement with an independent third party to
disposal of 100% equity interest in a subsidiary,
namely Accura Machinery & Manufacturing
(Taicang) Company Limited at cash consideration of
HK$7,000,000.

On 24 February 2020, the Group obtained the
letter of intent from Mr. Xiao, a vendor of Hangzhou
Navrise Network Technology Co., Ltd. to propose
acquisition of not less than 51% in the Target
Company. Detail of the letter of intent are set out in
the Company’s announcement dated 24 February

2020.

B B ISR R M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hE+_A=+—HLEE

47. EHEER

(a)

BE-ZE-TF AL FEE
ik m = (TCOVID-19]) H) 12
BEHEIRERRREERE
Z o | NCOVID-197A A | &
HE#% 2 EERESDTE
E o MAREBLEENLE
MRz — B A RE AN &
BB EEERTE MR
ANijEBH - WEA G A
TERE AKEBEFERT
COVID-19%& 15 + I & 1% &
HEAEBTBMRAREEE
BERRTE -

R-_ZTE_ZTF_RF+—H"
RNRABIEBIE=FE] W
# - A3 & K {E7,000,00078
JT B — KM B 2 FlAccura
Machinery & Manufacturing
(Taicang) Company Limited#y
100% A% -

RZZE-ZTF_A=_+MA -
REBEWEE %4 (BB At
%%H&E@QTWAE)M
ERE - HBKEERZAT
4%&%%*”°§ﬁ%%ﬁ
BERARRBHAE-ZT=-F
FZHAZTHABNAM o
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hEFE+_A=+—HLEE

48.

49.

{280

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTION

During the year ended 31 December 2019, promissory
notes of principal amount of HK$110 million (2018: HK$55
million) were issued upon fulfilment of profit guarantee
of Cybernaut Technology International Limited and its
subsidiaries.

DISCONTINUED OPERATION

On 1 August 2018, the Company entered into an
agreement with an independent third party to disposal of
100% equity interest in a subsidiary, namely Sinoref (BVI)
Limited (the “Disposal Company”) and its subsidiaries
(“Sinoref Group”) at cash consideration of HK$82.8 million.

Management concluded that the assets and liabilities of
Sinoref Group should be classified as held-for sale as at
31 December 2018 as it believes that it is highly probable
that the disposal will be completed within twelve months
from the date when Sinoref (BVI) Limited was classified as
disposal group classified as held for sale.

The results of the Sinoref Group have been presented as
a discontinued operation in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for
the period ended 12 April 2019 and the year ended 31
December 2018. Accordingly, the comparable figures
have been re-presented in accordance with HKFRS 5
“Non-Current Asset Held for Sales and Discontinued
Operation” issued by the HKICPA.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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48.

49.

ERFRERH

BHE-_T—hF+=-A=+—8L
FE A& A110,000,0008 7€ (=
= — )\ 4 : 55,000,000/8 JT) A&
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International Limited & £ Bt B A 7]
EBURFRBEREEIT o

ERILEERE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

49. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (continued) 49.

The combined results of the discontinued operation
included in the loss for the year are set out below. The
comparative loss from discontinued operation have been
re-represented to include those operations classified as
discontinued in the current period/year.

Revenue WA

Cost of sales SHE KA

Gross loss Ei8

Other income H A

Impairment loss BB 18

Selling and distribution costs $HE R SHBX AR

Administrative expenses ITHAX

Finance costs B 7 X 2R

Loss before taxation PR RITES 18

Taxation I8

Loss for the period/year R FE EiE

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMB ARz W

Profit/(loss) for the year from REBKRIEEEHEE 2 FE
discontinued operation wm A (B E)

B B ISR R M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hE+_A=+—HLEE

ERILEERE ()

AAFEBRIEREREXZBH
EOFRBEHINMT - ERIERE?

BREBRLBRBIBEEKED - Uit
AREHRE, FESBERERLEE

2019 2018
=L BEN = \F
RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR®TT ARETT

14,306 60,598
(16,782) (74,791)
(2,476) (14,193)
- 128

- (18,533)
(1,968) (7,967)
(2,267) (12,308)
(28) (15)
(6,739) (52,888)
(6,739) (52,888)
45,754 -
39,015 (52,888)
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For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hEFE+_A=+—HLEE

49. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (continued) 49. BRILEEXR (8)
The disposal of Sinoref Group was completed on 12 April RZE-NEFNA+TZAERKEE
2019. Furthermore, the final consideration is adjusted to Sinoref& B o M » KRB L
HK$53.8 million with the prepayment of HK$2 million at # %53,800,000/% 7T - I K 5T K H
completion date. Upon completion of the disposal, Sinoref HA 78 1+/2,000,0007% T - T AKX H &
Group ceased to be a non-wholly owned subsidiaries of % + SinorefS BN B AN EE M IE
the Group. The net assets disposed are as follows: 2EMBAR - HEMNEEFHEN
T
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control was RGN EERBBENSI
lost:
RMB’000
ARBTIT
Property, plant and equipment M - BE kB 880
Inventories FE 24,498
Trade receivables 2 5 FEWGRIA 32,064
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments Hi el iIE ~ 124 RIEN B 46,956
Bank balances and cash RITEHR LIRS 1,296
Trade payables 2 S e 5RIE (97,430)
Other payables and accruals HAth eI FRIE R FEFTE (4,255)
Tax liabilities MIBEEE (2,350)
Net assets disposed of BHEEEFE 1,659

Gain on disposal of Sinoref Group H & Sinoref & B W &
RMB’000
ARETTT
Cash consideration ReERE 49,176
Net assets disposal of BHEEEFE (1,659)

Release of exchange reserve upon FA B B BB R B 1% R 4 PE 18

disposal of subsidiaries (1,763)
Gain on disposal & et 45,754

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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50.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B ISR R M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019
BHE_Z—hE+_A=+—HLEE

DISCONTINUED OPERATION (continued) 49. BRILEEXR ()
Net cash inflow arising from disposal of Sinoref Group HESinorefREAMEENEESRA
R
RMB’000

ARBTIT
Cash consideration received exclude prepayment 2 UWEIRESR(E (TEIEFE FHRIE) 47,413
Less: bank balances and cash disposed of B BEHERITEHRKEIRS (1,296)
Net cash inflow WEMAEEE 46,117
COMPARATIVE FIGURES 50. LkEBBIF
The Group has initially applied HKFRS16 at 1 January rEBR-_ZE-—NF—HA—BE&KA
2019 using the modified retrospective approach. Under LIERT B EZBE REREBY R
this approach, comparative information is not restated. HEBIE165 o BIBL FE - L&
Further details of the changes in accounting polices are BRATEY - BRSTHRESD
disclosed in Note 2. K — R B IR ERR I FE2 o
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Summary of Results, Assets and Liabilities

RiE EEREEHE

Results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
*EREBE+T_A=1+—BHLEEZER

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
ZECRF ZEAF 2R 2T )\§ ekl

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000 ~ RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTRT ARBTE ARETT ARWTE

Turnover EET 288,942 357,840 271,620 237,798 326,946

Loss and total VNI 2N
comprehensive expense FEAGFAE1E
for the year attributable 2HEMALBE

to owners of the Company (271,432) (138,695) (139,058) (81,586) (98,403)
Loss per share (RMB) SHEE (ARE)

- Basic YN (0.14) (0.05) (0.03) (0.02) (0.02)

- Diluted -85 (0.14) (0.05) (0.03) (0.02) (0.02)

Assets and liabilities of the Group at 31 December
FRER+T-A=t+—HZEERAR
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
—E-RE ZE—RE ZZE—tF ZZ-)\F =ik
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBTT AR®TR AR%Tr ARBTRE

Total assets BEHE 875,968 942,675 1,216,064 1,133,825 917,733

Less: Total liabilities H o BEAHE (326,421)  (378,825) (567,077) (638,432) (517,549)

Total net assets BEEFE (549,547) 563,850 648,987 495,393 400,184
Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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